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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE
MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware
of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make
no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors of Code Agriculture (Holdings)
Limited collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particular given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange for the purpose
of giving information with regard to Code Agriculture (Holdings)
Limited. The directors, having made all reasonable enquires, confirm
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive and there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or
this report misleading.
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Financial Highlights

MBRE

2013 2012
—E-=5F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHT
(Restated)
(&%)
RESULTS 4
Turnover =E - 734,660 663,896
Gross profit FE A 234,111 229,383
(Loss)/Profit for the year FE(BE) %7 (252,594) 52,859
(Loss)/Profit attributable to owners of NRBHEB AEAS
the Company (E518) /& F (248,806) 50,463
(Loss)/Earnings per share Tk (E8) &7 HK(9.17) Centsi& 1l HK1.86 Centsi& ll
FINANCIAL POSITION B AR
Total assets BEE 1,257,870 1,817,315
Total business assets MEBEE 1,216,594 1,659,055
Net debt FARE 1,067,222 1,118,019
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZNQ Al B A fE1h &z (195,644) 44,110
(Capital deficiency)/Total equity (BRAEAL) /1B (193,854) 43,613
Current ratio B & 1.51 1.48
Net (liabilities)/assets per share BR(BE) EEFE HK(7.14) cents& 1l HK1.61 centsi Ll

Mt BEZERARDF « — T =55



Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (“Directors”)
of Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), | hereby present
the annual report for the year ended 31 March 2013.

The Company has encountered a tough moment during the fiscal
year. Nevertheless, we are now at the end of a gloomy tunnel. The
litigation in relation to the winding-up petition (“Winding-up Petition”)
filed by Zhang Weibing (the “Petitioner”) against the Company has
subsequently been dismissed on 13 May 2013, while for another
High Court Action No 776 of 2013 (“Action”), the Company has
finally reached a settlement with the plaintiff for discontinuation of
the Action with no order as to costs.

As a result of the alleged non-compliance 2010 (“Alleged Non-
compliance 2010”), the trading of the Company’s shares on the
Stock Exchange has been suspended since 24 June 2013. The
management has been seriously and proactively dealt with the
issues with enormous resources input and is endeavouring to
resume the trading of the Company’s shares in upcoming period.
In this regard, the Company has also enhanced its staffing,
internal control procedures and considers periodic review on its
effectiveness.

BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW

The global economy recovery remained sluggish while the European
debt crisis continued for the year under review. On the east, the
economy of People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) is also slowing
down with GDP for 2012 increased by only 7.8%, which is below
8% for the first time in 8 years. Under such circumstances, the
Group only achieved a slight increase of 10.7% in turnover of
approximately HK$734.7 million, and recorded a significant loss
for the year under review of approximately HK$252.6 million. The
losses was mainly attributed to the impairment losses on intangible
assets of HK$143.9 million and losses arose from the fair value
change and redemption of convertible bond with aggregate amount
of HK$151.1 million.
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BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW (Continued)

As a part of the horizontal integration of fertilizer and pesticide
operation, the Group has completed the acquisition of 50.5% of the
equity interest in Henan Baorong Biological Technology Company
Limited (“Henan Baorong”) which is mainly engaged in bio-fertilizer
production business. Henan Baorong has broadened the Group’s
product spectrum and created synergistic value to the Group.

The digital television operation despite of being full of uncertainties
in the PRC was satisfactorily improved in terms of its turnover and
product quality. It continues to explore business opportunities and
improve its operation in a cautious manner. On the contrary, the
healthcare products operation shows no improvement at all. Facing
immense pressure from peer competition and rising operating costs,
management may consider disposing of it if opportunity arises.

The Group has been persistently strengthened its overall operation
in terms of efficiency, cost effectiveness and resources utilisation.
For the year under review, the Group has maintained a close
cooperation with its business partners and further extended its
customer network. With mature technical competence, products
of quality, and substantial distribution network, the Group has

Chairman’s Statement
FERESE
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established a sustainable foundation, solid customer base and a FPENRESHSMGE -
reputable brand in the tobacco agricultural industry.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

PROSPECTS

Being one of the leading players of intensive flue-curing barn
manufacturer in agricultural machinery industry, one of the Group’s
goal is to assist a sustainable modernisation of agricultural
technology in the PRC as outlined in the (“Mid-to-long term
Technology Development Plan”) in the tobacco industry issued
by State Tobacco Monopoly Administration (‘STMA”), and to
implement policies and business strategies in the best interests of
our shareholders, tobacco farmers, business partners, employees
and other stakeholders. In additional to the consolidation of
conventional core business of manufacturing of flue-curing barn
for tobacco, the Group will deploy some resources in the trading
of transplanting machine, cultivator hiller and greenhouse building.
Furthermore, the Group will also continue to explore other business
opportunities of flue-curing barn by curing other agricultural
products, for example, fruits, herbal and vegetables on a trial
basis. We believe by the development of a multi-functional and
cost-effective flue-curing barn could facilitate the modernisation of
agriculture and contribute to the livelihood of general peasants in the
PRC.

The Group will continue to reinforce its leading position in the
manufacturing of intensive flue curing machinery by means of
streamlining its business model, aspiring further advancement in
its product quality and innovation, and enhancing the Group’s
resources utilisation in a cost-effective approach.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board. | would like to extend our sincere
gratitude to the Group’s shareholders, customers and business
partners for their continuous support and to our management and
staff for their diligence, dedication and contributions throughout the
past year.

JINGQUAN YINGZI
Chairman

8 October 2013
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

At the request of the Company, the trading in the shares of the
Company in Stock Exchange has been suspended since 24 June
2013 due to an enquiry made by the Financial Reporting Review
Committee into the Alleged Non-compliance 2010 in connection
with the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2010. The Alleged Non-compliance 2010 is
related to certain accounting treatments for the acquisition of the
entire equity interest in Kang Yuan Universal Investment Limited
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Kang Yuan Group”)
on 1 February 2010 (the “Acquisition”). The management has
been proactively dealt with the issues. With close consultation
with various professionals and the Group’s current auditors and
conduction of extensive accounting literature examination and
due diligence, the Alleged Non-compliance 2010 and subsequent
significant transactions that may be affected have basically been
resolved and reflected in this financial statements.

The Group reported loss attributable to owners of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2013 (the “Year”) of HK$248.8
million (2012: profit of HK$50.5 million). The Group’s turnover for
the Year has slightly increased by 10.7% to HK$734.7 million as
compared to same period last year of HK$663.9 million, and over
93.0% of the Group’s turnover was derived from the Group’s core
business — the manufacturing and sale of agricultural machinery and
related products and services. Gross profit for the Year has slightly
increased by 2.1% to HK$234.1 million comparing with same period
last year of approximately HK$229.4 million. However, the gross
profit margin has diminished obviously from same period last year of
34.6% to the Year of 31.9% due to the rising sheet steel costs and
direct labour costs.

During the Year under review, the Group has completed the disposal
of its remaining 20% equity interest in Xian Shenghua Electronic
Engineering Company Limited for a consideration of RMB6.0 million
(equivalent to HK$7.4 million) on 16 May 2012 and disposal loss
of approximately HK$1.5 million was thereby recorded. On 29 May
2012, the Group has also finalised the disposal of its certain prepaid
land lease payments and property and equipment with an aggregate
net carrying amount of approximately HK$128.4 million (classified
as assets held for sale), and the net sale proceeds of approximately
RMB144.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$176.8 million)
was settled by offsetting against part of convertible bond issued by
the Company to Cyberland (China) Limited (“Cyberland”). A disposal
gain of approximately HK$35.5 milion was thereby recorded. For
details, please refer to the circular published by the Company dated
29 April 2011. Management believed the aforesaid disposal could
streamline the business model and facilitate better utilisation of
resources of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEBFNWR DN

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
Tobacco agricultural operation

Tobacco agricultural business is conducted via Jiangsu Kedi
Modern Agriculture Co Ltd (“Jiangsu Kedi”), an indirectly wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company. Jiangsu Kedi, being the
substantial revenue driver of the Group, is a leading enterprise in
the modern tobacco agricultural machinery production and is one
of the major authorised suppliers of the China National Tobacco
Corporation (“CNTC”). Jiangsu Kedi focuses on the manufacturing,
sales and distribution of agricultural machinery — intensive flue-
curing tobacco barn and other related products in the PRC. Most
of its products are sold to the local counterparts of CNTC through
public tendering and bidding procedures. Since the intensive flue-
curing barn was launched, it can serve flue-curing for 20 mu of
tobacco field per time and provide semi-automatic operation for
peasant. The intensive flue-curing barn can also facilitate the
process of mechanisation of curing, reducing labour input and
enhancing the production efficiency. The business of Jiangsu
Kedi was benefited from the development of intensive flue-curing
technology.

Revenue from this operation increased by 8.4% to HK$684.1
million (2012: HK$631.2 million) with segment gross profit slightly
decreased to 32.7% from last year of 35.3%. The sale increment
was principally due to the strong demand of flue-curing barn and
accessories. The Group’s “KH” series, in particular, the KH-10 of
metal and non-metal flue-curing barns with national standard were
well received by the PRC tobacco market for its reliability. The
products of KH series have full market coverage over major tobacco
production areas in the PRC. Meanwhile, the drop in gross profit
margin was mainly caused by the increase in direct labour cost and
sheet steel cost which were the main raw materials in building the
flue-curing barn.

The segment recorded a loss of approximately HK$124.7 million
(2012: HK$24.5 million) which was mainly attributed to the non-
cash item, impairment losses on other intangible assets of
HK$135.4 million (2012: HK$77.2 million). Management realises that
the mounting operating costs are engulfing the operation profit and
pose immense pressure to the Group. In light of this, management
will continue to take austerity measures to trim down administrative
overheads and derive certain amount of resources to enhance
the sale of greenhouse and other well recognised transplanting
machine.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)
Fertilizer and pesticide operation

Revenue from sale of fertilizer and pesticide has increased from
same period last year of HK$29.4 million to current Year of HK$44.7
million, representing a 52.0% growth. Since Henan Baorong has
become the Group’s subsidiary in October 2012, it has contributed
revenue of HK$4.9 million to this operation for the Year.

Over 50% of the revenue of this segment are generated from the
sale of pesticide products, the BM series — flumetralin ( & £3f% ) and
biological fertilizers which are generally applied in soil transformation
for tobacco cultivation and the growing of organic tobacco.
However, as peer competition amongst these products is so keen
and cost for raw materials is likely to rise, it is difficult to expect a
significant growth in sale in near future. Nevertheless, management
holds the view that along with the synergy effect from the acquisition
of Henan Baorong, it has broadened the Group’s product spectrum
and enhanced the pool of expertise.

Digital television operation

Revenue from digital television operation of approximately HK$6.3
million (2012: HK$4.8 million) contributed approximately 0.8% to
the Group’s overall turnover. This operation recorded a segment
loss of HK$0.6 million (2012: loss of HK$21.6 million including one-
off impairment loss of HK$20.0 million). The growth in turnover
was contributed by the increase of advertising income as a result
of the partial unlocked of scientific channels in Hunan Province of
the PRC. However, as to the fact that digital television broadcasting
is policy-driven and full of uncertainties, it is not expected to have
any exponential increase in its revenue in coming years. Yet, the
Company will continue to explore business opportunities within the
industry and improve its product quality and operation efficiency.

Other operation

The healthcare products operation was severely underperformed
with revenue of approximately HK$0.4 million for the Year (2012:
HK$0.9 million) and recorded a segment loss of approximately
HK$5.4 million (2012: HK$5.1 million). The loss was mainly due the
significant shrinkage in the demand of cordyceps-related healthcare
products, immense pressure from peer competition and rising
operating costs. As the gloomy business environment is unlikely
to ease and yet the operating costs are likely standing high in
forthcoming years, this operation is not optimistic. In light of this,
the Group is now considering possible disposal of this operation if
opportunity arises.
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BEEEBFNWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Turnover

For the Year under review, the Group’s turnover was HK$734.7
million (2012: HK$663.9 million), representing a growth 10.7%
as compared to same period last year. Turnover from tobacco
agricultural operation which accounts for 93.0% of the Group’s
total turnover shows a growth of 8.7% to approximately HK$683.2
million (2012: HK$628.8 million). The growth was attributed to the
strong underlying demand of intensive flue-curing machinery and
related accessories. As to the unique characteristic of the seasonal
effect of tobacco agricultural industry, over 70% of the turnovers
are generated in the first half of the Year. Turnover from fertilizer and
pesticide operation and digital television operation for the Year were
approximately HK$44.7 million (2012: HK$29.4 million) and HK$6.3
million (2012: HK$4.8 million) respectively, and account for 6.1%
and 0.8% of the Group’s turnover respectively.

Cost of sales and services and Gross Profit

The Group’s cost of goods sold mainly includes costs of inventories
sold, sheet steel and direct wages. During the Year, total cost of
sales and services was HK$500.5 million which was 15.2% more
than last year of HK$434.5 million. Gross profit for the Year has
slightly increased by 2.1% to HK$234.1 million compared with
same period last year of HK$229.4 million. However, the gross
profit margin has diminished obviously from last year of 34.6% to
current Year of 31.9% partially due to the rising labour cost, uprising
sheet steel prices, logistic costs, production overheads and product
mix. The pricing of sheet steel for the Year, a major component
in construction of the flue-curing barns, was relatively pricey than
same period last year. The management may therefore consider
hedging on sheet steel cost, so as to minimise the its impact on the
cost of production.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Distribution costs

The Group’s distribution costs which mainly consist of labour
costs, transportation, travelling expenses and business soliciting
expenditures, amount to HK$127.2 million (2012: HK$78.5 million),
representing an increase of 62.0% compared to same period
last year. The significant increase in distribution costs was mainly
caused by the surge in number of times of delivery turnaround and
transportation as a result of more sales orders but with less quantity
involved that need to be fulfilled. Despite the Company’s tightening
measures over the operation cost, the direct labour overheads
which account for approximately 18.5% of the total distribution
costs of the Year has increased by 20.6% as compared to same
period last year. Therefore, management has started to streamline
the logistic arrangement to minimise distribution cost.

Administrative expenses

As a result of austerity measures adopted in cost control, the
administrative expenses for the Year was maintained at HK$135.4
million (2012: HK$137.4 million) which included amortisation and
depreciation with aggregate amount of HK$71.8 million (2012:
HK$70.1 million), and staff costs totally of HK$19.3 million (2012:
HK$24.4 million). With the challenging business environment ahead,
the Group will strive to strengthen the financial effectiveness with
a prudent approach to control the Group’s overall administrative
expenses.

Loss from operations

Loss from operations for the Year was HK$4.7 million, representing
a sharp decrease of 7.3 times compared with same period last year
(2012: profit HK$33.9 million). The loss from operation is caused by
narrowing down of gross profit margin and surging distribution cost
and relevant overheads. The Company foresees that the sheet steel
cost, direct labour cost and logistic related expenditure are likely
rising in forthcoming year.

Finance costs

Aggregate gross interest expenses on bank and other loans for
the Year was HK$22.9 million, representing an increase of 7.3%
compared with same period last year. Such increase was mainly
due to interest bearing loans increased during the reporting period.
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BEEEBFNWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Alleged Non-compliance 2010

Regarding the Alleged Non-compliance 2010 as set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 21, 26 June and 2 August 2013,
certain errors relating to accounting treatments or judgments have
been identified in the Group and Company’s financial statements
for the years ended 31 March 2010, 2011 and 2012 (“Relevant
Financial Statements”). The management come to aware that
these errors so happened were mainly arose from inappropriate
judgement during the course of audit for the year ended 31 March
2010. The preparation of the financial statements which required
the recognition and measurement of the net assets acquired of the
Acquisition, the convertible bond issued, valuation modeling and
the resultant goodwill involve material professional judgment and
assumptions about future conditions whose outcome was uncertain
and complex. Therefore, the Company has recently conducted a
lot of analysis, examinations and due diligence on alleged non-
compliance issues and related accounting treatments and literature
in a responsible manner. An international accounting firm was
appointed to provide consultation services to the Company on how
to address and document the accounting treatments in relation to
the Acquisition, and a new and independent valuer, was specifically
engaged to conduct the valuation of enterprises, convertible bond
and other related valuations in connection with the Acquisition and
subsequent impairment testing. Having remeasured the valuation
of Kang Yuan Group, two CGUs instead of one CGU in previous
valuation were identified by management, namely “Tobacco
Agricultural Operation” and “Fertilizer and Pesticide Operation”. It
was also noted that the working capital calculation adopted in the
previous valuation for subsequent impairment testing of the CGUs
did not comply with HKAS36 — Impairment of Assets. On top of the
existing “technologies”, the Company has also identified five more
other intangible assets, namely, tradename, patents and license
rights, non-competition agreements, customer relationships and
distribution network. In light of additional identifiable CGU, goodwill
arising from the Acquisition was properly allocated to the two
identifiable CGUs. The accounting treatment of the convertible bond
issued as part of consideration for the Acquisition was rectified and
designated as a financial liability through profit and loss on initial
recognition.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continuea)
Alleged Non-compliance 2010 (Continued)

The Directors are well aware that they have the responsibilities
for the preparation of the Relevant Financial Statements and
should always act at their best endeavor to ensure the all financial
statements are of true and fair view of the Company and the Group.
The Board considers that the management should have conducted
more measures and procedures that are sufficient enough to
prevent the Alleged Non-compliance 2010. Yet, the effectiveness
of such measures and procedures requires the assistance from
various professionals together with competent in-house finance
team in support for the aforesaid purposes. In this regard, the audit
committee has urged the management to deploy more resources
that have been allocated thereto in order to ensure the effectiveness
of such measures and procedures.

As to preventive measures, the Company had engaged another
an international accounting firm to conduct a review on system of
internal controls, assessment of the adequacy of the procedures
in order to strengthen the effectiveness of internal control system
and procedures during the Year. The Company has enhanced
the accounting and compliance team that all current accounting
members of the Company are qualified professional accountants.
Directors and officers are encouraged to participate continuous
professional trainings, and the Company also constantly provide
relevant study materials and seminars relating to corporate
governance to Directors.

The audit committee considers that the management has put in
place adequate measures and procedures to enable the Company
and its Directors to discharge respective obligations.

The changes on the purchase price allocation, impairment
assessment and amortisation in relation to the Acquisition as
compared to the previously published financial statements, and
restatements due to prior year adjustments (“PYAs”) as a result of
the Alleged Non-compliance 2010 to the financial statements for
year ended 31 March 2010 are tabulated as shown below.

Details of restatements for the years ended 31 March 2011 and
2012 are set out in note 4 to the financial statements of this report.
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BEEEBFNWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Alleged Non-compliance 2010 (Continued)

Major impact of PYAs of the Alleged Non-compliance 2010 to the
financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2010 and 2011

are illustrated below:

Bt EEE (&)
—E-ZEFEBITERER (&)
T THEEBTENER Y BAEFEER
EUHBE-_T-—TFR-_T——F=58
S+ BUFECHBERE I EATED
SR :

2010
—E-ZF
As previously Changes
As restated reported due to PYAs
BEFE
55 o % Al 2 ]| FAEMEE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET
Extract from Consolidated GRETHRERFE:
Statement of Comprehensive ZHE@ERER
Income: individual item
affected
Turnover - 220,796 220,796 -
Administrative expenses THER (53,900) (39,212) (14,688)
Other losses, net HihE1E ¥ (11,338) (32,630) 21,292
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREEE (140,760) (15,700) (125,060)
Income tax expense FrigBi i (8,293) (7,051) (1,242)
Exchange differences on BREBINEBEEZ
translating foreign operations ME =58 (263) 382 (645)
Loss attributable to RAFHEANEILEE
owners of the Company (389,029) (269,331) (119,698)
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BEEENWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued) M ERE (=)
Alleged Non-compliance 2010 (Continued) —E-EZFEBTERSERE ®)
2011
—E——F
As previously Changes
As restated reported due to PYAs
BEEE
g7 o % Al 2 ]| TR E
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
Extracted from Consolidated FEZEHWNERFBE:
Statement of Comprehensive ZREzEBIEE
Income: individual items
affected
Turnover TR 598,132 598,132 -
Administrative expenses THER (138,686) (108,728) (29,958)
Finance costs & B AR (28,010) (28,123) 113
Other losses Hih &8 (84,275) (10,494) (73,781)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREEE (160,169) (120,234) (39,935)
Impairment losses on other
intangible assets HihE\pEERAERE (197,676) (99,694) (97,982)
Income tax credit FrigHiE e 48,260 11,662 36,598
Exchange differences on BMEBINEBREEZ
translating foreign operations PE 5 = &8 51,202 20,557 30,645
Loss attributable to KATHE AEIEEE
owners of the Company (429,933) (224,988) (204,945)
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BEEEBFNWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued) B E R (#)
Alleged Non-compliance 2010 (Continued) —E-EFERTERSE )
2010
—E-EF
As previously Changes
As restated reported due to PYAs
BEEE
g7 S A 2 3] FAEmMES
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FTAT FAET
Extract from Consolidated HEMBRRREE:
Statement of Financial SEEzEEIEE
Position: individual
item affected
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - HeER MR 185,461 155,659 29,802
Prepaid land lease payments T i i & RIE 45,089 21,393 23,696
Goodwil GRS 165,374 896,557 (731,183)
Other intangible assets HihmEEE 732,202 268,940 463,262
Deferred tax assets EERIREE 2,598 - 2,598
Current liabilities REBARE
Other payables and Ht e RIERETE A
accrued charges 30,764 30,743 21
Reserves i
Capital reserve BEARGE 301,366 878,178 (576,812)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIEAR 165,966 34,348 131,618
Convertible bond Al A (5 893,555 660,207 233,348
Total assets HEE 1,985,654 2,197,479 (211,825)
Total liabilities BEAE 1,652,287 1,287,300 364,987
Total equity RS 333,367 910,179 (576,812)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Alleged Non-compliance 2010 (Continued)

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENRE DN

The net assets acquired in the Acquisition and the goodwill

Bt (&)
—E-SFEBTEREE (&)
WBEBERAE SR SARFAEEY

arising are set out below: AMEHINMT
As restated As previously reported
2] MER 2K
Acquiree’s Acquiree’s
carrying carrying
amount amount
before before
business Fair value Total fair business Fair value Total fair Changes
combination adjustment value | | combination adjustment value | | due to PYAs
HEBEAR RUBAE
EBaA ES L) EBAFE
ZREE AFEBE AFEERE ZREE DATEBE APEAH AEMEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET FEL FAL FAL TAL TAT
Net assets acquired represents: FyEEERERE:
Property, plant and equipment nE BELRE 171,230 (11,599) 159,631 180,330 (44,250) 136,080 23,551
Prepaid land lease payments ARt HAERE 42,616 2,634 45,250 33,516 (10,760) 22,756 22,494
Other intangible assets Ht BV EE - 732,169 732,169 - 263,182 263,182 468,987
Inventories FE 138,092 - 138,092 138,092 - 138,092 -
Trade receivables IR 254,903 - 254,903 254,903 - 254,903 -
Prepayments, other receivables BRFUR EERGERES
and deposits 108,692 - 108,692 108,692 = 108,692 =
Pledged deposits BERER 107,393 - 107,393 107,393 - 107,393 -
Cash and bank balances He RRTES 60,613 - 60,613 60,567 - 60,567 46
Trade and bils payables ERERRENRE (240,049) - (240,049) (240,049) - (240,049) -
Other payables and accruals HttERFEREHER (30,697) - (30,697) (30,674) - (30,674) 23
Borrowings Er (054,545) - (054,545) (254,545) - (054,545) -
Deferred tax assets ERRAEE - 2,619 2,619 - - - 2,619
Deferred tax liabilties EXHEEE - (167,232) (167,232) - (34,348) (34,348) (132,884)
Capital reserve BARGEE - - - (26,062) - (26,062) (26,062)
358,248 558,591 916,839 332,163 173,824 505,987
Goodwil HE 290,718 896,557 (605,839)
1,207,557 1,402,544
Consideration: RE:
Cash B 300,000 304,544 (4,544)
Convertible bond THRES 907,557 1,008,000 (190,443)
1,207,557 1,402,544
B BEERBRAT « _ T —=—FFHK 19
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Alleged Non-compliance 2010 (Continued)

Intangible assets in relation to the Acquisition are extracted as
follows:

B EEE (&)
—E-ZEFEBIERER (&)
WRE R B EESBNT

THL THL TEL THRL TEn T

As restated As previously reported
£l nERZH
Non-
Patents and competition Customer  Distribution Change
Goodwill Technologies licence rights ~ Tradename  agreements Relationships Network Total Goodwill  Technologies Total|  due to PYAs
L L] REEFE
ik 3 & REFAE BE  THEER RFBE 288% it [k #il 43t BEALE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Tk T T T T TRL

BREERZ:
FYE2ER

Extract from intangible
assets: ltem affected

Acquisition of Kang Yuan Group  WERREE 290,718 69,058 136,531 172,712 74910 40,616 238,342 1,022,887 896,557 263,182 1,159,789 (136,852)
Amortisation E1] - (2.297) - - [2491) (1,351) (3969) (10,102) - (4.400) (4.400) (6709
Impairment losses HEEE (125,080) - - - - - - (125,060) - - - (125,060)
Exchange difierence 3531 (284) 4] - - 6) & 4] (307) - - - (307)
At 31 March 2010 W=%-8%=A=t-H 165,374 66,756 136,531 172,712 72413 39,262 234,370 887,418 896,557 258,782 1,155,339 (267,921)
Amortisation B4 - (14,133) - (16,330) (8.312) (24,389) (62,164) - (26,318) (26,318) (35,846)
Impairment losses HEEE (160,169) (16,125) (41,576) (52,589) (13.291) - (64,097) (347,846) (120234 (89,694) (209,928) (137,918)
Exchange difference ERZE 8,899 2459 5512 6,972 2,766 1,672 9,054 37,334 - - - 37,334
At 31 March 2011 R-8--§=B=+-H 14,104 38,957 100,467 127,09 46,558 32,622 154,938 514,742 776,323 142,770 919,093 (404,351)

Loss for the year and loss attributable to owners of the
Company

Loss for the Year was HK$252.6 million, representing a significant
decrease of 577.9% as compared to the profit of HK$52.9 million
in the same period last year. The loss for the Year was mainly
attributed to the impairment losses on other intangible assets of
HK$135.4 million (2012: HK$77.2 million), impairment loss on
goodwill of HK$8.5 million (2012: Nil), share option expenses
HK$9.7 million (2012: HK$4.6 million) and loss arose from the
fair value change and the redemption of convertible bond with
aggregate amount of HK$151.1 million (2012: Gain HK$125.9
million). The loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to HK$248.8 million (2012: Profit HK$50.4 million). The loss per
share was HK Cents 9.17 (2012: earnings per share HK Cents
1.86).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There was no material change in the issued share capital of the
Company during the Year.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

During the Year under review, the Group generally financed its
operations through internally generated cash flows and borrowings.
As at 31 March 2013, the Group had aggregated cash and bank
balance and pledged deposits of approximately HK$192.6 million
(2012: HK$421.0 million). The Group’s current ratio, being the
current assets of HK$993,466,000 (2012: HK$1,310,136,000)
divided by current liabilities of HK$658,643,000 (2012:
HK$887,369,000), was computed as 1.51 (2012: 1.48) which
was regarded as healthy and acceptable. The improvement in
current ratio was primarily attributed to the substantial reduction of
bank borrowings of HK$244.2 milion to HK$502.8 million (2012:
HK$747.0 million) for the Year. The cash and cash equivalents was
materially reduced to HK$11.3 million at 31 March 2013 (2012:
HK$160.8 million). However, it was subsequently replenished by
recovery of receivables after year end date.

As at 31 March 2013, the Group’s total indebtedness comprised
the fair value of outstanding convertible bond, borrowings,
bills payable, amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of
a subsidiary and amount due to a director was recorded with
aggregate amount of approximately HK$1,278.8 million (2012:
HK$1,575.1 million). The gearing ratio of the Group, being the total
indebtedness divided by total assets excluding deferred tax assets,
was 101.9% (2012: 87.0%) at the year ended date. The increase in
the Group’s gearing ratio was primarily due to the reduction of asset
value as a result of impairment losses on the other intangible assets
and goodwill for the year under review. Subsequent to the year
ended, the Group has successfully raised RMB60 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$75.9 million) in May 2013 by issuance of small
and medium-sized enterprises private placement bonds (“SME
Private Bonds”) with terms of 24 months tenure, unsecured and
bearing interest at the rate of 9% per annum. The SME Private
Bonds is an unlisted financial product with designated subscribers
and was registered in Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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BEEEBFNWR DN

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE (Continued)

The convertible bond, if not converted, would be due for repayment
on 25 March 2015 and the related coupon interest accrued
was waived up to 31 March 2014 as per the board approval of
Cyberland. In terms of currency denomination, the convertible
bond was denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Of the borrowings,
bills payable, amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary and amount due to a director, over 90% of the balance
was denominated in Renminbi with the balance in Hong Kong
dollars. With the amount of liquid assets on hand as well as credit
facilities available, the management is of the view that the Group
have sufficient financial resources to meet its ongoing operational
requirements.

FOREIGN CURRENCY MANAGEMENT

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transactions of the
Group were mainly carried and conducted in Hong Kong dollars
and Renminbi. The Group continues to maintain a prudent strategy
in its foreign currency risk management, to a large extent, foreign
exchange risks are minimised by balancing the foreign currency
monetary assets versus the corresponding currency liabilities,
and foreign currency revenues versus the corresponding currency
expenditures. In light of the above, it is considered that the Group’s
exposure to foreign exchange risk is insignificant and no hedging
measure has been undertaken by the Group.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2013, the Group’s certain leasehold land and
buildings with aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$45.4
million and bank deposits of HK$181.2 milion were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Regarding the Winding-up Petition filed by the Petitioner on 25
January 2013 for winding up the Company, the High Court on the
hearing conducted on 13 May 2013, ordered that the Winding-
up Petition be dismissed with the costs of Petitioner borne by
the Company. Cyberland informed the Company that to its best
knowledge as at 8 October 2013, the said concerned sum of
HK$51.2 million that had been deposited into the High Court by
the Company on 8 May 2013 is still kept at High Court. As advised
by Company’s legal adviser, the concerned convertible bond of
certificate number 3 has been redeemed on 8 May 2013.

For details, refer to announcements made by the Company on 28
January 2013, 10 and 15 April 2013, 8 and 13 May 2013.

For the High Court Action No. HCA 776/2013 in relation to the Writ
of Summon issued by Cyberland claiming against the Petitioner and
the Company, the Company has ultimately reached a settlement on
24 September 2013 with Cyberland for discontinuation of the Action
with no order as to costs.

For details, please refer to announcement made by the Company on
7 May 2013 and 26 September 2013.

DISPOSALS

On 10 May 2012, the Group had entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of its
remaining 20% equity interest in Xian Shenghua for a consideration
of RMB6 million (equivalent to approximately HK$7.4 million). The
transaction was completed on 16 May 2012 and a disposal loss of
approximately HK$1.5 million was recorded.
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DISPOSALS (Continued)

Pursuant to an asset transfer agreement entered into by the Company
on 8 April 2011, the Company was to disposed of certain its land,
property and equipment which was subsequently classified as assets
held for sale, in relation to the manufacturing of fertilizers, to a connected
party of the Company for a consideration of approximately RMB138.9
million. On 29 May 2012, the Group has finally completed the disposal
and the net sale proceeds of which is settled by offsetting against part
of convertible bond issued by the Company with equivalent aggregate
principal amount to approximately HK$170.6 million. A disposal gain of
approximately HK$35.5 million was thereby recorded. For details of the
disposal, please refer to Circular published by the Company dated 29
April 2011.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012, the Group did not have
any significant contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012, the Group did not have
any significant capital commitment.

EMPLOYEES

As at at 31 March 2013, the Group had 372 (2012: 417) full-
time employees including Directors. Total staff costs for the Year,
including director’s emoluments but excluding equity settled share
based payment expenses, was approximately HK$48.1 million
(2012: HK$43.0 million). The decrease in number of staff at the year
ended date mainly reflected that two subsidiaries were ceased to
be the Company’s subsidiaries during the Year. The equity settled
share based payment expenses of approximately HK$0.67 million
(2012: HK$0.99 million) represented the fair value of share options
granted to eligible person of the share option scheme and were not
resulted in any cash outflow.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. JINGQUAN Yingzi, aged 38, was appointed as an executive
Director on 22 November 2010. She is the Chairman of the
Company and is responsible for the formulation of corporate
strategy and the steering the overall development of the Group.
Ms. Jinggquan has extensive experience in strategic planning and
management for corporate in the PRC. Ms. Jingquan is also the
chairman of the nomination committee and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. WONG Man Hung, Patrick, aged 57, joined the Group
and was appointed as an executive Director on 1 April 2008. He
obtained a master degree in business administration from University
of East Asia in Macau and an advance diploma in management from
Columbia University in the United States of America (the “United
States”). Mr. Wong is also a visiting professor in City University
of Macau and the Institute of Business Engineering (IBE). Prior
to joining the Company, Mr. Wong has extensive experience in
corporate management and has over 30 years of experience in
providing financial advisory service to the institutional clients and
has involved in the financing activities for various infrastructure
projects in Hong Kong and the PRC since the 1990s. Mr. Wong is
also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. SHAN Xiaochang, aged 48, joined Jiangsu Kedi in June 2006
and was appointed as an executive Director on 22 November
2010. Mr. Shan is an entrepreneur in the PRC with over 16 years
of experience in the areas of corporate finance, operational
management, cash and treasury management and direct research
and development activities. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Shan
held senior positions in numbers of private companies which focus
on the business related to agricultural, environmental protection and
chemical fertilizers sectors in the PRC. Mr. Shan currently serves as
an executive director, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
of Sunrise (China) Technology Group Limited (Stock Code: 8226), a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Shan is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. WU Zhongxin, aged 48, joined Jiangsu Kedi in July 2006 and
was appointed as an executive Director on 22 November 2010. Mr.
Wu is responsible for overseeing the management and operation of
Jiangsu Kedi. After earned his Master degree from the Institute of
Virology Chinese Academy of Science, he worked in the agricultural
related education sectors and directed a series of research in
tobacco for almost 10 years in Northeast Agricultural University
and Henan Tobacco Research Institute respectively. During his
time with these two academies, he had successfully completed a
project awarded with the second prize in technology development
in Henan Province and has over 20 thesis published. Mr. Wu had
extensive experiences in the area of research and development and
promotion, sales and market management. Mr. Wu is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Stephen William FROSTICK, aged 63, joined the Group and
was appointed as an executive Director on 3 December 2008.
Mr. Frostick has extensive experience in the areas of strategic
planning, operational management and corporate development.
Mr. Frostick earned his juris doctorate degree from Nevada’s Old
College School of Law in the United States in 1984. In addition,
Mr. Frostick graduated from the University of Nevada, Las Vegas
in the United States with a Master of Public Administration degree
and a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration in 1976 and
1974 respectively. Mr. Frostick is the Chief Executive Officer and
President with Compeer Group (Macau) and Grey Eagle Group
(Hong Kong). Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Frostick has over 35
years of experience in leading capacities from the State Government
of Nevada in the United States, large corporations and international
consulting organisations. During his employment with Kepner
Tregoe Inc., Mr. Frostick was involved in the design, development
and the implementation of “Team Concept” for Chrysler Motors
Inc. and was participated in the negotiations with respect to the
labour agreements between the United Auto Workers Union and
Chrysler Motors Inc. Mr. Frostick currently serves as an executive
director and the Chairman of China Public Healthcare (Holding)
Limited (Stock Code: 8116), a company listed on the GEM Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Frostick is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Professor LIU Guoshun, aged 58, joined the Group and was
appointed as an non-executive Director on 22 November 2010.
Professor Liu is the Dean of the school in tobacco science and a
tutor of the doctoral program students at the Henan Agricultural
University. Professor Liu is a supervisor in national tobacco
cultivation, physiology and biochemistry research centre and
regard as one of the leading expert in the PRC tobacco agricultural
industry. Professor Liu currently serves as the manager of the major
projects from the STMA.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. SOUSA Richard Alvaro, aged 52, joined the Group and was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 30 January
2001. Mr. Sousa was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court
of Hong Kong in 1996 and has been practicing as a solicitor in
Hong Kong and is a partner in Messrs. Chan, Lau and Wai. He
is also the chairman of the audit committee and remuneration
committee and a member of the nomination committee.

Mr. LEE Chi Hwa Joshua, aged 41, joined the Group and
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company on 1 December 2007. Mr. Lee is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lee
has extensive experience in the fields of auditing, accounting and
finance. Mr. Lee currently serves as an independent non-executive
director of China Public Healthcare (Holding) Limited (stock code:
8116), which is listed on the GEM Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. He is a member of the nomination committee,
the audit committee and the remuneration committee.

Mr. ZHAO Zhizheng, aged 60, joined the Group and was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company on 26 July 2012. Mr. Zhao is qualified by the State
Tobacco Monopoly Bureau (Bl X ZEE HE ) of the People’s
Republic of China as a Senior Economist. Moreover, Mr. Zhao was
awarded as one of the Best Chinese Entrepreneurs by the China
Enterprise Confederation/China Enterprise Directors Association
in 2004. In 2000, Mr. Zhao finished the Business Administration
Master Program Studies Course ( L7 & 2 (MBA)E L iR 2 i &
#1) organised by the Graduate School of the Renmin University of
China. Further, Mr. Zhao was awarded the Labour Award ( 1 —%5
425 ) by the All China Federation of Trade Unions in 1997.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors submit their annual report together with audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and associates are set out in notes 22 and 23
to the financial statements, respectively.

An analysis of the performance of the Group for the year by
operation segments is set out in note 7 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2013 and
state of the Company’s and the Group’s affair as at that date are set
out in the financial statement on pages 56 to 219.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2013.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group and the Company are set out in note 18 to the financial
statements.

CONVERTIBLE BOND

Details of convertible bond of the Group and the Company are set
out in note 34 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 35 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 62 and in note 37 to the financial
statements, respectively.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers and the largest customer accounted
for approximately 24.1% and 7.3% of the turnover of the Group.
The five largest suppliers and the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 40.0% and 11.0% of the cost of sales and services of
the Group.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders of the
Company who or which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital has any
interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws
of the Company or the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares of the Company (the
“Share”) on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any shares of the Company during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company had no distributable reserve as at 31 March 2013,
as required in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda (as
amended).

SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted by the
shareholders of the Company and became effective on 2 February
2009 and will remain in force for a period of 10 years from that
date. A summary of the principal terms of the Scheme is set out as
follows:—

(1) Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to
grant share options of the Company (the “Options”) under the
Scheme to the Eligible Participants (defined in paragraph (2)
below) for their contribution to the growth of the Company
or any subsidiaries of the Company and to provide the
Company with more flexible means to reward, remunerate,
compensate and/or provide benefit to the eligible Participants
(as defined below).
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(1)

(2)

(3)

Purpose of the Scheme (Continued)

For the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme
include any employee, director, supplier of goods or services,
customer, agent, adviser, consultant, strategist, contractor,
sub-contractor, expert or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support or any valuable
services to the Company and any of its subsidiaries,
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
holder of any securities issued by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

Eligible Participants

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may, at their discretion,
invite any directors and employees of the Group and
any suppliers, customers, agents, advisors, consultants,
strategists, contractors, sub-contractors, expert or entity
that provides research, development or other technological
support or any valuable services to the Group; shareholders
and any securities holders of the Group (the “Participants”) to
participate in the Scheme.

Total number of Shares available for issue under
the Scheme

The maximum number of the Shares in respect of which
Options may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the issued Shares as at the date of approval of the
Scheme. The Board shall not grant any options which would
result in the maximum aggregate number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding Options
granted but yet to be exercised under the Scheme which
provide for the grant of Options to acquire or subscribe for
shares exceeding, in aggregate, 30% of the issued Shares
from time to time. As at the date of this report, the number of
shares available for issue under the Scheme was 2,379,824
shares representing approximately 0.09% of the issued
Shares.
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The maximum number of Shares, both issued and to be
issued, upon exercise of the Options granted under the
Scheme to each Participant in any 12 months period up to
the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the issued Shares
on date of grant unless it is approved by Shareholders in a
general meeting of the Company with such Participant and
his associates abstaining from voting. Any Option granted to
a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company or to any of their associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the issued Shares and with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, in any 12-month period,
are subject to Shareholders’ approval in general meeting of
the Company.

Term of exercise of the Options

The period within which the Options must be exercised will
be specified by the Company at the time of grant. Options
granted may be exercised in whole or in part in the manner
provided in the Scheme by a grantee giving notice in writing
to the Company at any time during a period not to exceed 10
years from the date of grant.

Payment on acceptance of an Option offer

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the
Participants upon acceptance of the grant of Options.

Basis on determining of the subscription price

The subscription price per Share under the Scheme is a price
determined by the Board and notified to each Participant
and shall not be less than the greatest of (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.
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SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) BRE 2
(8) Remaining life of the Scheme (8) FrEIZFIAE XM
The Scheme will remain valid until 1 February 2019. rElgERE—_Z2—NLd=-A—H
ke
Details of specific categories and movement of the Options granted 1R IEFTEINERNZ L 2 B #E 2 8 F 85
under the Scheme during the year are presented as follows:— REHFBE2IMOT: —
Number of Options
BREHE

Exercise
Tranche (date of Option grant) At Granted Exercised Forfeited At price
R (BREBRERS) 1 April during the during the during the 31 March HK$
Category/Name of participant 2012 year year year 2013 per share Exercise period
(Number of participant) iy IS
SREER /g ZB-Zf —E-=% ke
(BHEAY) mA-A REREH RERFTE RERKK =A=t-H BHRAET T
Tranche One (10 December 2010) 2 years up to 2 October 2014
E-#(=2-ZF+ZA1H) HE-T-METAZHIERE
Consultants
AR 50,000,000 - - - 50,000,000 0.163
Employees
B8 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 0.163
Tranche Two (7 October 2011) 5 years up to 6 October 2016
FoH(Z2--F1AtR) HECZ-RETARALLE
Employee
EE 7,000,000 - - (7,000,000) - 04170
Tranche Three (3 October 2012) 2 years up to 2 October 2014
E-H(ZB-ZF+AZH) BE_Z-METAZBLME
Consultants
EEE - 135,000,000 - - 135,000,000 0.163
Director (Wong Man Hung, Patrick)
EE (Tl - 7,000,000 - - 7,000,000 0.163
Total &3t 67,000,000 142,000,000 - (7,000,0000 202,000,000

On 3 October 2012, the Company had (a) resolved to modify the R-_Z—_—F+A=ZH ' KARQ 7 (aRZ
Options for tranche one to subscribe for a total of 60,000,000 {E&I#GELAIKR FALEEE THEABER &
shares previously granted to certain consultants and full-time 2B & ~ 7] 22 88 & ££60,000,0000% f&% 17
employees of the Group; and (b) granted the new Options to 2 & —#tERE: M(O)REFE = ] RE
subscribe for tranche three of 142,000,000 shares. 142,000,0000% & 17 &Y %7 i A 4 -
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The Options granted under tranche one may be exercisable at any time
during the tranche one’s option period, provided that the maximum
number of Options which the grantees under tranche one are entitled to
exercise shall not exceed:

1. 50% of the total number of Options granted to the grantees
under tranche one during the period from the tranche one’s
date of grant to the date immediately before the first anniversary
of the tranche one’s date of grant, any of the outstanding and
unexercised Options at the end of the exercise period can be
rolled over to the next exercise period; and

2. 50% of the total number of Options granted to the grantees
under tranche one during the period from the first anniversary of
the tranche one’s date of grant to the date immediately before
the second anniversary of the tranche one’s date of grant, any
of the outstanding and unexercised Options at the end of the
exercise period and be exercisable before the expiry of the
tranche one option period.

The Options granted under tranche three may be exercisable at any time
during the tranche three’s option period.

The closing prices for the Share immediately before the grant date as at

10 December 2010, 7 October 2011, 3 October 2012, are HK$0.320,
HK$0.169 and HK$0.163, respectively.

MREERARAT « —F
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are as
follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. Jingquan Yingzi (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Man Hung, Patrick
Mr. Shan Xiaochang
Mr. Wu Zhongxin
Mr. Feng Xiaoping
(resigned on 28 September 2012)
Mr. Stephen William Frostick

Non-executive Director
Prof. Liu Guoshun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Sousa Richard Alvaro
Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua
Mr. Zhao Zhizheng
(appointed on 26 July 2012)
Ms. Chan Mei Bo Mabel
(resigned on 27 April 2012)

In accordance with the Bye-law of the Company, the Directors shall
retire by rotation, and being eligible, have offered themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”).

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) and the Company still considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 25 to
27 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Jingquan Yingzi, Mr. Wong Man Hung Patrick, Mr. Wu
Zhongxin and Mr. Stephen William Frostick have entered into a
service contract with the Company for an initial term of two years
commencing from 1 January 2013, 28 December 2012, 1 January
2013 and 15 January 2013, respectively. The service contracts may
be terminated by either party thereto by giving to the other three
months’ prior notice in writing.

Both of the Non-executive Director and the Independent Non-
executive Directors have been appointed for a term of two years.
Apart from the foregoing, no Director to be proposed for the election
at the forthcoming AGM has a services contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed herein under note 49 to the financial statements,
no other contracts of significance to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was a party
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

REMUNERATION POLICY

Salary package for employees are structured by reference to
market conditions, staff’'s experience and individual performance.
Other benefits offered by the Group included medical insurance,
mandatory provident fund scheme, training subsidies, share option
scheme and discretionary bonus.

The remuneration of the Directors are determined by the
Remuneration Committee with reference to the market rates,
commitment, contribution and their duties, and responsibilities with
the Group. The remuneration packages are subject to review each
year. Directors’ remuneration is set out in details in note 13 to the
financial statements.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive
to the Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme is set
out in note 36 to the financial statements.
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EERFETHRAEBREARTHAE
fAREEE 2 k60 - HERD R EE
HZERRKR

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2013, the interests and short positions of the R-_ZT—=ZF=ZA=Z+—H SFFNA
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the ordinary RAEIFBITHABEARD AN HEBE LR
shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company (“Shares”), underlying (E& R&ESMHAEEG ([F %&Hﬁ&%ﬂm
Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated ) )2 AN AR EREE0.OIB T &
corporations within the meaning of the Securities and Future A& ([f%{n]) ~HBRIR D R EEZE+ Tf@ﬁﬁ
Ordinance (the “SFQ”), as recorded in the register maintained by the  7BEE R AN A BRI 75 %5 & B & 15171 55352
Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to  {§F & 2 Z oA Z S KA R iR IEE
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the SFO or the % N HI S (& Hlsk Al ik TR BBEME R
GEM Listing Rules were as follows:— NEI MRz R FORBINT

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares R REERD 2EFR

36

Number of
Shares and Approximate
Capacity and underlying percentage of
Name of Directors nature of interests Shares held shareholding
BEROR BREQ
EEpnA B RERME HERDHE B
Ms. Jingquan Yingzi Interests held by controlled corporation 2,027,546,744 74.71%
HRERZ L and beneficial owner (note (b))
REGSAAFEZERRESERA (M3t (o))
Mr. Wong Man Hung Patrick Beneficial owner 32,000,000 1.18%
T XIERAE EnfEBA
Mr. Shan Xiaochang Interests held by controlled corporation 1,984,776,744 73.14%
BEELAE and beneficial owner (notes (a) and (b))
REGAABE IR R ERESA (M 5E(@) R (b))
Mr. Feng Xiaoping (note (c)) Interests held by controlled corporation 31,618,750 1.17%

B/NFRE ()

SRz NCIES Foprd s
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (Continued)

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares
(Continued)

Notes:

(@) 1,982,326,744 underlying Shares are held by Cyberland, which is legally
and beneficially owned as to 54.63% by Stepwise International Holdings
Limited (“Stepwise”). Stepwise is legally and beneficially wholly owned by
Mr. Shan Xiaochang (“Mr. Shan”) an executive Director.

(b) The interests refer to the same parcel of underlying Shares.

() 31,618,750 Shares are held by Sino Unicorn Technology Limited, a
company in which Mr. Feng Xiaoping (“Mr. Feng”) has an indirect interest
of 51% therein. Mr. Feng has retired as an executive Director with effect
on 28 September 2012.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2013, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
in which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions entered by Directors.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ interests and short positions in Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation” and the share option scheme above, at no time during
the year was rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director
or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHODLERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2013, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons (not being Directors or chief executives of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

FERRRAEAQ ARG K HEER G
ZEERAXR

RIE-—=F=A=+—HB ®EHFHH"

ATAL(LFEFRARAEZITHA
B) R AERND T HEERRRRESR
RIEE 75 LB (RHIEXVEEFE2 M3 782
MEARARRRRE - RRHERARARE
BH MG GRDIEIB6HFEZELMAZ

AR HA R -

Derivative interests

TEER
Number of
Number of underlying
Shares held  Percentage of Shares held  Percentage of
(long position) shareholding  (long position) shareholding
BREHE
FERGHE RAEAE
Name of shareholders  BRER & (F8) BERES (¥#) BRESH
Mr. Lee Yuk Lun FEBEE 219,298,244 8.08% -
Cyberland (China) Limited ~ &Hit (R E) AR 2 A 1,082,326,744 73.05%
(notes (a) and (b))
(M #E @R (o))
Stepwise International SEEBRERER AT 1,982,326,744 73.05%
Holdings Limited (notes (a), (b)

Ms. Wu Shuhua RRELT

and (¢)
(MzE(@) (o)
©)

=

1,984,776,744 73.14%
(note (d))
(Bt7E(d))
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHODLERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(@) The interests refer to the same parcel of underlying Shares.

(b) Cyberland is legally and beneficially owned as to 54.63% by Stepwise.
(c) Stepwise is legally and beneficially wholly owned by Mr. Shan.

(d) Ms. Wu Shuhua is the spouse of Mr. Shan. By virtue of the SFO, Ms.
Wu is also deemed to be interested in all Shares in which Mr. Shan is
interested and/or deemed to be interested.

Save as disclosed above, no other person had any interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the usual course of business are set out in note 49 to
the financial statements.

There were no transactions required to be disclosed as non-exempt
connected transactions or non-exempt continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules during the
year. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events after the reporting period of the Group
are set out in note 50 to the financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and the code provisions as set out in the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out in
Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. The information on the
principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
is set out on pages 42 to 53 of this report.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
the Directors have complied with such code of conduct regarding
securities transactions throughout the year ended 31 March 2013.
The Company shall iterate and remind the Directors from time to
time in respect of the relevant procedures, rules and requirements
in relation to Directors’ dealing in order to ensure the Directors’
compliance.

COMPETING INTEREST

As at 31 March 2013, as far as the Directors are aware of, none of
the Directors (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has an interest in
a business that competed or may compete with the business of the
Group.

DISCLOSURE OF THE CHANGES IN THE
INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, changes in
the information of the Directors required to be disclosed in this
report. On 8 April 2013, Mr. Lee Chi Hwa, Joshua has resigned
as an independent non-executive Director and a member to
nomination committee of KingStone Energy Ltd., a company listed
on Stock Exchange.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises all Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Sousa Richard Alvaro, Mr. Lee Chi Hwa
Joshua and Mr. Zhao Zhizheng who was appointed by the
Company on 26 July 2012. The members of the audit committee
have reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2013 and are of the opinion that such
statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the
GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements.

Four meetings were held by audit committee during the year.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Baker
Tilly Hong Kong Limited.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for reappointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Jingquan Yingzi
Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 October 2013
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERHRSE

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and the code provisions as set out in the Code as
set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. The principles
adopted by the Company emphasis a quality board, transparency
and accountability to shareholders. In the opinion of the Board, the
Company has complied with the Code for the year ended 31 March
2013, save and except for the following:

1. Following the resignation of Ms. Chan Mei Bo Mabel, the
independent non-executive Director, a member of audit
committee, a member of remuneration committee and a
member of nomination committee of the Company, on 27
April 2012, the Company had only two independent non-
executive Directors and two audit committee members, the
number of which fell below the minimum number required
under Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules until
the Company appointed Mr. Zhao Zhizheng to fill in the
vacancy on 26 July 2012;

2. Provision E.1.2 of the Code specifies that the chairman of
the Board should attend the AGM. Ms. Jingquan Yingzi,
the chairman of the Board has been heavily involved in
the business operations of the Group. Despite her utmost
intention to be present at the AGM of the Company held on
28 September 2012 (the “AGM 2012”), Ms. Jingguan was
unable to attend the AGM 2012 due to other urgent business
commitments of the Group. Mr. Wong Man Hung Patrick, an
executive Director, has taken the chair; and

3. Provision A.1.3 of the Code requires of at least 14 days’
notice should be given to all Directors for a regular Board
meeting. For all other Board meetings, reasonable notice
should be given. Due to the practical reasons, 14 days’
advanced notifications have not been given to all meetings
of the Board. Reasons have been given in the notifications
in respect of those meetings of the Board where it is not
practical to give 14 days’ advanced notification. The Board
will use its best endeavours to give 14 days’ advanced
notifications of Board meeting to the extent practicable.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Board consisted of nine
directors, including five executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors. Following
the resignation of Ms. Chan Mei Bo Mabel on 27 April 2012, an
independent non-executive director, a member of audit committee,
a member of remuneration committee and a member of nomination
committee of the Company, on 27 April 2012, the Company had
only two independent non-executive Directors and two audit
committee members, the number of which fell below the minimum
number required under Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of the GEM Listing
Rules until the Company appointed Mr. Zhao Zhizheng to fill in the
vacancy on 26 July 2012.

The Board has a balance of skill and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Company. The
Director’s biographical information is set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors” of this report. There is no
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships
among the Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer are separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. As at 31 March 2013, the Chairman is Ms.
Jingguan Yingzi and the Company has no appointment for the
position of chief executive officer. The Chairman is responsible for
overseeing all Board functions, while the role of chief executive
officer is performed collectively by executive Directors, excluding
Ms. Jingguan Yingzi, and senior management to oversee the day-
to-day operations of the Group and implementing the strategies and
policies approved by the Board.

The Board considers that under the current arrangement, the
balance of power and authority is ensured by the operations of the
Board, which comprises experienced and high caliber individuals
who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting operations of the
Group. The Board will review the effectiveness of this arrangement
from time to time and will consider appointing chief executive officer
of the Company when it thinks appropriate.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Under the Code Provision A.4.1, all non-executive Directors should
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. The non-
executive Directors are appointed and are subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Bye-law of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The three independent non-executive Directors are persons of high
caliber, with appropriate academic and professional qualifications
in the field of accounting or law industry. The Company has
received from each of independent non-executive Directors an
annual confirmation of his or her independence, and the Company
considers that these directors to be independent under Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. Sousa Richard Alvaro has been servicing more than 9 years in
the Company, his further appointment shall be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by shareholders in forthcoming AGM,
and the relevant resolution should also include the reasons why the
Board believes he is still independent and should be re-elected in
compliance with Code Provision A.4.3.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is primary responsible to ensure the Company achieves
its objectives, approve the business strategies and review the
performance of management.

All Directors, have contributed a wide variety of valuable knowledge,
business experience and professionalism to the Board for its normal
functioning.

All Directors have full access to all the information of the Company
as well as the services and advice from the company secretary and
management. The Directors may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision for all major issues relating
to policy matters, internal control, strategies, budgets, risk
management, material transactions, financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant operational issues of
the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management are delegated to the management.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his responsibilities to the
Company.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDENCE RECORD AT MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in persons or through other electronic
means of communication to review and determine the overall
strategic direction and objectives and approve quarterly, interim
and annual results, and other significant matters. Due notices of the
meetings are given to all Directors to attend and include matters for
discussion. Details of the attendance of each member of the Board
at the meetings of the Board, its respective committees and the
general meetings during the year ended 31 March 2013 are set out
as follows:
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Audit  Remuneration Nomination General

Type of Meeting exEy Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Ezg EREES ¥Mzee REZEE REAE

attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/

eligible to eligible to eligible to eligible to eligible to

Name of Directors EEfF attend attend attend attend attend

BHEAY,/ CHERE/ BEERE/ CHERE/ BEER®/
RERUMRE BERURE BERWLE RERULE RERUME
ZEBRY ZEERY ZEERY PA-£ VN ZEBRY

Executive Directors HITES
Ms. JINGQUAN Yingzi (Chairman) St (£/8) 15/18 N/A i N/A i A 0N 0/2
Mr. WONG Man Hung Patrick EXHEE 16/18 N/A T iE A N/A T A N/A TR 2/2
Mr. SHAN Xiaochang BEELE 3/18 N/A T iE A N/A T A N/A T 0/2
Mr. WU Zhongxin RADEE 5/18 N/A i A N/A i A N/A T iE 0/2
Mr. FENG Xiaoping (resigned 28 /NP4 (RZE—=F

September 2012) NAZTN\REE) 07 N/A iR N/A iR N/A T 0
Mr. Stephen William FROSTICK Stephen William FROSTICKZE & 10/18 N/A T A N/A i A N/A RNE R 2/2
Non-Executive Director FUTES
Professor LIU Guoshun 2B B 118 N/A NER N/A TNEF N/A RNEF 0/2
Independent BUFHTES

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. SOUSA Richard Alvaro BHLE 14/18 4/4 11 11 0/2
Mr. LEE Chi Hwa Joshua FRELE 15/18 4/4 111 1/1 0/2
Mr. Zhao Zhizheng (appointed on ~~ BEELE (R-Z——F

27 July 2012) tAZTtHEZA) 217 2/3 0N N/A T 0N

Ms. Chan Mei Bo Mabel resigned ~ B*XZx+ (R-F—=F

on 27 April 2012) MAZ+LEEE) 01 N/A TNER N/A TNER N/A T E R N/A T
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDENCE RECORD AT MEETINGS
(Continued,)

Code provision E.1.2 of the Code specifies that the chairman of the
Board should attend the AGM. Ms. Jingguan Yingzi, the chairman
of the Board had been heavily involved in the business operations
of the Group and was unable to attend the AGM. Mr. Wong Man
Hung Patrick, an executive Director, had taken the chair of the AGM
2012 thereat to be available to answer question to ensure effective
communication with the shareholders of the Company.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meeting
with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence
of executive Directors during the year.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for
inspection by the Directors.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Directors are aware of their individuals and collective
responsibilities to the shareholders for the success and wellbeing of
the Company. To strengthen the effectiveness of the management,
the Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee to oversee corresponding aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company have defined written
terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company had established an audit committee on 20 March
2001. In order to comply with the revised Code the terms of
reference of the audit committee was revised on 29 March 2012.
The formation of the audit committee with written terms of reference
is in compliance with Rules 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The
primary duties of the audit committee are (a) to review the Group’s
annual reports, interim reports and quarterly reports; (b) to discuss
and review with the auditors of the Company on the scope and
findings of the audit; and (c) to supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control procedures of the Group.

The audit committee comprises three members, namely, Mr. Sousa
Richard Alvaro, Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua and Mr. Zhao Zhizheng.
All of them are independent non-executive Directors. The chairman
of the audit committee is Mr. Sousa Richard Alvaro. The Group’s
unaudited quarterly and interim results and audited annual results
and consolidated financial statements during the year ended 31
March 2013 have been reviewed by the audit committee, which
is of opinion that the preparation of such results complied with
the applicable accounting standards and requirements and that
adequate disclosure have been made.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

In view of the Alleged Non-compliance 2010, the audit committee
has further reviewed the adequacy of resources deployed in
compliance issues and the qualifications and experience of the
Company’s financial reporting team and their continue professional
development.

The audit committee held four meetings during the Year. Details
of the attendance of the audit committee meetings as prescribed
aforesaid.

During the year under review, the audit committee had undertaken
the following duties:

1. Reviewed and discussed the Company’s financial information
package for the year ended 31 March 2013 for approval;

2. Reviewed and discussed the Company’s financial information
package for the period ended 30 June 2012, 30 September
2012 and 31 December 2012 for approval;

3. Reviewed the quarterly, interim and annual financial
statements prior to recommending them to the Board for
approval;

4. Reviewed and discussed with the management and auditors

of the Company the accounting policies and practices which
may affect the Group and financial reporting matters;

5. Reviewed and discussed the appointment of the external
auditor and make recommendations to the Board for
approval and approved the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;

0. Reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of finance team of the Company and their training
programmes and budget; and

7. Engaged an international accounting firm to conduct a review
on the internal control system and assess the adequacy of
relevant procedures.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee was established with specific written
terms of reference in accordance with the relevant provisions
of the GEM Listing Rules, and it is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure in relation to remuneration of the Directors and senior
management. It schedules to meet at least once a year to review
and determine the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and senior management and to make recommendation
to the Board of the remuneration of Non-executive Director. In
determining and approving the remuneration of Directors and
senior management, the remuneration committee will take into
consideration of various factors such as market competitiveness,
individual performance and profitability of the Company and with
reference to the written term of reference pursuant to the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in the requirements under rules 5.34
and 5.35 to the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the remuneration committee
convened one meeting to review the remuneration policy and terms
of services of the executive Directors for the year ended 31 March
2013.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established by the Company on
29 March 2012 with written terms of reference in accordance with
the relevant provisions of the GEM Listing Rules. Ms. Jingguan
Yingzi was appointed as the chairman of the nomination committee
and other members include Mr. Sousa Richard Alvaro, Mr. Lee Chi
Hwa Joshua and Mr. Zhao Zhizheng who was nominated as the
member of nomination committee on 26 July 2012 to replace Ms.
Chan Mei Bo Mabel who resigned on 27 April 2012. The nomination
committee has the authority and duties as set out in the nomination
committee terms of reference.

During the year under review, the nomination committee has
convened one meeting for the nomination of Mr. Zhao Zhizheng
as an independent non-executive Director of for the year ended
31 March 2013. The nomination committee recommended and
the Board approved the appointment of Mr. Zhao Zhizheng as an
independent non-executive Director with effective from 26 July
2012.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of GEM Listing Rules, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
company secretary reports from time to time the latest changes and
development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices
and other regulatory regime to the Directors with written materials,
on the professional knowledge and latest development of regulatory
requirements related to director’s duties and responsibilities. Up
to the date of this report, except Mr. Shan Xiaochang, Mr. Feng
Xiaoping who has resigned on 28 September 2012 and Ms. Chan
Mei Bo Mabel who has resigned on 27 April 2012, all other directors
have participated in continuous professional development by
reading in-house training handbook, relevant materials or attending
training seminar on the topics related to corporate governance and
regulations as follows:
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Name of Directors EEHSE In house briefing Seminar(s)
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Executive Directors HITES
Ms. JINGQUAN Yingzi (Chairman) HREBEH LT (£E) v v
Mr. WONG Man Hung Patrick F A v -
Mr. SHAN Xiaochang BEELAE - -
Mr. WU Zhongxin RPDEE v -
Mr. FENG Xiaoping (resigned on HNFERE(RZE—ZF
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Mr. Stephen William FROSTICK Stephen William FROSTICK
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Non-Executive Director FBITES
Professor LIU Guoshun 25 1B 2 % v -
Independent Non-Executive BYFHITESE

Directors
Mr. SOUSA Richard Alvaro BB v v
Mr. LEE Chi Hwa Joshua FEERYE 4 v
Mr. ZHAO Zhizheng (appointed on  BEELE (RZZT——F

27 July 2012) J:H—+tm%§1£) v -
Ms. CHAN Mei Bo Mabel (resigned BEZBZ+ (R -_T——4F
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
(Continued,)

All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous
professional development and are committed to participating any
suitable training or reading relevant materials in order to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

During the period under review, the Company continued to adopt
a code of conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions on
terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings as
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied
with such code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors for the year ended 31 March 2013.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group. It has
carried out an annual review of the existing implemented system
and procedures, including control measures of financial, operational
and legal compliance and risk management functions of the Group.
During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Board has reviewed
of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system and
considered that it is adequate and effective. In light of the Alleged
Non-compliance 2010, the Board has also strengthened the internal
control procedures, resources deployed and has appointed an
independent accounting firm to review and assess the internal
control system and procedures of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial
statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the
timely publication of the financial statements of the Group. The
Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information
and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the Independent Auditors Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the remuneration paid
and payable to the auditors, in respect of the audit and non-
audit services to the Group were approximately HK$0.95 million
(2012: HK$1.3 million) and HK$1.05 million (2012: 1.40 million)
respectively.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The disclosure of the Group’s information in a reasonable and time
manner by the Board is to facilitate the shareholders as well as the
investors to have better understanding in relation to the business
performance, operations and strategies of the Group. Through our
website which allow the Company’s potential and existing investors
as well as the public to assess and acquire the up-to-date company
and financial information.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the shareholders,
the investors and the public are as follows:

° Delivery of the annual, interim and quarterly reports;

° Publication of announcements on the annual, interim and
quarterly results on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company’s website, and issue of other announcements
and notices, and shareholders’ circulars in accordance with
the continuing disclosure obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the
Chairman on board governance matters, and is responsible for
ensuring that Board procedures are followed and for facilitating
communications among Directors as well as with Shareholders and
management.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERHRSE

COMPANY SECRETARY (Continued)

Mr. LI Kwok Fat (“Mr. Li") was appointed as the Company Secretary
on 5 October 2012 to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of Mr. CHOW Kim Hang on the same date. Mr. Li joined
the Company on 25 September 2012 as the Financial Controller.
During the year, Mr. Li undertook over 15 hours of professional
training pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules 5.15 to update his skills
and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, extraordinary
general mestings (the “EGM”) of the Company shall be convened
on the requisition of any one or more shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company. Such shareholders shall have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of
the Company, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and the
EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s), as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary of the Company at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong, specifying the
shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her contact details
and the proposal he/she intends to put forward at general meeting
regarding any specified transaction/business and its supporting
documents.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)
Making Enquiry to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests, either by post,
by facsimiles or by email, together with his/her contact details, such
as postal address, email or fax, addressing to the Board of the
Company at the following address or facsimile number or via email:

Rooms 1120-26, 11/F., Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 3583-5683

Email: info@code-hk.com

All enquiries shall first be collected by the Company Secretary who
shall report to the executive Directors periodically. The executive
Directors shall review the enquiries and collect answers from
relevant department. The executive Directors will reply the enquiries
directly or authorise the Company Secretary to reply enquiries in
writing.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition or enquiry to the
above address and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholder original duly
signed written requisition or enquiry be disclosed as required by law.

Investor Relations

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency
is a key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a
policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate information to
its shareholders and investment public. The Company updates
its shareholders on its latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual, interim and quarterly reports. The
corporate website of the Company (http://www.code-hk.com) has
provided an effective communication platform to the public and
the shareholders. During the review period, there had been no
significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZE AR S

To the shareholders of Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Code
Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 56 to
219, which comprise the consolidated and company statements
of financial position as at 31 March 2013, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 March 2013, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Andrew David Ross
Practising certificate number PO1183

Hong Kong, 8 October 2013
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEEZERER

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

2013 2012
—2—-= —E—_F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Turnover EEH 8 734,660 663,896
Cost of sales and services $HE & AR 75 AR 2N (500,549) (434,513)
Gross profit E A 234,111 229,383
Other revenue H At A 9 23,904 20,435
Distribution costs Pal =] D N (127,217) (78,538)
Administrative expenses THER (135,450) (137,423)
(Loss)/Profit from operations g (BR),a (4,652) 33,857
Other (losses)/gains Hi (B518) s 10 (125,410) 99,984
Finance costs B & B A 1 (22,914) (21,361)
Share of results of associates Pax (il NG E 23 (681) 611
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEFAR 2 W= 40 - 1,760
Loss on deconsolidation BRILERF AR 41
of subsidiaries REYREE - (2,779)
Impairment loss on goodwill EEBEEE 20 (8,495) -
Impairment losses HEtEEEERERE 21
on other intangible assets (135,396) (77,174)
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BRETISHEAT (E518) = 12 (297,548) 34,898
Income tax credit FrigHiEa 15 44,954 17,961
(Loss)/Profit for the year FE (BB B5H (252,594) 52,859
(Loss)/Profit attributable to: T ALTEWN (BE)
A
Owners of the Company ViN/NETE ¥ =N (248,806) 50,463
Non-controlling interests JEIE R = (3,788) 2,396
(252,594) 52,859
HK cents HK cents
AL 7L
(Loss)/Earnings per share BR (BE) &R
- Basic and Diluted — EARREE 17 (9.17) 1.86
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
mEZTHEW SR

For the year ended 31 March 2013 HZEZEZZE—=F=HA=+—HILFE

2013 2012
—E-—=F —E——F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FERT FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Other comprehensive income REEFEEHM2EKE
for the year, including (BREEHFIEAE) .
reclassification adjustments,
net of tax:
Exchange differences on translating BMEBINEBEEZ
foreign operations ME =58 (741) 30,352
Reclassification adjustments relating FRHEFINERZ
to foreign operations disposed of EFOERAE
during the year - 46
(741) 30,398
Total comprehensive income FEEZHEWZETE
for the year (253,335) 83,257
Total comprehensive income DTATEMLAEZE
attributable to: Y 5 48 5
Owners of the Company ViN/NETE ¥ =N (249,503) 80,987
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR i 5 (3,832) 2,270
(253,335) 83,257
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e ISR R &R

As at 31 March 2013 RZ-Z—=%=-HA=+—H

At At At
31 March 2013 | 31 March 2012 1 April 2011
R=B-=% | RZ2F-ZF RZT_—%
ZA=+-B | =A=t—H mA—A
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 TER TET TEL
(Restated) (Restated)
(27) (Z3)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VER S 18 71,746 83,516 92,217
Prepaid land lease payments BT AEHE 19 10,727 11,000 10,866
Goodwil Péﬁ% i 20 5,069 13,564 14,104
Other intangible assets H &R ﬁé 21 173,463 374,733 500,796
Interests in associates ﬁﬁ NGl £ 23 - 16,531 =
Deferred tax assets ERERIBEE 33 3,399 7,835 4,260
264,404 507,179 622,243
Current assets REEE
Inventories 7E 24 106,899 67,910 64,745
Trade and bills receivables FEH&EETA&J* e 25 363,120 442 635 462,152
Prepayments, other receivables and deposits BAR IE H YRR
ke 26 310,192 245,942 138,057
Amounts due from customers for contracts works EH&HF' K TIEFA - - 5,992
Amounts due from related companies NG B 27 20,705 3,511 14,286
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ﬁ”‘%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁé&?ﬁﬁﬁiﬁz
- = 822
Pledged deposits EERER 28 181,237 260,222 231,372
Cash and cash equivalents ReLFEEED 28 11,313 160,755 47,491
- 993,466 1,180,975 964,917
Assets held for sale BEHERE 29 - 129,161 130,764
993,466 1,310,136 1,095,681
Current liabilities TEEE
Trade and bills payables ERERRENER 30 96,331 62,236 210,141
Other payables and accruals HiENFERESER 31 50,688 67,458 56,461
Amount due to a non-controling B FRAR—BIFERBR
shareholder of a subsidiary FE 31 1,129 1,522 1,807
Amount due to a director ERN-ZEEHR 31 5,541 5,186 6,013
Borrowings e 32 502,811 747,004 407,111
Deferred income BT A - = 583
Tax payable B RIE 2,143 3,963 3,357
658,643 887,369 685,473
Net current assets BFREEE 334,823 422,767 410,208
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAR 599,227 929,946 1,032,451
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e RN R

RZE—=F=ZA=+—H

As at 31 March 2013

At At At
31 March 2013 | 31 March 2012 1 April 2011
R-E-=Z%F | RZZ—=F R=ZT——F
=ZR=+-B | ZA=+—H MA—H
Note HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
P & TR FHT FHT
(Restated) (Restated)
(E3) (Z351)

Non-current liabilities FrRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities ELFIBRE 33 36,120 94,341 117,565
Convertible bond AR ES 34 756,961 791,992 928,573
793,081 886,333 1,046,138
Net (liabilities)/assets F(8E)BE (193,854) 43,613 (13,687)

EQUITY E#R

Share capital AR 89 27,138 27,138 27,138
Reserves e 37 (222,782) 16,972 (68,582)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR HEEANELER (195,644) 44,110 (41,444)
Non-controlling interests JEEiER 38 1,790 (497) 27,757
(Capital deficiency)/Total equity (RAE4H) A (193,854) 43,613 (13,687)

The financial statements on pages 56 to 219 were approved by the
Board of Directors of the Company on 8 October 2013 and were

signed on its behalf.

Jingquan Yingzi
HRBER
Director

EF

The notes on pages 67 to 219 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position

B 5 AR R &

As at 31 March 2013 R —

T-=#=A=+—H

At At At
31 March 2013 | 31 March 2012 1 April 2011
R-B-ZF | A2 RZIT—4%
ZA=+-B | =A=1+—H MA—H
Note HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
k3 TER AT FTET
(Restated) (Restated)
(851) (Z3)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEKER
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries FREIRE 22 - = =
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, other receivables and deposits BRFIE - E b E MR
RiE® 26 1,093 1,124 1,374
Amounts due from subsidiaries BT AR 22 822,612 822,588 892,102
Cash and cash equivalents ReERFEEED 28 1,304 115 7,343
825,009 823,827 900,819
Current liabilities nEEE
Other payables and accruals HiEN B REER 31 4,548 2,560 908
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR a/NGIE ] 22 178,251 = =
Amount due to a director B —%EEHE - - 5,000
182,799 2,560 5,908
Net current assets BREEE 642,210 821,267 894,911
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAR 642,210 821,267 894,911
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Statement of Financial Position
B 7% AR O 3R

As at 31 March 2013 RZ-ZZE—=F=/A=+—H
At At At
31 March 2013 | 31 March 2012 1 April 2011
R-ZB-=% | 25— R=-T——F
ZA=+-B | ZA=1+—H mA—H
Note HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 TER AT AT
(Restated) (Restated)
(E3) (Z3)
Non-current liability FrReaE
Convertible bond AR ES 34 756,961 791,992 928,573
Net (liabilities)/Net assets F(8fE)/FEE (114,751) 29,275 (33,662)
EQUITY B
Share capital R 35 27,138 27,138 27,138
Reserves s 37 (141,889) 2,137 (60,800)
(Capital deficiency)/Total equity (RAE4) ags (114,751) 29,275 (33,662)

The financial statements on pages 56 to 219 were approved by the
Board of Directors of the Company on 8 October 2013 and were

signed on its behalf.

Jingquan Yingzi

HREK
Director

EF

The notes on pages 67 to 219 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HMEERESEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAAEENER
Share Convertible Non-
Share Share  Accumulated Merger Statutory option Exchange bond Sub-  controlling
capital premium losses reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve total interests Total
TRR
B& REHER RitER ARG EERE  BRERE Eiff  ®ERG M FERER EES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TERT TERT TART TART TAL TAL TER TER
(note a) (note b)
(Hiita) (HizEb)
At 1 April 2011, R-2——FMA-R-
as previously reported MERZH 27,138 1,066,184 (861,808) (197) 26,062 9,774 20,772 427,825 705,750 27,757 733,507
Correction of prior years’ errors RTIELBAEE
with respect to: REBLE:
Initial recognition and subsequent R =Z—TERHH
measurements of assets acquired £ AHFHMEEER
and liabilties assumed in a business ~ FiZ& &8 B NS ERR
combination in 2010 (note 4(a) Hk:2 (Kitda) - - (333,393) - (16,097) - 30,121 (427825) (747,194 - (747,194)
Timing of recognising share option RRBER 2 2 HE
expenses (note 4(o)) (F3ta()) - - 5875 - - (5,875) - - - - -
At 1 April 2011, as restated W=F——%5mA—A" 8| 27,138 1,056,184 (1,189,326 (197) 9,965 3,899 50,893 - (41,444) 21,757 (13,687)
Profit for the year (as restated) EREH (B31) - - 50,463 - - - - - 50,463 2,396 52,859
Other comprehensive income FEEMRENE
for the year - - - - - - 30,524 - 30,524 (126) 30,398
Total comprehensive income FEXANEEE
for the year - - 50,463 - - - 30,524 - 80,987 2,210 883,257
Share option scheme (note 36) FRRR#EH 1 (Fiikss)
- Value of services -RiEE - - - - - 4,567 - - 4,567 - 4,567
~ Forfeited during the year - ERRk - - 412 - - 412) - - - - -
Released on disposal of subsidiaries 7t & F 2 & Rk
(note 40) (Hi340) = = = = = = = = - 0479 ©.478)
Released on deconsolidation of REHERTRARA
subsidiaries (note 41) JIBREs RS (Hiziat) - - - - - - - - - (21,046) (21,046)
Transfer to reserve BREREE - - (6,952) - 6,952 - - - - - -
At 31 March 2012, as restated RZF-—F=f=1-H"
&jl| 27,138 1,056,184*  (1,145,403)" (197 16,917 8,054* 81,417 - 44110 (497) 43613
At 31 March 2012, R=E-—%=A=+-8"
as previously reported WERZR
Correction of prior years’ erors with 5 FA{EHBEFE
respect to: REBE: 27,138 1,056,184 (903,138) (197) 33,014 9,499 36,433 427,825 686,758 (497) 686,261
Initial recognition and subsequent  #HR=ZF-TERHKH
measurements of assets acquied  EHAGRAMBEEAER
and liabilties assumed in a business ~ Fi7& & AN S B#AR
combination in 2010 (note 4(a) R R () = - T - (16,097) - woss (785 (642649 - (642649
Timing of recognising share option AR R HERT & 2 B
expenses (note 4 (b)) (FitsE4 (b)) - - 1,445 - - (1,445) - - - - -
At 31 March 2012, as restated RZE-Z%=fA=t-H"
2] 27,138 1,056,184 (1,145,409) (197) 16,917 8,054 81,417 = 44110 (497) 43,613
Loss for the year FEFR = = (248,806) = = = = = (248,806) (3,788) (252,594)
Other comprehensive income FREMZERE
for the year = = = = = = (697) = (697) (44) (741)
Total comprehensive income FERANEEE
for the year = - (248808) o o o (697) - (249509 3832  (2533%)
Share option scheme (note 36) R El (iste)
- Value of services - RiEE - - - - - 9,749 - - 9,749 - 9,749
- Forfeited during the year - ERRK - - 279 - - (279) - - - - -
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 39) &~ F 27 (H5E39) - - - - - - - - - 6,119 6,119
Transfer to reserve BREREE - - (7,430) - 7430 o = = = = =
At31 March 2013 W=8-Z#£ZA=+-R 7,138 1056184 (1,401,360)" (o7 27Tt 1754t 807" - (195644) 1790 (193,854
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Notes

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2013

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
-HK$222,782,000 (2012: HK$16,972,000) in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital of a subsidiary acquired and the
nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange thereof
pursuant to the Group reorganisation on 20 March 2001 as set out in the
prospectus of the Company dated 26 March 2001.

In accordance with relevant regulations prevailing in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), the certain subsidiaries of the Company,
established in the PRC, are required to appropriate no less than 10% of
their net profits to the statutory reserves, until the respective balances
of the fund reach 50% of the respective registered capital. Subject to
certain restrictions as set out in the relevant PRC regulations, these
statutory reserves may be used to offset respective accumulated losses
or for capitalisation as paid-up capital of the subsidiaries.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

REREMNER

For the year ended 31 March 2013

BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILtFE

2013 2012
—E-= —T——F
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B & FBx FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Cash flows from operating activities RETH2HERE
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BRETIS AT (B518) 5 Fl (297,548) 34,898
Adjustments for: BRI B IEFE
Finance costs A& PR 11 22,914 21,361
Interest income FEWA 9 (7,047) (7,272)
Dividend income Bz B4 A 9 - (32)
Share of results of associates ok el /NI ES 23 681 611)
Gain on bargain purchase EAE Al 10, 39 8 -
Gain on disposal of assets HERELEEELZ
held for sale = 10 (35,469) =
Loss on disposal of interests in PEBEANRER L
associates BB 10, 42 1,504 =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEFAT 2= 40 - (1,760)
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries RILERT ARG SR
2 BB 41 - 2,779
Loss on disposal of property, HEMHE HBERZEL
plant and equipment &1 342 19
Change in fair value of financial assets BERRBHER
designated at fair value through profit BRATEREZEME
or loss EZATEEZS) 10 3) 22
Waliver of interest expenses BRI ES ZF S
on convertible bond F X 9 (9,295) (10,730)
Waiver of other payables % bR EL A FE 1< SRR 9 (6,466) —
Expenses recognised in BhoARE 25 4 B 00 DARR D
respect of equity-settled B EEFIERER
share-based payments 53 9,749 4,567
Depreciation and amortisation & R 12 74,884 74,091
Write-off of property, plant and ERN YL €
equipment 12 1,956 -
Impairment loss on assets RIEHEEEZREBE
held for sale 10, 12 - 4,149
Impairment loss on other receivables Hi IR ERE 10, 12 5,000 20,000
Loss on redemption of BOrgREREE
convertible bond 10 44,570 -
Change in fair value of ARRES A TES
convertible bond 10 106,487 (125,851)
Impairment loss on goodwil FHEREEE 12 8,495 =
Impairment losses on other intangible HhEmy EERBEREE
assets 12 135,396 77,174
Impairment losses on property, ERY e
plant and equipment WEEE 10, 12 3,329 1,696
Operating profit before working BEESEHA LKL ER
capital changes 59,471 94,500
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

HEz—Z—

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTMER

=F=ZA=t—HLEFE

2013 2012
—E-=F —T—_F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FET FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Increase in inventories FEEN (38,907) (12,126)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and A E Y L E L
bills receivables A,/ (3ghm) 81,017 (73,488)
Increase in prepayments, other TR - E At U IR
receivables and deposits Rz &M (56,827) (183,624)
Increase in amounts due from customers BN EF AN TRZIA
for contracts works =0 - (17,004)
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from  FEURBEE A A FRIE (1 0)
related companies SR (17,194) 10,775
Decrease/(increase) in amounts FEUWE & R BIFER D/
due from associates (&) 7,048 (7,048)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and ERERRENERE
bills payables #in,/ CRd) 38,806 (114,154)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables Hofth fE A< 3B R BT B A
and accruals CRA) /10 (29,676) 119,838
Decrease in amount due to a e F A Rl — B I RAR
non-controlling shareholder of RRERD
a subsidiary (393) (28,267)
Increase/(decrease) in amount EN—REEZEEN
due to a director CRA) 355 (827)
Net cash generated LEMES/ (FR)A:
from/(used in) operations EEE 43,700 (206,425)
Interest received B & 7,047 7,272
Interest paid EAFE (22,914) (21,361)
Income taxes paid RANITIEC (10,717) (10,950)
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETEEFEE (FFA)
operating activities b 17,116 (231,464)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

REREMNER

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE
2013 2012
—EB-=F —ET——F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B E FERT FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Cash flows from investing activities RETEHHESRE
Purchases of property, BEME HERE
plant and equipment (2,506) (3,863)
Proceeds from disposal of property, TENE BERZEZ
plant and equipment FTiS 5108 59 207
Net cash outflow for acquisition g ﬁ% MIATZES
of a subsidiary B 39 (6,233) —
Net cash inflow from disposal of HEBEARERY
interests in associates BemRAFE 42 7,407 -
Net cash inflow from disposal HEFRRIZEAER
of subsidiaries FRE 40 - 2,813
Net cash inflow from deconsolidation of BILERFRAGE TR
subsidiaries Zfﬁu%/m}\@%ﬁ 41 - 9,845
Dividends received from financial assets BN EREEATE
designated at fair value through profit REZEECREE
or loss iz 8 9 - 32
Purchases of financial assets BEeREE (1,852) (14,633)
Proceeds from disposal HESRMEEZFBHRIA
of financial assets 1,855 15,433
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits BIRBFETOR D, (350) 78,985 (28,850)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REZBFEE (FFA) 2
investing activities REFHE 77,715 (19,016)
Cash flows from financing activity METHZRERE
Net borrowings (repaid)/raised B(ER) EXEEFE (244,193) 354,440
Net cash (used in)/generated from METH (FTA) EEz
financing activity He R (244,193) 354,440
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and 22} % RESZEYZ
cash equivalents A,/ InFEE (149,362) 103,960
Cash and cash equivalents at i?ﬂzfﬁﬁﬁfﬁégfﬁ%
beginning of the year 160,755 47,491
Effects of exchange rate changes, net REGE) AR (80) 9,304
Cash and cash equivalents at FRZASRESEEY
end of the year 11,313 160,755
Analysis of the balances of cash and BEeRBECEBYERZ AN
cash equivalents
Cash at banks and in hand RITRFHERE 11,313 160,755
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

GENERAL INFORMATION

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office
address of the Company is Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and the principal place of
business of the Company is Rooms 1120-26, 11th Floor, Sun
Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set
out in note 22 to the financial statements. The Company
and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”
hereafter. Except for the acquisition of Henan Baorong
Biological Technology Company Limited on 31 October
2012, which is detailed in note 39 to the financial statements,
there were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s operations during the year.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”), (which includes all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”).

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these financial statements
are summarised below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented unless
otherwise stated. The adoption of new/amended
HKFRSs and impact on the Group’'s consolidated
financial statements, if any, are disclosed in note 3.
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Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R Bt & F

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continuea)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments which are measured at
their fair values as explained in the accounting policies
set out below. Assets held for sale are stated at the
lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less
costs to sell as further explained in note 2.10.

It should be noted that accounting estimates
and assumptions are used in preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those
estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial
statements, are disclosed in note 5.

Business combhination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in
which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the date
of acquisition or up to the date of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with those used by other
members of the Group.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

Business comhination and bhasis of
consolidation (Continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted
for using the acquisition method. The cost of an
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the
acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by
the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are principally
measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured at acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or
loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-
transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests
in the subsidiary either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs
incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in
issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are
deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair
value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration
are recognised against goodwill only to the extent
that they arise from new information obtained within
the measurement period (@ maximum of 12 months
from the acquisition date) about the fair value at the
acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments to
contingent consideration classified as an asset or a
liability are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R B & F

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

Business comhination and bhasis of
consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s interest and the non-controlling interest
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interest is
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the
same manner as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount
of non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount
of those interests at initial recognition plus such non-
controlling interest’s share of subsequent changes in
equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to
such non-controlling interests even if this results in
those non-controlling interests have a deficit balance.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

24

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Company is
able to exercise control. Control is achieved where
the Company, directly or indirectly, has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity
S0 as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing
control, potential voting rights that are presently
exercisable are taken into account.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Associates

Associates are those entities over which the Group
is able to exert significant influence, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of voting rights but which are neither subsidiaries
nor investment in a joint venture.

In consolidated financial statements, investment
in associate is initially recognised at cost and
subsequently accounted for using equity method.
Under the equity method, the Group’s interest in
associate is carried at cost and adjusted for the
post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the
associate’s net assets less any identified impairment
loss, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
Profit or loss for the period includes the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
associate for the year, including any impairment loss
on the investment in associate recognised for the
period.
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Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R Bt & F

For the year ended 31 March 2013

Hz—_Z—

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Associates (Continued)

2.5

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
the investments in associates are stated at cost less
provision for impairment losses, if any. The results of
associates are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the
consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency of the individual
entity using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. At the reporting date, monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined and are reported as part of the fair
value gain or loss.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated. In the consolidated financial statements,
all individual financial statements of foreign operations,
originally presented in a currency different from the
Group’s presentation currency, have been converted
into Hong Kong dollars. Assets and liabilities have
been translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing
rates at the reporting date. Income and expenses
have been converted into the Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or
at the average rates over the reporting period provided
that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly.
Any differences arising from this procedure have
been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in the exchange reserve in
equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in foreign exchange reserve.

Other exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity as exchange reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative exchange differences
recognised in the exchange reserve relating to that
operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R Bt & F

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the
excess of the aggregate of consideration transferred
and the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests over the fair value of identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities exceed the fair value of
consideration paid, the excess is recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase on the
acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units (“CGUSs”) that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment at the end
of that financial year. When the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit
pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount to each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in
subsequent periods.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is
classified as held for sales, it is not depreciated and is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current
assets held for sale”. The cost of an asset comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to the working condition and
location for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the income statement during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

Buildings 3%-10%
Leasehold improvements 10% or lease term,
whichever is

the shorter

Plant and machinery 10%-20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%

Motor vehicles 10%-20%
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Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R Bt & F

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (Continuea)

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and
estimated useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value at
the date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis
over their useful lives as follows. The amortisation
expense is recognised in profit or loss and included in
administrative expenses.

Customer relationships 5 years
Club membership 29.5 years
Distribution network 10 years
Technologies 5 years
Non-competition agreements 5 years
License with definite useful lives 4.75 years
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Tradename, patents and license rights with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.

Tradename acquired in a business combination is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The
fair value is based on the discounted estimated royalty
payments that are expected to be avoided as a
result of the tradename being owned. The tradename
arising from the acquisition of Jiangsu Kedi Group
have indefinite useful lives and are carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. Tradename is
reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment.

Patents and license rights are measured initially at fair
value upon business combination and are assessed to
have indefinite useful lives. No amortisation is charged
to profit or loss. Useful lives are reviewed during
each reporting period to determine whether events
and circumstances continue to support an indefinite
useful life assessment. If they do not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the intangible asset and are recognised
in the profit or loss when the intangible asset is
derecognised.
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Notes to the financial statements

R ESE

For the year ended 31 March 2013
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Financial Instruments

(i)

Financial assets

The Group’s accounting policies for financial
assets other than investments in subsidiaries
and associates are set out below. The Group’s
financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables and financial assets designated at
fair value through profit or loss. Management
determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition depending on the
purpose for which the financial assets were
acquired and where allowed and appropriate,
re-evaluates this designation at every reporting
date.

A financial asset is recognised when, and
only when, the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Regular way purchases of financial assets
are recognised on trade date. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value, plus, in the case of
investments not at fair value through profit or
loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

A financial asset is classified as held for trading
if it is acquired for the purpose of selling in the
near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments.

Subsequent to initial recognition, a financial
asset designated at fair value through profit or
loss are measured at fair value, with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise. Fair value is
determined by reference to active market
transactions or using a valuation technique
where no active market exists. Fair value gain
or loss does not include any dividend or interest
earned on these financial assets. Dividend and
interest income is recognised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies in note
2.14,
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Notes to the financial statements

R ESE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESTHTHEBE2)

POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial Instruments (Continued) 29 €®mIA#)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. These are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using effective interest method,
less any impairment losses. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and includes fees
that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate and transaction cost. Gain and losses
recognised in profit or loss when the loans and
receivables are derecognised or impaired, as
well as through the amortisation process.

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, financial assets
other than at fair value through profit or loss
are reviewed to determine whether there is
any objective evidence of impairment and
impairment is recognised based on the
classification of the financial asset.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

R ESE

BE_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

2. FESTHERME#)

29 €®mIA#)

Objective evidence of impairment of an
individual financial asset includes observable
data that comes to the attention of the Group
about one or more of the following loss events:

(i)

Significant financial difficulty of the
debtors;

A breach of contract, such as a default
of delinquency in interest for principal
payments;

It becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

Significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the
debtors; and

A significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.
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Notes to the financial statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESTHTHEBE2)

POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial Instruments (Continued) 29 €®mIA#)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Loss events in respect of a group of financial
assets include observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows from the group of financial
assets. Such observable data includes but
not limited to adverse changes in the payment
status of debtors in the group and, national or
local economic conditions that correlate with
defaults on the assets in the group, and the
failure to renegotiate the repayment terms of
loans and receivables that would otherwise be
past due or impaired.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment
loss on loans and receivables carried at
amortised cost has been incurred, the amount
of loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). The
amount of loss is recognised in profit or loss of
the year in which the impairment occurs.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
(Continued)

If, in subsequent period, the amount of
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed to the extent that it does not result
in a carrying amount of the financial asset
exceeding what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised
at the date the impairment is reversed. The
amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or
loss of the year in which the reversal occurs.

Financial assets other than financial assets
designated at fair value through profit or loss
and loans and receivables that are stated at
amortised cost, impairment losses are written
off against the corresponding assets directly.
Where the recovery of loans and receivables is
considered doubtful but not remote, impairment
losses for doubtful receivables are recorded
using an allowance account. When the Group is
satisfied that recovery of loans and receivables
is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable
is written off against loans and receivables
directly and any amounts held in the allowance
account in respect of that receivable are
reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account.
Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off directly are recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the financial statements

R ESE

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILFE

POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial liabilities (i)
The Group classify its financial liabilities
depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities are incurred. The Group’s financial
liabilities include trade and other payables and
borrowings.

They are included in statement of financial
position as trade and bills payables, other
payables and accruals, amount due to a non-
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary, amount
due to a director, borrowings and amount due
to a subsidiary. They are recognised initially at
fair value, net of transaction costs incurred,
and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

A financial liability is recognised when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. All related finance
costs are recognised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies in note 2.15.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently stated at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in profit or loss over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Borrowings (Continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the reporting date.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised
initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Convertible bond

The convertible bond issued by the Group
includes a liability component, a conversion
option and a redemption option. The conversion
option that will not be settled by the exchange
of a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number
of the Company’s own equity instruments is
treated as a derivative. Derivatives embedded
in a financial instrument are treated as separate
derivatives when their economic risks and
characteristics are not closely related to those
of the host contract (the liability component)
and the host contract is not carried at fair value
through profit or loss.

The convertible bond (including the liability
component, the conversion option and the
redemption option) as a whole is designated
as a financial liability at fair value through profit
or loss on initial recognition. In subsequent
periods, the entire convertible bond is
measured at fair value, with changes in fair
value recognised directly in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESTHERE (#)
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial Instruments (Continued) 29 &I A (#)

(iii)  Convertible bond (Continued) (i) W]REKRES (&)

(iv)

(v)

Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issue of the convertible bond designated
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through the
expected life of the financial asset or liability, or
where appropriate, a shorter period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKAS 39.

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires. Where an
existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

(iv)

(v)
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Notes to the financial statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

FTESHBERE (&)

29 @I A#)

(v) Derecognition (Continued)

Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a financial
liability in whole or in part as a result of
renegotiating the terms of that liability, the
equity instruments issued are the consideration
paid and are recognised initially and measured
at their fair value on the date the financial
liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair
value of the equity instruments issued cannot
be reliably measured, the equity instruments are
measured to reflect the fair value of the financial
liability extinguished. The difference between
the carrying amount of the financial liability or
part thereof extinguished and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

2.10 Non-current assets and disposal groups held

for sale

A non-current asset and disposal group are classified
as held for sale if its carrying amounts will be
recovered principally through a sales transaction rather
than through continuing use. For this to be the case,
the asset or disposal group must be available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only
to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of
such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be
highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary
classified as a disposal group are reclassified as held
for sale regardless of whether the Group retains a
non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after
the sale.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

2.

Hz—Z—

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10

2.11

2.12

2.13

Non-current assets and disposal groups held
for sale (Continued)

A non-current asset and disposal group (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of its carrying
amount and fair values less costs to sell. Property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets classified as
held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, which are not
restricted as to use.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of subsidiary, other
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment,
prepaid land lease payments under operating leases,
non-current portion of deposits and interests in
subsidiaries and associates are subject to impairment
testing.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite
useful life or those not yet available for use are
tested for impairment at least annually, irrespective of
whether there is any indication that they are impaired.
All other assets are tested for impairment whenever
there are indications that the asset’s carrying amount
may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs to sell, and
value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessment of time value of money and the
risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, when
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit (“CGU”)).
As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at the CGU level.

Goodwill, in particular, is allocated to those CGUs that
are expected to benefit from synergies of the related
business combination and represent the lowest level
within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purpose.

Impairment losses recognised for a CGU, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially
to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining
impairment loss is charged pro-rata to the other
assets in the CGU, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less cost to sell, or value-in-use, if determinable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)
2.13

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continuea)

2.14

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods. In respect of other assets,
an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Revenue is
reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and
other similar allowances. Revenue is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and when the revenue can be measured
reliably, on the following bases:

2.14.1 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised
when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group retains
neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the goods sold. This is usually
taken as the time when the goods are delivered
and the customer has accepted the goods;

2.14.2 Revenue from the provision of services is
recognised when the services are rendered;

2.14.3 Dividend income from investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment
has been established (provided that it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of income can be
measured reliably);
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Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R Bt & F

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. XESTTHERBE®

POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Revenue recognition (Continued) 214 WATRR (&)

2.14.4 Interest income from a financial asset is

recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of income can be measured
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly

2.14.4 B EF SR AIEER
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it MERMNEXSNE

discounts estimated future cash receipts RERNFERESMEE

through the expected life of the financial asset Z TEHAR] A& A AT

to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial RN WA LEMEITIR

recognition; EREEZEEFEZ
b .

2.14.5 The Group’s accounting policy for recognition

2.14.5 7N 5% B BE FE SRR T 47

of revenue from government grants is M WAZ EFTERE

described in the accounting policy under BT FE2.182 [ AT 7

“Government grants” in note 2.18. & SETBURAF -
2.14.6 Construction contracts 2146 EXAER

Where the outcome of a construction contract
can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs
are recognised by reference to the stage of

R AR ERESN
A] S fA AT WA X
RAlEREZHRARA

completion of the contract activity at the end of [5))& &) 2 Te R & BR T BA
the reporting period, measured based on the MR WRITIREETE
proportion of contract costs incurred for work ZBERELZARMA
performed to date relative to the estimated total HfEETRERKA 2T
contract costs, except where this would not BlErE TR KT
be representative of the stage of completion. PRIEERERIN-ERT
Variations in contract work, claims and BeeH RERRES
incentive payments are included to the extent FIRER S FERET] SEH
that the amount can be measured reliably and =R R AR AR R

its receipt is considered probable.
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Notes to the financial statements

R ESE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Revenue recognition (Continuead)

2.14.6 Construction contracts (Continued)

Where the outcome of a construction contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue
is recognised to the extent of contract costs
incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.
Contract costs are recognised as expenses in
the period in which they are incurred. When it
is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognised as an expense immediately. Where
contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress
billings, the surplus is shown as amounts
due from customers for contract work. For
contracts where progress billings exceed
contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
shown as the amounts due to customers for
contract work. Amounts received before the
related works is performed are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position,
as a liability, as advances received. Amounts
billed for work performed but not yet paid by
the customer are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position under trade and
other receivables.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15

2.16

Finance costs

Finance costs incurred for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is required to
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. A
qualifying asset is an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed as
incurred.

Finance costs are capitalised as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale are being undertaken.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
complete.

Income taxes

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to
the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax
assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of
income tax expense in profit or loss.

it BEZERBERDT o

HE—

BB AR M AL

T-=G=A=+—BItFE

2. TESHTHEBE(2)

2.15

2.16

—E-=FFR

BE AR

AR s EEERNEE
REEMELEZBERD &
SERMEHEEFERTERSE
PrEZHRANERL - BER
BENERE BRERKHN
ERERERGIHEZEE-
Hip B ERARE LR RS
ST

EELBEFRN ELFBEMX
ARETREEEEFRTR
BYEHEMBRETZES
AZERERANEGEERL E
RAEBREEZRDKA - E
TRAAREREEZHERE
S E VR 2 PR A B
BERAFLEERNE-

P&

FAFTEMREERH RIRET
I8 o

MRS HEER HEER
BRITICBERE R R
AN ERE AR ARX
MZENETRERER %
FELBIRIEF NER R A
AR R ARE R 2 TR K&
BOARTH - B AEEXR
BB EPNBRRERR
PRSTF 2 — &R 1D °

93



94

Notes to the financial statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16

Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well
as other unused tax credits, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit including existing taxable
temporary differences will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or
loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period the
liability is settled or the asset realised, provided they
are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss, in other comprehensive
income or in equity if they relate to items that are
charged or credited to other comprehensive income or
directly to equity.
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Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R Bt & F

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESTHTHERE (2)
POLICIES (continuea)
2.17 Leasing 217 #HE

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which
they are incurred. In the event that lease incentives
are received to enter into operating leases, such
incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate
benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of
rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of
each element as a finance or an operating lease
separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair
values of the leasehold interests in the land element
and building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.
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Notes to the financial statements
B 7% B R B = F

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17

2.18

2.19

Leasing (Continued)

Leasehold land for own use (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as “prepaid land lease payments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted
for as property, plant and equipment.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received. Government grants are recognised in
profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods
in which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended to
compensate. Specifically, government grants whose
primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount
of the relevant asset in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss
over the useful lives of the related assets. Government
grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable.

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
in Hong Kong and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes in the PRC for the eligible employees are
recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 HZEZEZZE—=F=HA=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESHTHEBE(2)
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued) 219 EERA (&)

Pension schemes (Continued)

The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group in independently administered
funds. When an employee leaves the schemes,
with the exception of the Mandatory Provident Fund
scheme, prior to his/her interest in the Group’s
employer contributions vesting fully, the ongoing
contributions payable by the Group may be reduced
by the relevant amount of any forfeited contributions.
In respect of the Mandatory Provident Fund scheme,
the Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in the PRC are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain amounts for the employees in
the PRC, pursuant to the local municipal government
regulations. The contributions are charged to the profit
or loss, as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the reporting
date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as
sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.

Share-based employee compensation

Details about the accounting policy on share-based
compensation to employee are set out in note 2.20
below.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Share-based payment

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the grant date and
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
based payment reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates during the vesting period,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share-based payment
reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share-based
payment reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share-based
payment reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.

Where the terms and conditions of options are
modified before they vest, the change in the fair value
of the options, measured immediately before and after
the modification, is also recognised in profit or loss
over the remaining vesting period.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

- the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for
use or sale;

— the intention to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

- the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

- how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

— the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible
asset; and

- the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally
generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21

2.22

Research and development expenditure
(Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if
any), on the same basis as intangible assets acquired
separately.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of
the obligation can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot
be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed
as a contingent liability, unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of
the Group are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Related parties

(@)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

)

The entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.
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Notes to the financial statements

R ESE

For the year ended 31 March 2013

Hz—Z—

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

“F=ZA=t—HLEFE

2. FESTHHEME(#)

2.23 Related parties (Continued) 223 BAERL (&)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the (o) ETFE T HIE AR -
following conditions applies: (Continued) AlEREAEEE
()
(v)  One entity is a joint venture of a third (iv) —Fﬁ,\ﬁaﬁ'ﬁ“_
entity and the other entity is an associate FEBZEE
of the third entity. ¥ mE—E ’%E
REZFE= F 4]
pd: A/l
(v The entity is a post-employment benefit V) ZEBAAKHE
plan for the benefit of employees of SHEAEEFH
either the Group or an entity related to BErERMES
the Group. a3 BB
BHEHEl -
(vii  The entity is controlled or jointly (Vi) ZEEX@WNFT
controlled by a person identified in (a). A 4 Bl 5k
HEHES
(vii) A person identified in (a)() has significant (vii) (@) BT B A
influence over the entity or is a member THZERBE
of the key management personnel of the RN BZ
entity (or of a parent of the entity). ER(XZES
ZEBRR)Z=E
EEBREKE -
Close members of the family of a person are those —% /\iZL%EzE?‘a‘EﬁiEZTQ‘-T‘%i%
family members who may be expected to influence, or RSB EZALTHFE
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the PATREZRENE LB
entity and include: 1
0] that person’s children and spouse or domestic 0) ZERATZFHREE
partner; LREBM
(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic iy ZBALZEBHERE
partner; and BT R
(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s (i)  ERBALHEZBALZ
spouse or domestic partner. BRI REZRHFZZE
}\ o
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

3. ADOPTION OF NEW/AMENDED HKFRSs

3.1

Impact of new/amended HKFRSs which are
effective during the year

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the
amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which are
first effective for the reporting year and relevant to
the Group. Except as explained below, the adoption
of these amended HKFRSs did not result in material
changes to the Group’s accounting policies.

Amendments to HKFRS 7 — Disclosures — Transfers
of Financial Assets

The amendments to HKFRS 7 expand the disclosure
requirements for transfer transactions of financial
assets, in particular, where the reporting entity has
continuing involvement in financial assets that it has
derecognised. The newly required disclosures allow
users of financial statements to understand better the
risks to which the reporting entity remains exposed.
This information is relevant in assessing the amount,
timing and uncertainty of the entity’s future cash flows.
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BE-F—=F=A=+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW/AMENDED HKFRSs (Continued)

3.2

Impact of new/amended HKFRSs which are
issued but not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have
been issued, but are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9
(Amendments)

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11

and HKFRS 12
(Amendments)

HKFRS 13

HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27

Annual Improvements 2009-2011
Cycle?

Disclosures - Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities?
Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS
9 and Transition Disclosures*

Financial Instruments*

Consolidated Financial Statements?

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities?

Consolidated Financial Statements,
Joint Arrangements and
Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities:

Transition Guidance?

Fair Value Measurement?

Investment Entities®
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

ADOPTION OF NEW/AMENDED HKFRSs (Continued)

3.2

Impact of new/amended HKFRSs which are
issued but not yet effective (continued)

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Presentation of [tems of Other
Comprehensive Income'
HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)  Employee Benefits?

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)  Separate Financial Statements?

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011)  Investments in Associate and Joint
Ventures?

HKAS 32 (Amendment) Financial Instruments: Presentation
- Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities?

HKAS 36 (Amendment) Recoverable Amount Disclosures
for Non-Financial Assets®

HKIFRIC 21 Levies®

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July

2012

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2014
- Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2015
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

3. ADOPTION OF NEW/AMENDED HKFRSs (Continued)

3.2

Impact of new/amended HKFRSs which are
issued but not yet effective (continued)

The impact of these new/revised HKFRS are illustrated

below:

HKFRSs (Amendments) — Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

The improvements made amendments to certain
standards.

()

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

The amendments clarify that the requirement to
present a third statement of financial position
when an entity applies an accounting policy
retrospectively or makes a retrospective
restatement or reclassification of items in its
financial statements is limited to circumstances
where there is a material effect on the
information in that statement of financial
position. The date of the opening statement
of financial position is the beginning of the
preceding period and not, as at present, the
beginning of the earliest comparative period.
The amendments also clarify that, except
for disclosures required by HKAS 1.41-44
and HKAS 8, the related notes to the third
statement of financial position are not required
to be presented. An entity may present
additional voluntary comparative information
as long as that information is prepared in
accordance with HKFRS. This may include one
or more statements and not a complete set of
financial statements. Related notes are required
for each additional statement presented.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

3. ADOPTION OF NEW/AMENDED HKFRSs (Continued)

3.2

Impact of new/amended HKFRSs which are
issued but not yet effective (continued)

HKFRSs (Amendments) — Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle (Continued)

(i)

(i)

()

HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

The amendments clarify that items such as
spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing
equipment are recognised as property, plant
and equipment when they meet the definition of
property, plant and equipment. Otherwise, such
items are classified as inventory.

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

The amendments clarify that income tax
relating to distributions to holders of an equity
instrument and to transaction costs of an
equity transaction should be accounted for
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes.
Depending on the circumstances these items of
income tax might be recognised in equity, other
comprehensive income or in profit or loss.

HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

The amendments clarifies that in interim
financial statements, a measure of total assets
and liabilities for a particular reportable segment
need to be disclosed when the amounts
are regularly provided to the chief operating
decision maker and there has been a material
change in the total assets and liabilities for that
segment from the amount disclosed in the last
annual financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

3. ADOPTION OF NEW/AMENDED HKFRSs (Continued)

3.2

Impact of new/amended HKFRSs which are
issued but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 (Revised) — Presentation of
I[tems of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS 1 (Revised) require
the Group to separate items presented in other
comprehensive income into those that may be
reclassified to profit and loss in the future (e.g.
revaluations of available-for-sale financial assets) and
those that may not (e.g. revaluations of property, plant
and equipment). Tax on items of other comprehensive
income is allocated and disclosed on the same basis.
The amendments will be applied retrospectively.

Amendments to HKAS 32 - Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

The amendments clarify the offsetting requirements by
adding appliance guidance to HKAS 32 which clarifies
when an entity “currently has a legally enforceable
right to set off” and when a gross settlement
mechanism is considered equivalent to net settlement.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

3. ADOPTION OF NEW/AMENDED HKFRSs (Continued)

3.2

Impact of new/amended HKFRSs which are
issued but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 — Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

HKFRS 7 is amended to introduce disclosures for all
recognised financial instruments that are set off under
HKAS32 and those that are subject to an enforceable
master netting agreement or similar arrangement,
irrespective of whether they are set off under HKAS
32.

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

Under HKFRS 9, financial assets are classified into
financial assets measured at fair value or at amortised
cost depending on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual
cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Fair
value gains or losses will be recognised in profit or
loss except for those non-trade equity investments,
which the entity will have a choice to recognise the
gains and losses in other comprehensive income.
HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification
and measurement requirements for financial liabilities
from HKAS 39, except for financial liabilities that are
designated at fair value through profit or loss, where
the amount of change in fair value attributable to
change in credit risk of that liability is recognised in
other comprehensive income unless that would create
or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In addition,
HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW/AMENDED HKFRSs (Continued)

3.2

Impact of new/amended HKFRSs which are
issued but not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements

HKFRS 10 introduces a single control model for
consolidation of all investee entities. An investor has
control when it has power over the investee (whether
or not that power is used in practice), exposure or
rights to variable returns from the investee and the
ability to use the power over the investee to affect
those returns. HKFRS 10 contains extensive guidance
on the assessment of control. For example, the
standard introduces the concept of “de facto” control
where an investor can control an investee while
holding less than 50% of the investee’s voting rights in
circumstances where its voting interest is of sufficiently
dominant size relative to the size and dispersion
of those of other individual shareholders to give it
power over the investee. Potential voting rights are
considered in the analysis of control only when these
are substantive, i.e. the holder has the practical ability
to exercise them. The standard explicitly requires
an assessment of whether an investor with decision
making rights is acting as principal or agent and also
whether other parties with decision making rights are
acting as agents of the investor. An agent is engaged
to act on behalf of and for the benefit of another
party and therefore does not control the investee
when it exercises its decision making authority. The
implementation of HKFRS 10 may result in changes in
those entities which are regarded as being controlled
by the Group and are therefore consolidated in the
financial statements. The accounting requirements in
the existing HKAS 27 on other consolidation related
matters are carried forward unchanged. HKFRS 10 is
applied retrospectively subject to certain transitional
provisions.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW/AMENDED HKFRSs (Contived) 3. IR#EHET & IETE BB EH
HEER| (#)

3.2

Impact of new/amended HKFRSs which are 3.2
issued but not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 12 — Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

HKFRS 12 integrates and makes consistent
the disclosures requirements about interests in
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements.
It also introduces new disclosure requirements,
including those related to unconsolidated structured
entities. The general objective of the standard is to
enable users of financial statements to evaluate the
nature and risks of a reporting entity’s interests in
other entities and the effects of those interests on the
reporting entity’s financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

3. ADOPTION OF NEW/AMENDED HKFRSs (Continued)

3.2

Impact of new/amended HKFRSs which are
issued but not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement

HKFRS 13 provides a single source of guidance
on how to measure fair value when it is required or
permitted by other standards. The standard applies
to both financial and non-financial items measured
at fair value and introduces a fair value measurement
hierarchy. The definitions of the three levels in this
measurement hierarchy are generally consistent
with HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”.
HKFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date (i.e. an exit price). The
standard removes the requirement to use bid and
ask prices for financial assets and liabilities quoted
in an active market. Rather the price within the bid
ask spread that is most representative of fair value in
the circumstances should be used. It also contains
extensive disclosure requirements to allow users of
the financial statements to assess the methods and
inputs used in measuring fair values and the effects of
fair value measurements on the financial statements.
HKFRS 13 can be adopted early and is applied
prospectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

3. ADOPTION OF NEW/AMENDED HKFRSs (Continued)

3.2

Impact of new/amended HKFRSs which are
issued but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS
27 (2011) - Investment Entities

The amendments apply to a particular class of
businesses that qualify as investment entities. An
investment entity’s business purpose is to invest funds
solely for returns from capital appreciation, investment
income or both. It evaluates the performance of its
investments on a fair value basis. Investment entities
could include private equity organisations, venture
capital organisations, pension funds and investment
funds.

The amendments provide an exception to the
consolidation requirements in HKFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements and require investment entities
to measure particular subsidiaries at fair value through
profit or loss rather than to consolidate them. The
amendments also set out the disclosure requirements
for investment entities. The amendments are
applied retrospectively subject to certain transitional
provisions.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the potential impact of these new/revised HKFRSs
but are not yet in a position to state whether they
could have material financial impact on the Group’s
results and financial position.
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4.

RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS

In preparing the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group has identified
certain errors in its consolidated financial statements for the
years ended 31 March 2012, 2011 and 2010. A detailed
description of the nature of each prior years’ error is provided
in notes 4(a) to 4(e) below. The amounts of the prior years’
correction for each financial statement line item affected are
presented in the tables in note 4(f)(l) to note 4(f)(VI) below.

(a)

Initial recognition and subsequent
measurements of assets acquired and
liahilities assumed in a business combination
completed in 2010

On 30 November 2009, the Company entered
into an agreement with Cyberland (China) Limited
(“Cyberland”) to acquire the entire equity interest
in Kang Yuan Universal Investment Limited and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Kang Yuan
Group”) at a consideration of HK$1,398,000,000,
comprising a cash consideration of HK$300,000,000
and a convertible bond issued by the Company with
a face value of HK$1,098,000,000 (the “Acquisition”).
The Acquisition was completed on 1 February 2010.

In the preparation of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, the management has come to
aware that certain errors relating to the applicable
accounting standards, including that: (1) the previous-
mentioned business combination were not accounted
for in accordance with the HKFRS 3 - Business
Combination; (2) the subsequent measurement of net
identifiable assets acquired in the Acquisition did not
fully comply with the HKAS 36 — Impairment of Assets;
and (3) the initial and subsequent measurement of the
convertible bond did not fully comply with HKAS 32
— Financial Instruments: Presentation and HKAS 39 —
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
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4. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF 4. FEEEBFEERE=EME?Y
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (continued) (#)
(a) Initial recognition and subsequent (a)

measurements of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in a business combination
completed in 2010 (Continued)

In this regard, the management has appointed an
independent valuer to remeasure the valuation of
purchase price allocation for the Acquisition and the
valuation of the convertible bond. A summary of the
effects of the errors is set out below:

(i) Identification of intangible assets arising from
the Acquisition

In the previous valuation, there was only one
intangible asset — “technologies” was identified
on the Acquisition. The following intangible
assets in addition to the previously reported
“technologies” were identified after having re-
performed valuation:

tradename (with indefinite useful lives);

- patents and license rights (with indefinite

useful lives);

- non-competition agreements;

- customer relationships; and

distribution network.

Adjustments and restatements have been
made to recognise these additional intangible
assets.
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4. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent
measurements of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in a business combination
completed in 2010 (Continued)

(a)

(ii)

(iii)

Valuation of property, plant and equipment

The fair value of the property, plant and
equipment as at the Acquisition date was re-
measured and properly adjusted and, while
their carrying amounts for each subsequent
reporting period were also re-measured.

Convertible bond issued for the Acquisition

The convertible bond was issued as part of the
consideration for the Acquisition. Previously,
the convertible bond was regarded to have
complied the “fixed for fixed” criteria of the
relevant accounting standards. And this financial
instrument was treated as to comprise of a
liability component and an equity component.
However, it was subsequently noted that
there was an embedded call option which
was inappropriately included in the equity
component. After revisiting the terms and
conditions of the convertible bond, the “fixed for
fixed” criteria was determined to be violated and
so, the entire convertible bond was designated
as a financial liability through profit or loss
on previous initial recognition. Appropriate
adjustments have been made for the necessary
rectification.

BE-F—=F=A=+—HILFE

REEBEFEREMES

(&)

(a)

BR-E-—FEERZ
(R efthmkEBEE
NEEREEBEZIHE
RAREEFE (@)

(ii)

(iii)

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited ¢ Annual Report 2013

M HBERRE 2
=]

W IR M RER
BEHEBAZzATEEE
ENENEERHE
MR & E & HREHHE -

HIREEN D EEHT
2.

RUBIBFIRBIT 2 A
IR & 2

AR ES D BITIES
WHEEH 2 BB
ST R AR AR E RS
RAEAEREEEZ
[BEEREE|F%E B
HEEMTARRRE
BEEA D RERH
0o X1 - E 1R 33
ARRERREY ES
AEARESEED - REFH
AR AR AR (B 25 2 15K
KA1 TE TR E
EIBEBERETT
& Bt 2E AR
B35 S A 9] 2 W R
EfRE /N BEREE
ZeMAB-ERNBE
FEEHEERE-



Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

4. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued)

(a)

Initial recognition and subsequent
measurements of assets acquired and

4.

liahilities assumed in a business combination

completed in 2010 (Continued)

(iv)  Deferred tax

In the reporting period ended 31 March
2010, no deferred tax had been recognised
for the temporary differences arising from the
Acquisition. In addition, a tax rate of 16.5%
was inappropriately used for the deferred tax
calculation in subsequent reporting periods.
The Directors have revisited the deferred tax
calculation and used the enacted tax rate
applicable to the acquired PRC subsidiaries for
each relevant accounting periods. Appropriate

adjustments have been made accordingly.

(v)  Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the acquired PRC
subsidiaries was previously inappropriately
included in identifiable net assets for goodwill
calculation at the Acquisition date. Necessary
adjustment and restatement have been made

appropriately to report the capital reserve.

(vi)  Goodwill

Having taken into consideration of above
adjustments to the identifiable net assets and
the issued convertible bond at the Acquisition
date, goodwill was therefore re-measured and

adjusted accordingly.
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4. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued)

(a)

Initial recognition and subsequent
measurements of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in a business combination
completed in 2010 (Continued)

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible
assets acquired in the Acquisition

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
arising from the Acquisition should be allocated
to each of the relevant CGUs that are expected
to benefit from the synergy of the Acquisition.

In the previous valuation, these was only one
single CGU - “Tobacco agriculture operation”
identified. After the re-performance of the
valuation for the business combination in 2010,
two appropriate CGUs were identified by the
management, namely “Tobacco agriculture
operation” and “Fertilizer and pesticide
operation”. Consequently, the re-measured
goodwill arising from the Acquisition was
properly allocated to the two identifiable CGUs.

Furthermore, subsequent impairment testing
of the re-measured goodwill and all other
intangible assets was re-performed and the
resultant impairment losses were appropriately
recognised. When the goodwill of the “Tobacco
agriculture operation” was fully impaired at 31
March 2011, the remaining impairment losses
were allocated to the other assets of that CGU
on a pro-rata basis of carrying amount.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

4. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF

PRIOR YEARS' ERRORS (Continued) (#&)
(a) Initial recognition and subsequent (a)
measurements of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in a business combination
completed in 2010 (Continued)
(viii) Assets held for sale
As indicated in the financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group
has reclassified certain land use right and
property, plant and equipment relating to the
manufacturing of fertilizers as assets held for
sale for subsequent disposal.
Assets held for sale at each relevant accounting
period was properly reviewed and adjusted
accordingly. Furthermore, a reassessment of
the fair value less cost to sell of the assets
held for sale was conducted on subsequent
disposal. It was noted that the fair value less
cost to sell of the assets held for sale is less
than its carrying amount. The appropriate
impairment loss has therefore been recognised.
(b) Timing of recognition of share option (h)
expenses
The Company had granted share options to certain
employees, director, suppliers of goods or services
and consultants for the year ended 31 March 2011.
These options have a vesting period over 1 year.
However, the entire fair value of these options was
inappropriately recognised and expensed in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 March 2011.
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4,

Hz—Z—

RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Timing of recognition of share option
expenses (Continued)

However, in accordance with HKFRS 2 — Share-
based Payment, expenses of this nature should be
recognised over the vesting period of each share
option. As a result, the share-based payment expense
included in administrative expenses was adjusted
and increased by approximately HK$4,430,000 and
decreased by approximately HK$5,875,000 for the
years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011 respectively.
The related share option reserve of the Company and
the Group have been adjusted by the same amount as
at 31 March 2012 and 2011 respectively.

Reclassification of cost of sales and services
and distribution costs

In the reporting year, certain line items in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
have been reclassified to better reflect the relevance of
financial information relating to the Group’s activities.
Prior years’ figures have also been re-presented to
reflect the new presentation format. The resultant
reclassification has had no net effect on the results of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2012.

Reclassification of amounts due from related
companies and other receivables

There were amounts due from related companies
included in the balance of other receivables for the
years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011 respectively.
To reflect a better comparability of the financial
information, prior years’ figures have been re-
presented to reflect the new presentation. The
reclassification has had no net effect on the financial
position of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2012 and 2011.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued)

(e) Impairment on amounts due from subsidiaries

In preparing the Company’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2013, an inadequacy
of impairment loss was identified on the amounts
due from subsidiaries for the prior years. As a result
adjustment has been made accordingly.

(f) Summary of effects of restatements due to
correction of prior years’ errors

The following schedules represent a summary of the
effects of the restatements to correct the prior years’
errors in:

| the Group’s consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31
March 2012;

Il the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2012;

M. the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position as at 1 April 2011;

V. the Company’s statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2012;

V. the Company’s statement of financial position
as at 1 April 2011; and

VI. the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as at 31 March 2012.
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Notes to the financial statements
Bt i SRR MY &E

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

4. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF 4. EEEREFEREMES
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued) (#)
()  Summary of effects of restatements due to () EFEEBEFERZEM
correction of prior years’ errors (Continued) BIEERE »)

l. Effect of error corrections on the Group’s l. EEREEHZE=Z
consolidated statement of comprehensive ——F=ZA=+—H1
income for the year ended 31 March 2012 FEZHREEZHEHKRRR

CREREE
Initial
recognition
and
subsequent
measurements
of assets Reclassification
acquired and of cost of
liabilities Timing of sales and
assumed in  recognition of services and
As a business share option distribution
previously combination expenses costs
reported note 4(a) note 4(b) note 4(c) As restated
REBAH
Frligz
BERAEZ ENSE
aEZ05 HERRH
®BRR BRBRE BAR
HEHE B XX KB R AEBK
MEAMSH HisE4(a) B z4(b) B E4(c) 27
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT THT
Turnover EE3 663,896 - - - 663,896
Cost of sales and services HERBRBRAR (469,153) - - 34,640 (434,513)
Gross profit ES 194,743 - - 34,640 229,383
Other revenue Hip A 20,435 - - - 20,435
Distribution costs DEKA (43,898) = = (34,640) (78,538)
Administrative expenses k&R (94,371) (38,622) (4,430) - (187,423)
Profit from operations Fdeyiwl 76,909 (38,622) (4,430) = 33,857
Other (losses)/gains Htt (B18) /has (20,022) 120,006 = = 99,984
Finance costs REKA (32,203) 10,842 - - (21,361)
Share of results of associates AEBERAEE 611 - - - 611
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ~ tH&EF ARz Kz 1,760 - = = 1,760
Loss on deconsolidation of KILERFRAGATIRZER
subsidiaries (2,779) - - - (2,779)
Impairment losses HinEWAEREEE
on other intangible assets (59,105) (18,069) - - (77,174)
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BRFTSRiAT (B518) /i (34,829) 74,157 (4,430) - 34,898
Income tax credit FiiERE R 2,435 15,526 - - 17,961
(Loss)/Profit for the year £ (FE) /#7 (32,394) 89,683 (4,430) = 52,859
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 # %

Notes to the financial statements

RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued)

St 755 R AR B

—T-=F-A=+-HLEE

4. FHEEBEFER=ME?S

(%)
Summary of effects of restatements due to () EEEBEFEREM
correction of prior years’ errors (Continued) BIEERE »)
Effect of error corrections on the Group’s l. EEREEEHEE=Z
consolidated statement of comprehensive ——HF=ZA=+—HL
income for the year ended 31 March 2012 FEZHREEZHEHKRGR
(Continued) LREZTE(£)
Initial
recognition
and
subsequent
measurements
of assets Reclassification
acquired and of cost of
liabilities Timing of sales and
assumed in  recognition of services and
As a business share option distribution
previously combination expenses costs
reported note 4(a) note 4(o) note 4(c) As restated
REBEH
Friligz
BEREAEZ ENR
aEz05 HERRH
®BRR BRBRE BAR
HEGE B R ikl %
MER2H B E4(a) Bt 3%4(0) Hizta(c) 27
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THT THT THT
Other comprehensive income  FEHM2EKHE
for the year, including (BREEFHERE):
reclassification adjustments:
Exchange differences on REBIEBEEZ
translating foreign operations ERER 15,489 14,863 - - 30,352
Reclassification adjustments FRLEGIEBZ
relating to foreign operations BNDERE
disposed of during the year 46 - - - 46
15,535 14,863 - - 30,398
Total comprehensive income  FE2HEKRBAE
for the year (16,859) 104,546 (4,430) - 83,057
(Loss)/Profit attributable to: BT AL (B18) &H:
Owners of the Company AREEEA (34,790) 89,683 (4,430) = 50,463
Non-controlling interests kgD 2,396 - - - 2,396
(32,394) 89,683 (4,430) - 52,859

MREERAERAR
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Notes to the financial statements
Bt i SRR MY &E

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

4. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF 4. HEEEBEIFEREMEZ
PRIOR YEARS' ERRORS (Continued) (%)
()  Summary of effects of restatements due to () EEEBEFEREM
correction of prior years’ errors (Continued) BIEERE »)

l. Effect of error corrections on the Group’s l. EEREEHZE=Z
consolidated statement of comprehensive ——#=A=+—HIt
income for the year ended 31 March 2012 FEZHREEZHEHKRRR
(Continued) LREZTE (£)

Initial
recognition
and
subsequent
measurements
of assets Reclassification
acquired and of cost of
liabilities Timing of sales and
assumed in  recognition of services and
As a business share option distribution
previously combination expenses costs
reported note 4(a) note 4(o) note 4(c) As restated
REBAH
PRl 2
BERAEZ BB
aEz95 HERRB
BRIR BRBRE BAR
Higot @ B X BB P DEBAE
NEAER B t4(a) K =E4(o) GBZC) 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET

Total comprehensive income U TFALEE2E

attributable to: WRAE:
Owners of the Company AREEEA (19,129) 104,546 (4,430) = 80,987
Non-controlling interests EEe 2,270 - - - 2,270
(16,859) 104,546 (4,430) - 83,257
(Loss)/Earnings per share SR (58) /B
- Basic and diluted —EAREE (1.28) 1.86
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Notes to the financial statements

BB AR M AL

For the year ended 31 March 2013 HZEZEZZE—=F=HA=+—HILFE

RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF 4. FEEEBFEERE=EME?Y

PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (continued) (%)

()  Summary of effects of restatements due to () EFEEBEFERZEM
correction of prior years’ errors (Continued) BIEERE »)

. Effect of error corrections on the Group’s . BEXREER=-ZF—=
consolidated statement of financial position F=ZA=t+—HZ&HSE
as at 31 March 2012 BIEARR R ZFRE 2 &

488
Initial
recognition and
subsequent
measurements
of assets Reclassification
acquired and  of amounts due
liabilities from related
assumed in  companies and
As a business other
previously combination receivables As
reported note 4(a) note 4(d) restated
REBA K
FriiE 2
BERAREZ
aEzH5  ENHEEW
IR BEAARER
H#GE  HttEWRE
MER 28 it 5F4(e) Pt 5E4(d) B3l
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THET T T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - HERZE 76,347 7,169 = 83,516
Prepaid land lease payments B LA E A 6,739 4,261 - 11,000
Goodwill Gl 776,323 (762,759) - 13,564
Other intangible assets HinB\paE 57,504 317,229 = 374,733
Interests in associates B R E R 16,531 - - 16,531
Deferred tax assets EERBEE 10,891 (3,056) = 7,835
944,335 (437,156) - 507,179
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 67,910 - - 67,910
Trade and bills receivables RBRERREREE 442,635 - - 442,635
Prepayments, other TERFE - A EYGRR
receivables and deposits kize 249,180 273 (3,511) 245,942
Amounts due from FEMBE R AR
related companies - 3,511 3,511
Pledged deposits BEREHR 260,222 - - 260,222
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFEEEY 160,755 - - 160,755
1,180,702 273 - 1,180,975
Assets held for sale RIEHEAE 103,431 25,730 - 129,161
1,284,133 26,003 - 1,310,136
RRERRERAT  —F - =FFH
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Notes to the financial statements
Bt i SRR MY &E

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

4. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF 4. RHEEBEAFEREMEZ
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued) (%)
(f) Summary of effects of restatements due to () EEEBEFEREM
correction of prior years’ errors (Continued) BIEERE »)

. Effect of error corrections on the Group’s . BEEXREER=-ZF—=
consolidated statement of financial position F=ZA=t+—HZ&HSE
as at 31 March 2012 (Continued) BB MRR R ZREZS

2 (E)
Initial
recognition and
subsequent
measurements

of assets Reclassification
acquired and  of amounts due

liabilities from related
assumed in  companies and
As a business other
previously combination receivables As
reported note 4(a) note 4(d) restated
REBEH
P g 2
BEREEZ

BEZYS  BEHIEEN
BAR HEAAHER
H&E  AtERRE

mEF 25K Bt 24(a) P 2E4(d) B3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$f000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and bills payables BRERREMSRE 62,236 - - 62,236
Other payables and accruals HthER B RES R 67,434 24 - 67,458
Amount due to a non-controlling R FARI—BIFERREFRE
shareholder of a subsidiary 1,622 - - 1,622
Amount due to a director B —2EEHR 5,186 - - 5,186
Borrowings BE 747,004 - - 747,004
Tax payable ERHE 3,963 - - 3,963
887,345 24 - 887,369
Net current assets FRBEE 396,788 25,979 - 422,767
Total assets less current BEERRDEE
liabilities 1,341,123 (411,177) - 929,946
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Notes to the financial statements
B i SRR MY EE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 HZEZEZZE—=F=HA=+—HILFE

RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF 4. RHEEBEAFEREMEZ

PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued) (%)

(f) Summary of effects of restatements due to () HEEEBEFERZEM
correction of prior years’ errors (Continued) BIEERE »)

. Effect of error corrections on the Group’s . BEXREER=-ZF—=
consolidated statement of financial position F=ZA=t+—HZ&HSE
as at 31 March 2012 (Continued) HERRRZREZS

2 (E)
Initial
recognition and
subsequent
measurements

of assets Reclassification
acquired and  of amounts due

liabilities from related
assumed in  companies and
As a business other
previously combination receivables As
reported note 4(a) note 4(d) restated
REBEH
P g 2
BEREEZ

BEZYS  EHIEEN
BRAR HEAAHER
HEE  AMERRE

WER 2K it 54(a) i ¥4(d) 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEREAE 9,462 84,879 = 94,341
Convertible bond ARRES 645,400 146,592 - 791,992
654,862 231,471 = 886,333
Net assets FEE 686,261 (642,648) - 43,613
EQUITY %
Share capital A 27,138 - - 27,138
Reserves {1 659,620 (642,648) - 16,972
Equity attrioutable to AREEEAELER
owners of the Company 686,758 (642,648) - 44,110
Non-controlling interests Eelie (497) - - (497)
Total equity HER 686,261 (642,648) = 43613
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

4. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF 4. RHEEEBFEERE=EME?Y
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (continued) (#)
(f) Summary of effects of restatements due to () HEEEBEFERZEM
correction of prior years’ errors (Continued) BIEERE »)

[1l.  Effect of error corrections on the Group’s ., BEEXREER=-ZF——
consolidated statement of financial position FUA—HZHEHE
as at 1 April 2011 MRFJZREZEE

Initial
recognition and
Subsequent
measurements

of assets Reclassification
acquired and  of amounts due

liabilities from related
assumed in companies
As a business and other
previously combination receivables As
reported note 4(a) note 4(d) restated
REBEH
P g 2
BEREEZ

BEZYS  EHIEENR
BAR HEAARER
HEE  AMERRE

mEF 25K Bt 2E4(a) P 2E4(d) B3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT THT FTHT TET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - HERRE 83,514 8,703 = 92,217
Prepaid land lease payments B LAEHE 6,730 4,136 - 10,866
Goodwill Sl 777,347 (763,243) - 14,104
Other intangible assets HinBpAE 142,928 357,868 - 500,796
Deferred tax assets ERFBEE - 4,260 - 4,260
1,010,519 (388,276) - 622,243
Current assets REBEE
Inventories & 64,745 - - 64,745
Trade and bills receivables JEUER TN JE R 1B 462,152 - - 462,152
Prepayments, other BT - E R MGRIE
receivables and deposits ke 152,075 268 (14,286) 138,057
Amounts due from customers BREPENTIENE
for contracts work 5,992 - - 5,992
Amounts due from ek BB R R A
related companies - - 14,286 14,286
Financial assets at fair value REREELAFEEEZ
through profit or loss SREE 822 - - 822
Pledged deposits BHEER 231,372 - - 231,372
Cash and cash equivalents ReRASZEN 47,491 - - 47,491
964,649 268 - 964,917
Assets held for sale RIEHEAE 101,902 28,862 - 130,764
1,066,551 29,130 - 1,095,681
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 HZEZEZZE—=F=HA=+—HILFE

RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF 4. RHEEBEAFEREMEZ

PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued) (#)

(f) Summary of effects of restatements due to () HEEEBEFERZEM
correction of prior years’ errors (Continued) BIEERE »)

[1l.  Effect of error corrections on the Group’s ., BEEXREER=-ZF——
consolidated statement of financial position FUA—HZHREH®E
as at 1 April 2011 (Continued) MRFJZREZEE

(#%)
Initial
recognition and
Subsequent
measurements

of assets Reclassification
acquired and  of amounts due

liabilities from related
assumed in companies
As a business and other
previously combination receivables As
reported note 4(a) note 4(d) restated
REBEH
FriiE 2
BERAEZ

BEZAS  EFIRENR
BARk HEAFARER
Hi&stE  AftEWROR

WA 2K it 5E4(e) Pt 5E4(d) E7l
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
Current liabilities RBaE
Trade and bills payables BREFRREMNRE 210,141 - - 210,141
Other payables and accruals HibERRBRENER 56,438 23 - 56,461
Amount due to a non-controlling ~ FEfF T2 &) — & IEHERL
shareholder of a subsidiary R 1,807 - - 1,807
Amounts due to directors ENEZHE 6,013 - - 6,013
Borrowings e 407,111 - - 407,111
Deferred income H1 N 583 - - 583
Tax payable ERHE 3,357 - - 3,357
685,450 23 - 685,473
Net current assets BFRBEE 381,101 29,107 - 410,208
Total assets less current HEERRDEE
liabilities 1,391,620 (359,169) - 1,032,451
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

4. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF 4. RHEEBEAFEREMEZ
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued) (#)
(f) Summary of effects of restatements due to () EEEBEFEREM
correction of prior years’ errors (Continued) BIEERE »)

[1l.  Effect of error corrections on the Group’s ., BEEXREER=-ZF——
consolidated statement of financial position FUA—HZHEHE
as at 1 April 2011 (Continued) MRRKZREZEE

(%)
Initial
recognition and
Subsequent
measurements

of assets Reclassification
acquired and  of amounts due

liabilities from related
assumed in companies
As a business and other
previously combination receivables As
reported note 4(a) note 4(d) restated
REBEH
FriiE 2
BERAEZ

BEZAS  EFSRENR
BAR HEAFARER
Hi&stE  AftEWR0R

WER 2K HiE4(a) Pt 7E4(d) E3l
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEAE 12,825 104,740 = 117,565
Convertible bond ARRES 645,288 283,285 - 928,573
658,113 388,025 = 1,046,138
Net assets/(liabilities) FEE/ (Bf) 733,507 (747,194) - (13,687)
EQUITY 3
Share capital A 27,138 - - 27,138
Reserves i 678,612 (747,194) = (68,582)
Equity attrioutable to AREER AELER
owners of the Company 705,750 (747,194) - (41,444)
Non-controlling interests FEERR S 27,757 - - 27,757
Total equity/(Capital deficiency) 4%/ (RAE4L) 733,507 (747,194) = (13,687)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 HZEZEZZE—=F=HA=+—HILFE

RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF 4.
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued)

Summary of effects of restatements due to
correction of prior years’ errors (Continued)

(f)

IV.

Effect of error corrections on the Company’s
statement of financial position as at 31

FEEFBITFEEREMES
(&)
() EEEBEFEEREM
BIERE (&)
V. BEARARAFAR-Z=—=
F=A=+—HzW%

March 2012 MRARZREZEE
Initial
recognition and
subsequent
measurements
of assets
acquired and
liabilities Impairment
assumed in on amounts
As a business due from
previously combination subsidiaries As
reported note 4(a) note 4(e) restated
REBEH
FrigiE 2
BERAEZ
aBzA5
BRR EWRFAR
H#GE MEHE
WA 2K it 5F4(a) fi5T4(e) 7l
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THET THT THET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries FRARKE = - = -
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, other BENFE  EfERGRERES
receivables and deposits 1,124 - - 1,124
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEWF A R 1,333,031 (190,443) (320,000) 822,588
Cash and cash equivalents RekReZED 115 - - 115
1,334,270 (190,443) (320,000) 823,827
Current liability nBaE
Other payables and accruals HiENZEREFER 2,560 - - 2,560
Net current assets BRBEE 1,331,710 (190,443) (320,000) 821,267
Non-current liability FRBAR
Convertible bond AR ES 645,400 146,592 - 791,992
Net assets/(liabilities) FEE/ (Bf) 686,310 (337,085) (320,000) 29,275
EQUITY 373
Share capital R A 27,138 - - 27,138
Reserves i 659,172 (337,035) (320,000) 2,137
Total equity AR 686,310 (337,035) (320,000) 29,275

MBEERARQF « T =—FFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

4. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF 4. HEEBEIFEREMES
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued) (%)
(f) Summary of effects of restatements due to () EEEBEFEREM
correction of prior years’ errors (Continued) BIEERE »)
V. Effect of error corrections on the Company’s V. BEARRATR-ZFT——
statement of financial position as at 1 April FUA— B 2B
2011 RIZREZZE
Initial
recognition and
subsequent
measurements
of assets
acquired and
liabilities Impairment
assumed in on amounts
As a business due from
previously combination subsidiaries As
reported note 4(a) note 4(ge) restated
REBEH
Friig 2
EERAEZ
ﬁﬁZ@ﬁ
fﬁﬁg& EWFAR
N AR HERE
MER 28 it 5E4(a) Tt E4(e) B3l
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR THT THT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries FARKE = = = =
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, other B 7B ek E
receivables and deposits ke 1,374 - - 1,374
Amounts due from subsidiaries ~ FEM T2 AR 1,402,545 (190,443) (320,000) 892,102
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEEY 7,343 - - 7,343
1,411,262 (190,443) (320,000) 900,819
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals HibERRBRENER 908 - - 908
Amount due to a director BR—2EEHE 5,000 = = 5,000
5,908 - - 5,908
Net current assets BFRBEE 1,405,354 (190,443) (320,000) 894,911
Non-current liability FREERE
Convertible bond HRRES 645,288 283,285 - 928,573
Net assets/(liabilities) FEE/ (AR 760,066 (473,728) (320,000) (33,662)
EQUITY i
Share capital R 27,138 - - 27,138
Reserves El 732,928 (473,728) (320,000) (60,800)
Total equity/(Capital deficiency) ##% / (RAEHA) 760,066 (473,728) (320,000) (33,662)
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4. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF

Notes to the financial statements

PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued)

(f)

Summary of effects of restatements due to

correction of prior years’ errors (Continued)

4.

BB AR M AL

For the year ended 31 March 2013 HZEZEZZE—=F=HA=+—HILFE

REEBEFEREMES

(%)

(H BREEBEIFFEREM

Bz ERE &)

VI. Effect of error corrections on the consolidated VI. BER-—FE——-F=A#
statement of cash flows as at 31 March 2012 =+—HZZEHER
EBRZIREZTE
Initial recognition
and
subsequent
measurements
of assets
acquired and Reclassification
liabilities Timing of  of amounts due
assumed in recognition of from related
As a business share option  companies and
previously combination expenses  other receivables As
reported note 4(a) note 4(o) note 4(d) restated
REBEH
FriliE 2
BERREL
8E205 BENHEREK
BAR BRBRE BELARRER
HigstE BXHEE HipEKFE
MEH2H HizEa(a) HizE4(o) MizE4(d) 2]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TiHx Titn Ti#x T
Cash flows from operating REFHzHLNE
activities
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BRESH A (B8) /%5 (34,829) 74,157 (4,430) = 34,898
Adjustments for: B TFIERRE:
Finance costs BERA 32,203 (10,842) = = 21,361
Interest income KA (7,279) - - - (7.219)
Dividend income REMA (82) - - - (32)
Share of results of associates DEBENREE (611) = = = 611)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & F A &2 Wz (1,760) - - - (1,760)
Loss on deconsolidation of RIHERTFRRAGATIREE
Subsidiaries 2,779 - - - 2,779
Loss on disposal of property, HENZ BERRELEE
plant and equipment 19 = = = 19
Change in fair value of financial ~ EERERKEEATEREZ
assets designated at fair value CREEZLTEED
through profit or loss 22 = = = 2
Waiver of interest expenses ERATRRERZFEAX
on convertible bond (10,730) - - - (10,730)
Expenses recognised in HAEREE VARG A
respect of equity-settled IREEFERR LA
share-based payments 137 - 4,430 - 4,567
Depreciation and amortisation REREH 35,671 38,420 = = 74,001
Impairment losses on other EtEFEE 2 HERE
intangible assets 59,105 18,069 - - 17,174
Impairment losses on assets BEHEEEZRERE
held for sale - 4,149 - - 4,149
Impairment losses on property, NE BERREZRESE
plant and equipment - 1,696 - - 1,696
Impairment loss on other receivables E Atz fE U ETIE 2 BB 20,000 - - - 20,000
Change in fair value of HhkEF A TEEY
a convertible bond - (125,851) - - (125,851)
Operating profit before working @& & 2812 L& EF
capital changes 94,702 (202) - - 94,500
B BEEZERERAT « _ T —=FFW
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

4. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF 4. FEBREFEREMES
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (continued) (#&)
(f)  Summary of effects of restatements due to () EFEEBEFERZEM
correction of prior years’ errors (Continued) BIEERE »)
VI.  Effect of error corrections on the consolidated V. BEER=-ZE——-F=A
statement of cash flows as at 31 March 2012 =t+—HZ&HEHEE
(Continued) MERZREZZE
(#)
Initial recognition
and
subsequent
measurements
of assets
acquired and Reclassification
liabilities Timing of  of amounts due
assumed in recognition of from related
As a business share option  companies and
previously combination expenses  other receivables As
reported note 4(a) note 4(o) note 4(d) restated
WEHEH
Frig 2
EERAREL
8&295 ENHRER

BAE BIERE BEAARAR
AkitE BxHEE AfksR

MERER HizEd(a) HiE4(0) M E4(d) B3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TEx T THET TEr
Increase in inventories FEEM (12,126) - - - (12,126)
Increase in trae and bills ERERREREEEM
receivables (73,488) - - - (73,488)
Increase in prepayments, other BB HERTER
receivables and deposits R (172,849) - - (10,775) (183,624)
Increase in amounts due from EREF AN TRFTEEM
customers for contract works (17,004) - - - (17,004)
Decrease in amounts due ERBERRFERD
from related companies - - 10,775 10,775
Increase in amounts due from JEdeE & AR FIAE M
associates (7,048) - - - (7,048)
Decrease in trade and ERERRENEERD
bills payables (114,154) - - - (114,154)
Increase in other payables and Hit R FBREBREM
accruals 119,838 - - - 119,838
Decrease in amount due to ERFAR—BIHERBRR
anon-controling shareholder of B
a subsidiary (23,267) - - - (23,267)
Decrease in amount due to ER-—ZEZHERD
a director (827) - - - (827)
Net cash used in operations LENERLTE (206,223) 202) - - (206,425)
Interest received BYeH S 7212 - - - 7,212
Interest paid BRFE (21,361) - - - (21,361)
Income taxes paid BRAEH (10,950) = = = (10,950)
Net cash used in
operating activities LEEDMARE TR (231,262) (202) - = (231,464)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 &

RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued)

(f)

VI.

St 755 R AR B

—F-=H=A=+-RLFE

4. HAEEBEFERZEME

(#&)
‘ 7 20
Summary of effects of restatements due to () EFEEBEFERZEM
. a v L
correction of prior years’ errors (Continued) B2 ERE (&)
Effect of error corrections on the consolidated V. EERZ-Z-—Z-F=A
statement of cash flows as at 31 March 2012 =ET=E ZmAfﬁﬁ
(Continued) MEBRZREZEE
(%)
Initial recognition
and
subsequent
measurements
of assets
acquired and Reclassification
liabilities Timing of  of amounts due
assumed in recognition of from related
As a business share option ~ companies and
previously combination expenses  other receivables As
reported note 4(a) note 4(b) note 4(d) restated
REBEH
i
BEREREL
a5 BN S EEK
B2R BIBERE BELARER
HistE BxHKE HipEKE
MEH2H HizE4(e) HizE4(p) WizE4(d) 2]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T T ThET T
Cash flows from REEH RENE
investing activities
Purchases of property, BEME BRRIE
plant and equipment (3,863) - - = (3,863)
Proceeds from disposal of HENZE BERREL
property, plant and equipment e 3E 207 - - - 207
Net cash inflow from disposal of ~ HEFARZEERAFE
subsidiaries 2,813 - - - 2,813
Net cash inflow from deconsolidation 4 |E{EATARIGATIEZ
of subsidiaries REMATE 9,845 - - - 9,845
Dividends received from financial ~ EAUEER BHEEATE
assets designated at fair value REEREERS
through profit or loss 32 - - - 32
Purchases of financial assets FEECRAE (14,633) - - - (14,633)
Proceeds from disposal of HECREEFMEHE
financial assets 15,433 - - - 15,433
Increase in pledged deposits BEAETEM (28,850) - - - (28,850)
Net cash used In investing REZHMARETE
activities (19,016) - - - (19,016)
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4. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO CORRECTION OF 4. RHEEBEAFEREMEZ
PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Continued) (%)
(f)  Summary of effects of restatements due to () EEEBEFEREM

B ERE &)
EFA-ZE——&=§H

correction of prior years’ errors (Continued)

VI. Effect of error corrections on the consolidated VI.

136

statement of cash flows as at 31 March 2012

=t-HZHEEHRE

(Continued) MBRZREZTE
(#)
Initial recognition
and
subsequent
measurements
of assets
acquired and Reclassification
liabilities Timing of  of amounts due
assumed in recognition of from related
As a business share option  companies and
previously combination expenses  other receivables As
reported note 4(a) note 4(o) note 4(d) restated
WEHEH
Friigz
EERAREL
8&295 BHAEEY
BRR BIBRE BELARER
HigstE HXHEE At EYFE
MEH2H HisE4(a) HizE4() HizE4(d) B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAT TAL TATL TAL
Cash flows from RETHZEERE
financing activity
Net borrowings raised ERGEETE 354,440 = = = 354,440
Net cash generated from BEAEDHMELZBETE
financing activity 354,440 - - - 354,440
Net increase in cash and RERREEENZEMER
cash equivalents 104,162 (202) - - 103,960
Cash and cash equivalents FOZRERRLSEN
at beginning of year 47,491 = = = 47,491
Effects of exchange rate ExgH YRR
changes, net 9,102 202 - - 9,304
Cash and cash equivalents FRZBERALEEY
at end of year 160,755 - - - 160,755
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 2 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Current tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining the
amount of the provision for taxes and the timing of payment
of the related taxation. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises taxes based on estimates of the likely outcome
with reference to current tax laws and practices. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income taxes and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.
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BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILtFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Current tax and deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets relating to certain deductible temporary
differences and tax losses will be recognised when
management considers it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences or
tax losses can be utilised. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred tax assets and taxation in the periods
in which such estimate is changed.

Estimated impairment of goodwill and other
intangible assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill and other
intangible assets have suffered any impairment in accordance
with accounting policies stated in note 2.13 to the financial
statements. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations or its fair
value less cost to sell, whichever is higher, and both bases
require the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the CGUs and a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss
may arise. Please refer to notes 20 and 21 to the financial
statements for details.

Estimated useful lives of other intangible assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and consequent related amortisation rate (if any) for its
other intangible assets. These estimates are based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of comparable
intangible assets in related industries. Actual economic life
may vary from estimated useful life. Periodic review could
result in a change in amortisable lives and consequently
increase or decrease in amortisation expenses. Please refer
to note 21 to the financial statements for details.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Provision for impairment of receivables

The policy for the provision for impairment of receivables of
the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and
aging analysis of accounts and on management’s judgement.
A considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing
the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the
current creditworthiness and the past collection history of
each debtor. If the financial conditions of debtors of the
Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments, additional provision for impairment
may be required.

Valuation of share options

The fair value of options granted under the share option
scheme is determined using the binomial model. The
significant inputs into the model were the weighted average
are price at the grant date, exercise price, risk-free interest
rate, dividend yield, expected volatility, expected life of
options, and exit rate of directors and staff. When the actual
results of the inputs differ from the management’s estimate,
it will have impact on share option expenses and the related
share option reserve of the Company.

Useful lives and residual value of property, plant
and equipment

The Group’s management determines the residual values,
useful lives and related depreciation charges for the Group’s
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual residual value and useful
lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions and may vary significantly as a result of technical
innovations and keen competitions from competitors,
resulting in higher depreciation charge and/or write-off or
write-down of technically obsolete assets when residual value
or useful lives are less than previously estimated.
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BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Fair value of convertible hond accounted for as a
financial liability through profit or loss

At the reporting year end date, the Group had an outstanding
convertible bond, the details of which are set out in note
34 to the financial statements. The convertible bond, which
contains an embedded convertible option derivative, was
issued in March 2010 in connection with the acquisition of
the Kang Yuan Group. The Group has elected to account
for this convertible bond as a financial liability at fair value
through profit or loss. Accordingly, the Directors are required
to use their judgment in selecting an appropriate valuation
technique to determine the fair value of this convertible bond,
which is not quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques
commonly used by market practitioners are applied. The fair
value of the convertible bond is estimated with the assistance
of an independent professional valuer. The independent
valuations are based on various inputs and estimates with
reference to quoted market rates and adjusted for specific
features of the instrument. If the inputs and estimates applied
in the model are different, the carrying amounts of this
convertible bond will change.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks through
its use of financial instruments in its ordinary course of
operations and in its investment activities. The financial risks
include market risk (including currency risk and interest risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk management is coordinated at the Group’s
headquarters, in close co-operation with the Board. The
overall objectives in managing financial risks focus on
securing the Group’s short to medium term cash flows by
minimising its exposure to financial markets. Long term
financial investments are managed to generate lasting returns
with acceptable risk levels.

It is not the Group’s policy to actively engage in the trading
of financial instruments for speculative purposes. The Board
from time to time identifies ways to access financial markets
and monitors the Group’s financial risk exposures.

6.1 Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include, trade
and bills receivables, other receivables, amounts
due from related companies, amounts due from
subsidiaries, amounts due from associates, pledged
deposits, cash and bank balances, trade and bills
payables, other payables, borrowings, amount
due to a director, amount due to a non-controlling
shareholders of a subsidiary and convertible bond.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in the relevant notes to the financial statements. The
risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. MBEBRERE 2
6.2 Categories of financial assets and liabilities 6.2 ERMEEREBGEZSE

BRATIENEREEN TR
BERPBRRBRRZ25 2K

The carrying amounts presented in the statements of
financial position relate to the following categories of

142

financial assets and financial liabilities:

E1E :

Group Company
x& AT
2013 2012 2013 2012
—g-z=§ —T—_F 2=k —E-—-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TR TET THT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&%) (E51)
Financial assets SREE
Loans and receivables: ERREKGRIE
~ Trade and bills receivables — RS R R R 363,120 442,635 - -
— Other receivables and deposits - A ERFIERES
(excluding prepayments) (TBREBRER) 108,430 61,828 827 832
— Amounts due from subsidiaries —REYFREFHE - - 822,612 822,588
— Amounts due from related companies —EWREEDNRZE 20,705 3,511 - =
— Amounts due from associates —EREBEDNRE - 7,048 - =
Pledged deposits BHEAFER 181,237 260,222 - =
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReZEY 11,313 160,755 1,304 115
684,805 935,999 824,743 823,535
Financial liabilities StRERE
Financial liabilities measured REERAHEZERAR:
at amortised cost:
— Trade and bills payables —ERERRENRE 96,331 62,236 - =
— Other payables and accruals - A ENFIEREFTER 50,688 67,458 4,548 2,560
— Amount due to a non-controlling -ENFRE—%
shareholder of a subsidiary FEER AR R TR 1,129 1,622 - =
— Amount due to a director -EN—2EZHE 5,541 5,186 - =
— Amounts due to subsidiaries ~-ERTRARRE - = 178,251 -
- Borrowings —fEE 502,811 747,004 - =
Convertible bond AR ES 756,961 791,992 756,961 791,992
1,413,461 1,675,398 939,760 794,552
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

6.3

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the market
risks of changes in interest rates and foreign currency
exchange rates risks. There has been no significant
change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risk
over the year.

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market rate
on bank balances, bank and other borrowings which
are carried at prevailing market interest rates and
variable rate based on the interest rates quoted by the
People’s Bank of China.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily
to pledged bank deposits, bank and other borrowings
and convertible bond which are carried at fixed
interest rate. The Group currently does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk. However, the management will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rate risks on

financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

6.

HEz—Z—

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
6.3 Market risk (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analysis below has been prepared
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments carried at variable rate (bank
balances and bank and other borrowings) at the end
of the reporting period and assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis point increase or decrease for interest rates
on bank balances and bank and other borrowings
are used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the possible change in
interest rate in respect of bank and other borrowings
and bank balances respectively.

If interest rates had been increased/decreased by 50
basis points in respect of bank and other borrowings
and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s profit for the year would increase/decrease
by approximately HK$741,000 for the year ended 31
March 2012. There is no impact on the Group’s loss
for the year ended 31 March 2013.

If interest rates had been increased/decreased by
50 basis points in respect of bank deposits and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
loss for the year would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$963,000 (2012: decrease/increase
by approximately HK$2,105,000) for the year ended
31 March 2013.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
6.3 Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk management

The Group collects all of its revenue in Renminbi
(“RMB”) and most of the expenditures including
expenditures and capital expenditures are also
denominated in RMB.

The Group undertakes certain transactions
denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposure to
exchange rate fluctuations arises. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposures should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity
at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably
possible change in the RMB exchange rate, with all
other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss
before income tax (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group’s equity.
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2012 —T-—f
If RMB weakens against HK$ WARELBTRE ) 14,709 -
If RMB strengthens against HK$ AR ABTHE 5 (14,709) =
M ZEERERAF e —_ T —=FFH
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counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in
relation to each class of recognised financial asset is
the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group has put in place policies to ensure that
sales of products or services are made to customers
with an appropriate credit history and the Group
performs credit period evaluations of its customers. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual receivable at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
recognised for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies
or state-owned banks in the PRC.

Other than a concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks with
high credit ratings, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, as risk exposure is spread
over a number of counterparties and customers.

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. HMBRERERE#)
6.4 Credit risk management 6.4 FERKREIE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s REMER  AEERZEED

maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of REMEEMEHNESF

HELABETEEImMERMNR
KEERE  B&GRE SRR
KA RZEEEMNREE-

$E.E%U§Tﬂﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁ%

EEELB I REFPHEEMS
HW& MASEETEHARS
ETEEBRT G N RE
ERPR AEEENHETE
18 51| & W 5K I8 2 PI Y Bl ¢ %8 -
AR BED AT B & FERE R 2
Wz RMEBE it s &
ERR/AEEZEERRE X
8 B 1 o

HREFTARAGEREER
AAEBRERENRZE E
SRV IRTTE R B B A IRTT

BIRITERZEERRAR -

BN E T RERFRRT
ZRBETEEERRETH
BRSN R AN EB A E R D
HREZEHEFHRES  8A
BEAREREERER -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HHEREAKRER &)
6.5 Liquidity risk 6.5 RBELEMK
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining FERBDESRREREERB
sufficient cash and an availability of funding through RMiEFRZENFERR
the ability to close-out market positions. In the ReERAIEHAEL - EFR
opinion of the Directors, the Group does not have any R ASEEWEEMENR
significant liquidity risk exposure. B &Rk -
The following table details the remaining contractual TRFFAREERARRIELT
maturities at the reporting date of the Group’s and AermBERESRE B
the Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities, TEQEEBER TR ER
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash ARIREHRER (BREKFTN
flows (including interest payments computed using MEY (ERER)EBEH
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current Hz BN EXFEZNEX
at the reporting date) and the earliest date the Group B AR AREE KA AR A g
and the Company can be required to pay: FEYMNzEFAHMmMEN
Group
x&E
On Within Within Over Carrying
demand 1year 1to2years 2 years Total amount
RER -FR -ZMER BEWEF ait REE
HK§000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS$'000
TET TR TERT TET TET TET
As at 31 March 2013 RZB-ZF=Zf=t-H
Trade and bills payables BB REREE 72,49 23,835 - - 96,331 96,331
Other payables and accruals ~ H AN TBREER 50,688 - - - 50,688 50,688
Amount due to a non-controling ¥ F—%
shareholder of a subsidiary FEERAR R IR 1,129 - - - 1,129 1,129
Amount due to a director [Eff—2EZ50E - 5,541 - - 5,541 5,541
Borrowings &8 52,885 462,726 - - 515,611 502,811
Convertiole bond RRES - 9,024 911,425 - 920,449 756,961
177,198 501,126 911,425 - 1589749 1,413461
RinEBEZERARAT « — T =—FFR 147
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. HMBRERERE#)
6.5 Liquidity risk (Continued) 6.5 MBESEM 2
Group
¥
On Within Within Over Carrying
demand 1year 1to2years 2 years Total amount
BRER —FR —-ZWER BBMEF ait BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEL TEL T T T
As at 31 March 2012 RZZE—Z—F=A=1+—H
Trade and bills payables ERRARENZE 51,245 10,991 - - 62,236 62,236
Other payables and accruals ~ EAtfER FAREEA 67,458 = = = 67,458 67,458
Amount due to a non-controling  ERfFAE—%4
shareholder of a subsidiary FEERAR R IR 1,522 - - - 1,522 1,522
Amount due to a director ER—ZEFHA 186 5,000 - - 5,186 5,186
Borrowings EE 27,794 727,033 - - 754,827 747,004
Convertible bond AR ES - 10,730 10,730 1,083,524 1,104,984 791,992
148,205 753,754 10,730 1,083,524 1,996,213 1,675,398
Company
ARAH
On Within Within Over Carrying
demand 1year 1to2years 2 years Total amount
REX —FR —EMER BEWF At BEE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET TR TERT TEL TEL TET
As at 31 March 2013 R=Z-=5=A=1+-H
Other payables and accruals ~ E A ERT A K BB F 4,548 - - - 4,548 4,548
Amount due to a subsidiary BN —MTRAFRE 178,251 - - - 178,251 178,251
Convertible bond AR ES - 9,024 911,425 - 920,449 756,961
182,799 9,024 911,425 - 1,103,248 939,760
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HMKEKRERE &)
6.5 Liquidity risk (Continued) 6.5 RBELSEK 2
Company
AN
On Within Within Over Carrying
demand 1year 1to2years 2 years Total amount
BERX  —Fn -ZAEA  BARE st mEE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT FAT FAT TAT AT

As at 31 March 2012 RZZ——#=A=1+—H

Other payables and accruals ~ E b fEfTHIE K B+ B H 2,560 - - - 2,560 2,560

Convertible bond THRES . 10,730 10730 1083524 1,104,984 791,092

2,560 10,730 10730 1083524 1,107,544 794,552
6.6 Fair value 6.6 AY¥E

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities cHMEENEREENATE

are determined as follows: TR TH A RETE !

. the fair value of the Group’s financial assets at . AEBIZATEREZ
fair value are calculated by using quoted price; CREENAFEE T
and KARETE: &

o the fair value of other financial assets and o EMmemEE ke
financial liabilities are determined in accordance BENANFE THIRE
with generally accepted pricing models based TERMNNTEEER
on discounted cash flow analysis. ERFBERERONE

E o

Apart from for the convertible bond at fair value Br B HS SRR MO SES4FT I 2 1R

described in note 34 to the financial statements, FEARZITBREBEESIN &

the Directors consider that the carrying amounts ERE  RERE MBI RRIE
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded HEKAARNERMEENS
at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of MEENEEIEEESARE
financial position approximate their respective fair WA ATFEES -
values at the end of the reporting period.

Rt EBEERER AT e T —=FFR
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
6.6 Fair value (continued)

The following table presents financial assets and
liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of
financial position in accordance with the fair value
hierarchy. The hierarchy groups financial assets
and liabilities into three levels based on the relative
reliability of significant inputs used in measuring the
fair value of these financial assets and liabilities. The
fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

- Level 1: quoted price (unadjusted) in an active
markets for identical assets and liabilities;

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable
of the asset and liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);
and

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that
are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

6. HMKEKRERE &)

6.6

NEE (&)
TREJIREBEAFEZERE U
NEEFATBERAER Z S/
BENBE WEBRETE
hWEeRmEERBEZAFE
Frff Az EEE R A 2B
ARl HSemEERAEE
DAEZE RTEEED B
TEE:

- S-RE:HREERA
ERIER™M S 2 RE
(REFHE)

- F-E REERERE
mE & (AMES) 3 H
E(BIEERER)A
BRZERBA(TE
RE-—REBREEZR
B): &

- FZE:URREAE
RZMGBEMSE L
ZCEELBEERE
AEBEBREZENS
A) e
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. HMKRBERE &)
6.6 Fair value (Continued) 6.6 NFE(#)
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the PRIEENBEREBMERA
financial asset or liability is categorised in its entirely ZAFEEBRAZER THE
is based on the lowest level of input that is significant RE QA FEFEBERZ&HE
to the fair value measurement. The financial assets R AN E RS o REBR
and liabilities measured at fair value in the statements SRR NIZ AT EFE
of financial position are grouped into the fair value ZLEeMBEERBEEID AN
hierarchy as follows: T2 AT EREE:
Group and Company
AEBERAAT
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F-B FB F=B @t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET TER TERT
As at 31 March 2013 RZZE-=5=A=1+-H
Convertible bond ARRES - 756,961 - 756,961
- 756,961 - 756,961
Group and Company
AEBRARAT
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—F F_E £=E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FTET FAET BT
As at 31 March 2012 RZE—ZF=A=1+—H
Convertible bond AR ES - 791,092 - 791,992
- 791,992 - 791,992

There have been no significant transfers between
level 1, 2 and 3 in the reporting period. The methods
and valuation techniques used for the purpose of
measuring fair value are unchanged compared to the
previous reporting period.

E/\\\ﬂmiiﬁ/ﬁﬂflﬁﬁ ’ %—:&E
ZEWEERER - ANETE
RNFEZFEREER T ERE
E2MmBEEL T EES-

Mt BEZERARDF « — T =55
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6.

Hz—_Z—

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

6.7

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts
and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Group reviews the capital structure on an
annual basis and makes adjustments to it in the
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. Based on
the review, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through raising or repayment of borrowings.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the
gearing ratio. The gearing ratio is calculated as total
indebtedness divided by total assets. At the reporting
periods ended 31 March 2013 and 2012, the Group’s
gearing ratio was 101.9% and 87.0%, respectively.

“F=ZA=t—HLHFE

6.

KRR EE 2)

6.7 EXRER
AEBEASEYNTERREA
REEREE IS BELENR
R BROE R A AE

EBRELF R AREEIER
={EE-

AEENEAERESEH R
RRBEEARGER (B
BERITRANKHE)

o

AEEESFRAERRERE X
RELERBEEHNABEEE
ME R EIE LR - RIBEA
Bies AEESEREES

EEREEFTEHEERENE

e

AEMEAEER B RER
HEK- éé%@m$&ﬁ@
BEGAAEEBBHE NE
g::——i& =%
=A=+—BILHE - A
RENEERBLEDIA
101.9% 287.0% °
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SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal financial
information reported to the executive Directors for their
decisions about resource allocation in the Group’s business
components and for their review of the performance of
those components. The business components in the internal
financial information reported to the executive Directors are
determined by the Group’s major product and service lines.

During the year, the Group has amended the presentation
of management information provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. Previously, the business of the tobacco
agricultural and fertilizer is reported under one single
segment. From 1 April 2012 onwards, the fertilizer and
pesticide operation segment is separately disclosed as an
individual operating segment. Income and expenses that
are directly attributable to the reportable segments are also
affected. Comparative figures have been restated to conform
to the current year’s presentation.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments:

- Tobacco agricultural operation;

Fertilizer and pesticide operation;

Digital television operation; and

— Healthcare products operation.

Segment results represent the profit earned or loss incurred
by each segment, but exclude interest income, unallocated
gains, corporate and other unallocated expenses, finance
costs, other gains/losses, share of results of associates,
gain on disposal of subsidiaries, loss on deconsolidation of
subsidiaries, loss on disposal on interests in associates and
income tax which are not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment.

M RREZERARQT o

R ESE

BE-F—=F=A=+—HILFE

TEBE
AEEREBEERARTESIER
REREAEEBAEBEXKENM
MERDMERBIRNZFEMLRR
B R BB B 75 B R T adk a2 A 0
REDBER - ARTESMERA
MUBERZEBEMIEASE
TBELEERRBRETE -

FR - ARECEIRHETEERE
REECZEBERMZZNTA 5%
Al BERERIEHER TN —EE
—DETEHR BT ——-FMA—
B ek R REER S R EBH
BRENEESR SRSV EE
BREZWMARAX IR E Lt
BRFETUEINERAFEZ 2
ST A —Fe

AEEERBBIAT A RE DA
- BEREXK:

- BEHRBEXRR:

- BFEBEREB K

- RREREH-

DREERESDRRR G MKE
EZEE BETEFEMNBRA KD
Folias ERREMARDER &
B B less B8 - SR EE
RAERE HEFREZWE  BUR
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( E_T—=F=A=1T—HILFE

7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. DEHE @
Segment assets include all assets, but exclude interests in DEEERREMBEEE BT EEH
associates, deferred tax assets, assets held for sale and ENRERD BREHIEEE FEH
unallocated corporate assets. EEERKIBREEEE-
Segment liabilities include all liabilities, but exclude amount NEEE \L%Fﬁﬁ%fﬁ BETBERE
due to a director, deferred tax liabilities, convertible bond and N—REEHE BELCHEBAEB 7
unallocated corporate liabilities. BmRES R 51% @E TrEBE
Segment Results (a) DEXESHE
2013 2012
-g-zf -3z
Tobacco Fertilizer and Digital  Healthcare Tobacco  Fertiizer and Digital Healthcare
agricultural pesticide television products agricultural pesticide television products
operation operation operation operation Total operation operation operation operation Total
gE BB #7  RRER BE R #F  RRER
BEEE  REEEE  ERER E3 4 B BRXB REERB  ERER £ At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
F#n F#n F#n FER &R TEn TEx TEn TEn TEn
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&5) (&51) (&51)
Segment revenue AENE
Sales to extemal customers BEFNIER 683,194 4730 6,335 401 734,660 628,805 29,381 47% 915 663,896
Other revenue EfbA 900 - - - 900 2369 = - - 2,369
684,004 44,730 6,335 401 735,560 631,174 29,381 4795 915 666,265
Segment results V] ] (124673 (13989) (639) G420 (a7te | aan) (7T Gosy  (8I20)
Reconcliaton: HE:
Interest income HERA 047 1212
Unallocated gains FARKE 15,057 10,794
Corporate and other unallocated expenses ~ CEREMAIEET (30,161) (24,360)
Finence costs BERA (22914) (21,361)
Other osses)/gains A (58) /e (156,046) 121,681
Share of resuls of associates HMEBENFEE (681) 611
(Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEFRAZ KGR - 1,760
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries RIHEBTARGATIE R - (2179)
Loss on disposals of nterests i assoclates [ ERBANTER 2Bl (1,504 -
(Gai on disposal of assets held for sale HEREREEE KE 35,469 5
(Loss)/Proft befor income tax REGRRN (58) /&7 (297,548) 34,898
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. ay o=
7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. TDEBRE @)
= anEnE N\ ST S
(b) Segment Assets and Liabilities () "EEEREE
013 012
-%-zf 3o

Tobacco Fertilizer and Digital  Healthcare Tobacco  Fertiizer and Digtal Healthcare

agricultural pesticide television products agricultural pesticide television products
operation operation operation operation Total operation operation operation operation Total

£ [ 3 REER EE e 87 REER
BRRE  RRERE  EREE £B At | BEEB  REERH  ER3R B Ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§000 HK§ 000 HK$ 000 HK§'000 HK§ 000
T T TR TR T TEL TR TEL T T
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E5) (E51) (E5) (&51) (E7)
Segment assets AEEE 1,093,194 74,174 6,606 42,620 1,216,594 1,611,363 96,797 7152 43753 1,669,085

Reconciiation: 4E:
Inferests in associates BELTESR - 16,531
Deferred tax assets EEREEE 3,399 783
Assets held for sale FERERE - 129,161
Corporate and other unallocated assets rEREMAAREE 31811 4733
Total assets BERE 1,267,870 1,817,316
Segment liabilities HERE 578,358 3,942 21,235 39,597 643,132 811,295 7825 19,480 35431 874,087
Reconcliafion: HE:

Defered tax libilties EERERE 3,120 94,341
Convertioe bond AhkES 756,961 791992
Comporate and other unalocated iabiites ~ AEREHAAEEE 16,511 13332
Total liabiities BERE 1,451,724 1,778,702

Rt EEERERAT s _ T —=—F4R 155
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

SEZA=+—AILER

7. DE®RE#)
i=i

g

(c) Other Segment Information (c) HittpEEHR
2013 2012
-%-= —2--Ff
Tobacco  Fertilizer and Digital  Healthcare Tobacco  Fertiizer and Digtal Healthcare
agricultural pesticide television products agricutural pesticide television products
operation operation operation operation Total operation operation operation operation Total
L BR 87 RRER L 8 47 REER
REXR RREEER  EREE ESd At | BERB  RBERK  EREE B it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK§ 000
Fn Fin Fin Tin TEn Tt Tt Thn TiEn Tin
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&51) (E51) (E51) (&51) (E3)
Depreciation & 5,564 - 395 2,112 8,01 5821 - 367 2,265 8459
Unallocated depreciation i 519 556
8,590 9,015
—— —
Amortisation of other Intangible assets EfhEVEERS 53,21 12,742 8 - 66,021 52,308 12498 7 - 64,808
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments Bt EHER m - - - i) 268 - - - 268
Impaiment loss on assets held for sale BEEERE HARR - 4,149
Impaiment loss on goochwl HERERE - 8495 - - 8495 -
Impairment oss on other receivables b ERFE BEBE 5,000 - - 20,000 - 20,000
Impaiment loss on other intangble assets At EFEEZHEEE 135,396 - - - 135,306 7,174 B - B 7174
Impairment loss on property, N RERZEAERE
plant and equipment 3,329 - - - 3,329 1,69
Loss on redemption of convertible bond ERUHRERZBE 44570 -
Equity-settled share-based payment WEREBTNRA AL HEE
expenses ba: 5 9,749 4567
Waiver of nterest expenses SRTRRERZHSRT
on convertible bond (9,295) 10,730
Waiver of other payables SREMERE (6,466) -
Chenge i far value of convertde bond TR E# 2 ATEZE 106,487 (125,851)
—
Capital expenditure ERRX 2,208 8 261 9 2,506 3579 - 263 3 3845
Unallocated expenditure FAEBL - 18
2,506 3,863
—— —
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SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. DEHSE#E)
(d) Geographical information (d) HEER
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s TERREHEAEEINTEFUKA
revenue from external customers and non-current NMIERBEE (EEHELE
assets other than deferred tax assets. BRoN) Z DT o
2013 2012
—E-=F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FExT FATT
Revenue from IEREF WA
external customers
The PRC s 734,660 663,896
Hong Kong BB - _
734,660 663,896
2013 2012
—E—-=F —E——4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
(Restated)
(&%)
Non-current assets ERBEE
The PRC Fh 260,490 496,057
Hong Kong BB 515 3,287
261,005 499,344

MiBEERARDF « — T =55
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7.

8.

BE-F—=F=A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continuea) 7. DEHRE#)
(d) Geographical information (Continued) (d HEEXR &)
The geographical location of customers is based on B P R Ty iR R 15 5 i
the location at which the services were provided or the miTBZUESE D - ERBE
goods delivered. The geographical location of the non- EFEIREE 2 BRI
current assets is based on the physical and operating ENBE D ARAIRREB
location of the assets. The Company is an investment A IR EER AR A
holding company incorporated in Hong Kong where SERHBMEBREITHLR
the Group has the majority of its operations and its RE - E i S BB
workforce in the PRC, and therefore, the PRC is HEAESH [KEDHE] 2
considered as the Group’s country of domicile for the BEmMS AEBEETERE
purpose of the disclosures as required by HKFRS 8 BER o
“Operating Segments”.
(e) Information about major customers (e) FEFEFPZEH
No sales to a single customer or a group of customers WEHEE -—FEPRENHER
under with common control accounted for 10% or =N B R AR Bl A SRR
more of the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 BASEEBE_T—=FK=
March 2013 and 2012. T——HF=-A=+—HILtFE
WA EI10%3R A £ o
TURNOVER 8. HXHR
2013 2012
—E—-=fF —F——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
(Restated)
(E5))
Sale of agricultural HEREEBEM K
machinery and provision of R RERS
construction services 683,194 628,805
Sale of fertilizer and pesticide 5 AR R & 2 % 44,730 29,381
Provision of digital television services IRt EF BT E K 6,335 4,795
Sale of cordyceps-related and other  $HEIL X BEEHBE D&
healthcare products H b RE2E M@ 401 915
734,660 663,896
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BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILFE

OTHER REVENUE 9. HftlgA
2013 2012
—E-=F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Dividend income from financial assets & E R B RIZ A F(E
designated at fair value through BREBZEMEEZ
profit or loss & B A - 32
Government grants (note below) BB (XX ME) 324 1,626
Interest income B U A 7,047 7,272
Waiver of interest expenses RHRABBRES M EREZ
on convertible bond (note 34(c)) (B 5E34(c) ) 9,295 10,730
Waiver of other payables T bR H fth FE 1 5RIB 6,466 —
Sundry income LI PN 772 775
23,904 20,435
Note: B 5

Government grants mainly include government grants received for

investments in Jiangsu province in the PRC. There are no unfulfilled

conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

BT ERENTEIIHEREMES
Z B BY o Ut F 4 B 3 SR MY S AR R R B IR
IR ERAEEE

Mt RREZERERATB e — T =—FFH
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10.

11.

BE-F-=F=A=+—HILFE

OTHER LOSSES/(GAINS) 10. HtEE  (R#E)
2013 2012
—E—-=F =%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Change in fair value of financial BT RRIBRRIR
assets designated at fair value AVFEREZEMEEL
through profit or loss NFEEE (3) 22
Gain on bargain purchase EEWE W (8) -
Gain on disposal of assets HERFEHEEE 2 KE
held for sale (35,469) -
Impairment loss on property, Y% - 25 R R E BB
plant and equipment 3,329 1,696
Impairment loss on assets held RIEHEEERERBE
for sale - 4,149
Impairment loss on other receivables  E b /& U X IE B (B &5 18 5,000 20,000
Loss on redemption of convertible BRI ES 2 EE
bond 44,570 -
Loss on disposal of interests in HEBE AR
associates B 1,504 -
Change in fair value of convertible ik ESR A TFEEZH
bond 106,487 (125,851)
125,410 (99,084)
FINANCE COSTS 11. BMERAE
2013 2012
—E—= —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Interest on bank loans wholly BRAFAEIEEZ
repayable within five years IRITEKFE 14,701 22,314
Interest on other loans EMERZHE 8,213 4,621
Reversal of interest expenses BE F—FEBEREL
over-provided in prior year FEX - (5,574)
22,914 21,361
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Notes to the financial statements
T EL

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

12. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 12. BRETEHA (E8) &7
(Loss)/Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/ BETERAT (BE) S RFEmg
(crediting): (T A TS IBER:

2013 2012
—E2-= —E—_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
(Restated)
=)
(@)  Staff costs @ BIKA
Contributions to defined 7] 7 2B 4 FUR AR ET &
contribution retirement plans HER (HT5E44)
(note 44) 2,170 2,514
Equity-settled share-based AR S E I AR
payment expenses (note 36) AINEEZRAE
(H+7%36) 672 994
Salaries, wages and other HF& 18K
benefits H {th 48 F 45,927 40,465
48,769 43,973

Mt BEZERARDF « — T =55
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Notes to the financial statements

R ESE

For the year ended 31 March 2013

Hz—_Z—

“F=ZA=t—HLHFE

12. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX ontinues) ~ 12. BREFBHBiAT (EE) % F
(%)
2013 2012
—E-=5F —F—=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
(o)  Other items (o) EAIEHE
Amortisation 5K
— prepaid land lease payment — AN T EER 273 268
— other intangible assets —HmmEEEE 66,021 64,808
Gain on bargain purchase* =EEBEWE 8 -
Depreciation on property, ESY 1YE L A
plant and equipment e 8,590 9,015
Loss on disposals of property, HEWFE WS
plant and equipment & B 1R 342 19
Write-off of property, Y3 - MBS AR AR
plant and equipment i 85 1,956 =
Gain on disposal of assets HEFEHEEEL
held for sale & (35,469) =
Impairment losses BIEEE
— property, plant and —WE s R
equipment (note 18) (Fft5E18) 3,329 1,696
— goodwill (note 20) — 2 (MIsE20) 8,495 —
— other intangible assets —HihEEEE
(note 21) (FFaE21) 135,396 77,174
— assets held for sale —BEHEERE
(note 29) (FF5E29) - 4,149
— other receivables — H {th FE W BR 3K 5,000 20,000
Operating lease charges: KEREER
minimum lease payments wIEEE R
— hire of building ~MAET 5,371 5,342
— hire of office equipment —MHRABRAERE 62 59
Auditors’ remuneration ZE AT B &
— audit services in current year —ZHRE—AFE 950 1,315
— audit services (over)/under —ZH R (FBRR
provided in prior years B BETRE
—NAEFE (778) 18
— other services in current year —HMRE—AEE 1,046 1,398
Cost of inventories recognised ERALSRAXZTFE
as expense A AR 484,689 428,125
Research and development MEkHZER
costs 5,431 4,823
* Gain on bargain purchase is included in “Other (losses)/ * ZEBE Hﬂz/m IA&ZREE
gains” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive Ejlﬁll%ni% Hib (BE) /K
income.
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13.

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

R ESE

BE_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 13. EEME
Directors’ emoluments and fee for the year, disclosed BIEEIZE R LR A REHEQFE
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and Section 161 of the PIE1GIEBEBRCES2FEME R
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, are as follows: MEWAT:
Salaries, allowances Retirement scheme Share-based
Fees and benefits in kind contributions Sub-total payments Total
e e RERRUNE BIRGEES it NRABXAERTE Ait
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Z8-ZE| ZB-CF| Z%-ZF | 2F-"F | Z%-ZF | CT--F | Z%-Zf | CF-F | ZB-IE| CF-CF | CB-ZE| D2-0F
HK$'000 HK§'000 | HK$'000 HK$'000 |  HK$'000 HK§'000 |  HK$'000 HK$'000 | HK$'000 HK$'000 | HK$'000 HK$'000
TER T TET FiEm TER THL TER THL TER Tin TER T
Executive Directors HTEE
Jingquan Yingzi HEEU - - 416 476 3 - 447 476 - - a1 476
Wong Man Hung Patrick ED ¢/ - 12 887 804 15 12 902 828 359 = 1,261 828
Shan Xiaochang BES - = 415 476 - = 415 476 - - 415 476
Wu Zhongxin R - = H5 476 - - 415 476 - - 415 476
Feng Xiaoping (resigned HOE(RZB-2%
on 28 September 2012) MAZTN\BEE) - - 53 128 - - 53 128 - = 53 128
Stephen William Frostick Stephen William Frostick - 140 130 - 6 7 136 147 - - 136 147
Non-executive Director ~ ##7TEZ
Prof. Liu Guoshun A8 BHIR - - - - - - - - - - - -
Independent Non-executive L ##77EZ
Directors
Sousa Richard Avaro BENX 8 I} - - - - 8 78 - - 78 78
Lee Ohi Hwa Joshua 2R% 8 8 - - - - 8 8 - - 8 78
Zhao Zhizheng (appointed ~ BEE (R=F-—&
on 26 July 2012) tBZt/ BEZE) 53 - - - - - 53 - - - 53 -
Chan Mei Bo Mabe! REE(R-2-2F
(resigned on 27 April 201 MA=FtAE() % 78 - = - - 25 78 - - 2% 78
Total Bt 234 386 2,316 2,360 52 19 2,602 2,765 359 - 2,961 2,765

The Directors’ emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to their contribution in terms of time, effort and
expertise. The emoluments are reviewed on an annual basis.

During the year, a director was granted share options, in
respect of his services to the Group, under the share option
scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out
in note 36 to the financial statements. The fair value of these
options, which has been recognised in the income statement
over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of
grant and the amount included in the financial statements
for the current year is included in the Directors’ remuneration
disclosures above.

M BEERERAT s — 5 =4

E=EMEe VREFTE2EHBRZ
BE-SNORBEXNBEMETE - AR
MR FFiaT e

Fpy —HEEALAREEEMRY
MR 75 AR S 2 ) 2 W AR £ 8L
IR - L — SRS BB 5 R
RUTHES6 - R EWBE 2 ATE (B
REB AR RN ER) REY
B ERESE - TR A B T B O )
B oHABHALXEFHE 2
HE -
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Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R B & F

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=HA=+—HIFE

14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 14. ANBRSEHE AL
The five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year FA AEBRAUGEEHEATEER
included two directors (2012: one director), details of whose BEF(ZT——F:—%E=F) H
remuneration are set out in note 13 above. Details of the & FEIBE A ESXMEE13 - FART
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2012: four) ZEZ(CE——F R )R HE
highest paid employees are as follows: BZMEFB0NT:
2013 2012
—E—-=F —ET—_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EAREDN=
in kind 1,419 2,034
Equity-settled share-based payment — JAREZS 45 & I AR D A 2+
expenses (note 36) X7 RZ (K3E36) 289 637
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET S 60 36
1,768 2,707
The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals, other Tfusm#H AL (EERIN) 282
than the director, fell within the following bands: NFETHEE :

Number of individuals

AE
2013 2012
—E—= —E——fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&E75)
Emolument bands i & &5 &
HK$ Nil to HK$1,000,000 =802 1,000,00058 7T 3 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 1,000,001%& L&
3,000,000 T - =
3 4
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14.

15.

Notes to the f

For the year ended 31 March 2013

inancial statements

B R AR M A

BE_Z—=F=A=+—RHILFE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued) 14. EUBRSHFEAL (&)
During the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012, no HE-_ZT—=FKk=-FT—=-F=H
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors =+—HLEFE AEESEREW
or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or EER A& S A L X E A B
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. SEAME AR INAREE B
None of the Directors have waived any emoluments during ZREABBAE - FABEESNK
the year. ZEMME -
INCOME TAX CREDIT 15. Fi5HiiER
2013 2012
—E-=F —EF—_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
(Restated)
(&%)
Current tax - Hong Kong EHBE-FBIEH
Profits Tax
Provision for the year FREEE - =
Current tax — PRC Enterprise EHHE-PELEFRESH
Income Tax
Provision for the year FREEE 8,476 14,692
Under/(Over)-provision in respect of ~ BEEETR, (B ) B
prior years 420 (2,221)
8,896 12,471
Deferred tax IEFERLIE
Origination and reversal of temporary ~ E B =58 7 &= 4 MO
differences (note 33) (Ff¥5E33) (53,850) (30,432)
Income tax credit TSt & (44,954) (17,961)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the
financial statements as there were no estimated assessable
profits for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012.

HREBEE T =Fk_T——F
A=t BUEFETEMGER
FomA o BTSRRI B F A

SHIEL R -

Mt RBREZERERAT e — T =—FFH
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Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R Bt & F

For the year ended 31 March 2013

15.

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

In accordance with the relevant tax laws and regulations in
the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries are subject to an enterprise
income tax rate of 25% (2012: 25%) on its taxable income.
However, one of the PRC subsidiaries is entitled to
exemption of enterprise income tax for two years starting
from the first year of profitable operations after offsetting prior
year tax losses, followed by a three-year 50% tax reduction.
Accordingly, the PRC subsidiary enjoyed 50% tax deduction.
After the expiry of the above tax concession on 31 December
2012, that subsidiary had been designated as a High-Tech
Enterprise and its PRC enterprise income tax rate was
subjected to 15% in accordance with the relevant PRC
tax laws and regulations. The remaining subsidiaries of the
Company in the PRC are subject to PRC enterprise income
tax at 25% (2012: 25%) on their taxable income.

Reconciliation between the income tax credit and accounting
(loss)/profit at applicable tax rates is as follows:

BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILtFE

15.

EBHRER (©)

RETFEBRBBEEALBER  FETA
AR E BRI M AIZ25% (=F
—ZF26%) 2R R
B Ep—HPEFLAEE
HEFEBERBN G FEMESF
BEEBRRBMNEEMENR  HR=F
HE50% ° Bt ZPEFRAER
50% IR % o I £ A% TR —
T—_F+_A=+—HEME %
FRABEETRMBUREEER R
BREEBRARBR  ZARZF
BERMBHRER/I5% ARAEZ
Hiph B+ 2 A AL H R WA
H25% (Z T —ZF:25% ) 2F E
EEMETH R -

WERREXFEZHERELZLE
(B8R, ad 2 HERINT -

2013 2012
—E2—-= —E—_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BRETBELAT (B18) = (297,548) 34,898
Tax calculated at domestic income tax #Z A3 BT 1551 %£16.5%
rate of 16.5% (2012: 16.5%) —E——%F:16.5%)
FTE IR (49,095) 5,758
Tax effect of share results of FEEEE S N R B
associates M E 112 (101)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BAERR M e 2 RIS & (32,859) (37,966)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A~ a] f1%% 5% = T 75 2 & 38,890 21,936
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FIERIHIBE B 2 KT 2 73 358
Under/(Over)-provision in respect of ~ @EFERE, (#B%58)
prior year R 420 (2,221)
Profit not subject to tax due to tax TR 75 B R T 5 78 ek 5 v )
concessions (5,348) (10,731)
Effect of different tax rates in other Hth el AR TR E 2
jurisdictions TE 2,853 5,006
Income tax credit FrigtiE® (44,954) (17,961)
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

16. LOSS/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE l16.
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
The loss/profit attributable to owners of the Company
includes a loss of HK$153,775,000 (2012: a profit of
HK$58,370,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company.
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 17.

17.

(@)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by
dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year excluding ordinary
shares purchased by the Company.

R ESE

BE_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

ERBREEARBEFEER

iz A

NAEHEE AELEBE&FeEE
$8153,775,0008 L (ZF——4F :
Y 758,370,000 7T ) ' ER AR A
2R ERAEL R -

sk (BE) BF

(a)

FEREXR(BR) BFZA
FEARBIHEAARMNE (B
18),/BAMBRIAFRE TS
BE(MEREARRERZE
B Z NG E -

2013 2012
—E—-=F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
(Restated)
(&%)
(Loss)/Profit attributable to RARHE AENL (EE)
owners of the Company i A (248,806) 50,463
Weighted average number EBITEBERZMEFHE
of ordinary shares in issue (Fr%)
(thousands) 2,713,798 2,713,798

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the
years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012 have been
presented as equal because the exercise prices of
the Company’s share options were higher than the
average market price for these years and therefore the
effect is considered as anti-dilutive.

No adjustment has been made to the basic (loss)/
earnings per share amounts presented for the
years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012 in respect
of a dilution as the impact of the convertible bond
outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic
(loss)/earnings per share amounts presented.

Mt BEZERBERRA « T —=F%F

E

BARAREBBRETEESR
ZEFEZFMEILE M
R R REEE  FLEE
—E-=FR-T-_-F=H
=T -HLEFEZEREREK
HE (B8R B2 KH
EE

R M AR T T3 AT R B (E 5 T P
ERZ2EBRER(EER) B
FMEBRBETE K5
HE_ZT—=Ffr-_ZFT——F
A=+t BIFEMEHRZ
EREX(EB), BFEL

o

i3
OH]
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R Bt & F

For the year ended 31 March 2013

=F=-A=1t—BLLFE

18. M- -#BERKRE

Group REE
Furniture,
Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor
Buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
B
B HENEEE B R 2 RERRE RE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL FHEL TEL THEL THEL FHET
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&5) (&31) (&31) (&%) (&51) (&31)
Cost B
At 1 April 2011 W=—Z——&mA—H
As previously reported MERZR 33,483 12,916 55,365 10,899 12,042 124,705
Prior years’ adjustments BEFERE 14,148 (1,626) (1,939) (574) (1,601) 8,408
As restated 55 47,631 11,290 53,426 10,325 10,441 133,113
Additions b = 1,994 729 174 966 3,863
Disposals e - (336) = (157) = (493)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40) & T2 &) (H&40) - - (2,399) (390) (1,018) (3,807)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries BIFERTARIGATIER
(note 41) (KizEa1) - - (426) (408) (1,290) 2,124)
Exchange differences EREE 1,764 349 1,870 159 299 4,441
At 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 R=E—=F=f
(as restated) =+-HAR-ZE——#&
mA—A (E5) 49,395 13,297 53,200 9,703 9,398 134,993
Additions 1858 = = 292 159 2,055 2,506
Disposal HeE - - - - (765) (765)
Write-off g - (2,657) - - = (2,657)
At 31 March 2013 R-Z-=%=A=+-H 49,395 10,640 53,492 9,862 10,688 134,077
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Notes to the financial statements
B 7% B R Bt & E

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=HA=+—HILFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continved) 18. Y% -#BRFXE &)

&%= 42

Group (Continued) REE ()

Furniture,

Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor

Buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total

B
B HENEEE = R 2R RERRE AE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FHEL THEL TEL TET FEL
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E31) (Z51) (&51) (E51) (E731) (E71)

Accumulated depreciation and ~ R&HTE REE

impairment
At 1 April 2011 R=—F——FNA—H

As previously reported mER 2% 1,340 3,380 25,549 7,716 3,206 41,191

Prior years’ adjustments BEFERE 4,387 (1,625) (2,095) (300) (662) (295)

As restated E2] 5,727 1,755 23,454 7,416 2,544 40,896
Depreciation e 1,685 1,432 3,125 919 1,854 9,015
Reclassification L - 60 (60) - - -
Disposals HE = 172) = (95) = (267)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40) & F 2 &) (Hz40) - - (201) (179 (229) (603)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries BIFEATRARIGATIER

(note 41) (Fikat) - - (146) (151) (346) (643)
Impairment loss REEE 1,696 - - - - 1,696
Exchange differences ERESR 281 78 919 57 48 1,383

At 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 R =Z——%

(as restated) =A=t-8HRk

—Z-—4MmA—H

(&31) 9,389 3,153 27,001 7,973 3,871 51,477
Depreciation nE 1,715 1,607 2,996 788 1,484 8,590
Disposals & - = = = (364) (364)
Write-off ik - (701) - - - (701)
Impairment loss REEE 3,329 - - - - 3,329
At 31 March 2013 R=-Z-=%5=A=1+-H 14,433 4,059 30,087 8,761 4,991 62,331
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 March 2013 R-B-=f(=A=+-H 34,962 6,581 23,405 1,101 5,697 71,746
At 31 March 2012 R-Z——&#=f=1+-H 40,006 10,144 26,109 1,730 5,527 83,516
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Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R Bt & F

For the year ended 31 March 2013

18.

19.

BE-F—=F=A=+—HILFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 18.

As at 31 March 2013, certain of the Group’s buildings with
a net carrying amount of approximately HK$34,401,000
(2012: HK$36,337,000) have been pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group as disclosed in note

M3 HERRE (B

R-—ZE—=F#=F=+—R8 &%&
] 55 E S B 4934,401,0005 78 (=%
— — % :36,337,000/87T) 2 &5 T 1&
FEREFEAWNIRABEENER

32. FrE—MIRITRUAEE 2 IR
PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 19. EFL#HEER
Group rxE
2013 2012
—E-=F —E—_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHE T
(Restated)
(&%)
Carrying amount IREE
At 1 April R A—AR
As previously reported I 55 BT 2 7R 6,739 6,730
Prior years’ adjustments (note 4(a)) BEFEAE (Hitsa) 4,534 4,404
As restated ]l 11,273 11,134
Amortisation provided during the year 4 & # §5 % & (273) (268)
Exchange differences N E58 - 407
At 31 March R=A=+—8” 11,000 11,273
Current portion included in other T AE A FE Y FRIE 2
receivables mE) =D (273) (273)
Non-current portion ERENEZBD 10,727 11,000

The leasehold land is situated in Mainland China and is held

under a medium term lease.

At 31 March 2013, the Group’s prepaid land lease payments
with a net carrying amount of approximately HK$11,000,000
(2012: approximately HK$11,273,000) has been pledged
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group as
disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements.

M 377 B A3 - 1R AR A
ST

R-ZE—=F=ZA=+—H A&EH
BRI F{E A2 #911,000,0008 7 (=
T — —4F: 411,273,000 7T) 2 B
Nt HEREERERVBRE
MIFEQ2FTH B A S B FTE — AR ER1T
BRI IR
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Notes to the financial statements
T EL

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

GOODWILL 20. BB
Group rKE
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2011, as restated R-_T——FMmMA—H F5|
Cost B AR 305,586
Accumulated impairment ZFHRAE (291,482)
Net carrying amount AREFE 14,104
Cost at 1 April 2011, net of accumulated RZE——FMHA—BZKA
impairment (HBR REHRE)
As previously reported o % B 2 7R 777,347
Prior years’ adjustments (note 4(a)) BEFERE (Hikd@) (763,243)
As restated E]) 14,104
Derecognised on disposal of subsidiaries BUEMER & 72 a (M3E40)
(note 40) (222)
Derecognised on deconsolidation of BUBERKR ILEAT R AIEREFIEE
subsidiaries (note 41) (FF5E41) (816)
Exchange differences PE W A= RE 498
At 31 March 2012 R-_E——F=H=+—H 13,564
At 1 April 2012, as restated R-ZE——FWA—H F7|
Cost B 315,842
Accumulated impairment Z:tRE (302,278)
Net carrying amount AREVFE 13,564
Net carrying amount at 1 April 2012, R-ZZE——FWNA—BZ2EEFE
net of accumulated impairment (1% 2ztEE)
As previously reported N 5 Bl 2 7R 776,323
Prior years’ adjustments (note 4(a)) BAEFEAE (KiEd@)) (762,759)
As restated Edl 13,564
Impairment loss BIEEE (8,495)
At 31 March 2013 R-ZE—=%=A=+—H 5,069
At 31 March 2013 R=2—-=%=ZA=+—H
Cost B 315,842
Accumulated impairment REHRAE (310,773)
Net carrying amount BREF(AE 5,069

Mt BEZERARDF « — T =55
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Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R Bt & F

For the year ended 31 March 2013

20.

Hz—_Z—

GOODWILL (Continuead)
Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been
allocated to the following CGUs for impairment testing:

- Tobacco agricultural cash-generating unit; and
- Fertilizer and pesticide cash-generating unit.

At the Acquisition date, the management had originally
anticipated that there would be a significant growth in the
tobacco agricultural CGU and fertilizer and pesticide CGU in
subsequent years. However, as to the fact that the benefit
of expected synergies and revenue growth had been slower
than expected and the changes in industry policy may have
imposed uncertainties over the business, it was also noted
that the working capital calculation adopted in the previous
valuation for subsequent impairment testing of the CGU
did not comply with HKAS36 — Impairment of Asset, such
that the goodwill of both CGUs was significantly impaired in
subsequent years.

Tobacco agricultural cash-generating unit

For the year under review, the recoverable amount of the
tobacco agricultural CGU has been determined based on
a value in use calculation by taking into account the cash
flow projections that based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a seven-year period (2012: seven-
year period) which reflects the prevailing economic pattern
of the operation and valued by the professional valuers. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 29.2%
(2012: 28.6%). The growth for the calculation of the terminal
value is 3% (2012: 3%) which was benchmarked to the long
term average growth rate of the market.

“F=ZA=t—HLHFE

20.

BE B

R 2R ERE
BREBAHUB I HERSRSR
THIR S EEBETRHERS :

- RERERXBESELABU R
- EHRRERSELEB-
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R EIERRIES BE RITEBER
BLAIRE g RZEBHRHEE I -
HIFER MR eELBU &
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BESHBEITFEEBGTER
FEIH—EERE Bt MERS
EXBNCEHEERERFEAR
VERER

BERXBETELEN

REEFE EERERASELSN
Z T B SRR T AR 15 3R FE L K2
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Tobacco agricultural cash-generating unit (Continued)

Based on the value in use calculation, the goodwill
associated with the tobacco agriculture CGU was fully
impaired as at 31 March 2011 and impairment loss
was further recognised on (1) other intangible assets of
approximately HK$187,676,000, HK$77,174,000, and
HK$135,396,000 and (2) property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$3,830,000, HK$1,696,000, and
HK$3,329,000, for the years ended 31 March 2011, 2012
and 2013 respectively as the recoverable amounts of this
CGU is less than the carrying value in respective year.

Fertilizer and pesticide cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the fertilizer and pesticide CGU
has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period (2012: ten-year period) approved
by management and valued by the professional valuers.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was
17.38% (2012: 20.36%) and cash flows beyond the five-year
period were extrapolated using a growth rate of 3% (2012:
3%) by reference to the long term average growth rate.

Goodwill associated with the fertilizer and pesticide CGU
was impaired by approximately HK$19,491,000 as at 31
March 2011 and recognised a further impairment loss of
approximately HK$8,495,000 for the year ended 31 March
2013 due to the recoverable amounts of this CGU is less
than the carrying value.

Mt REEZERBRAT « —T—

20.

R ESE

BE-F—=F=A=+—HILFE

BE (#)
EmEZBEINR &)

EEEREBRSELEN (&)
WIEEREBETE AN ﬁ@“i
HREELEBEMNEB BN
——F=A=1+—ABHREE LD
FREBE=_T——F _T—ZFK
—E—=FE=A=t+—HIFE I
()E bR & E4)187,676,000/8 7T
77,174,000 7t 5%135,396,000/% 7T
K. (2)4) % - 14 25 % 3% # 493,830,000
¥ 7T ~ 1,696,0005% JT &%3,329,000/8
TE—SHERREEE REALE
CELEBEM2REEELNEBE
&2 BREE -

BRI BEIRESELEE

RER & R B3R S E A BA 2z AU E
HEDUBRBEEEEBH ENEEMS
BMEBEZAFH(ZE—=F: +
FH)WKBEFERAREeREEA
HECZERAEEMEE -K2ER
HY S 1538 & K fﬁ/i\;‘ﬁ_%ﬁ/ﬂwmﬁﬁ
2R EEB17.38% (ZF——_F:
20.36% ) ' MBBAAFHIBHSRE
3% (ZZE——F:3%) 2 ERER
HETE ©

HER R RERSEEENBBE S
BN _E——F=A=+—HBREE
#919,491,000/8 7T ' R LR B E
BNz A REIEE D REREE MR
HE_ZT—=ZF=-A=+—HItF
[E R — PR (B B 18 498,495,000
BT ©
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B 7% 3 R Bt & F

For the year ended 31 March 2013

20.

GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill, net of any allowance for
impairment, is allocated to the following CGUs:

BE-F—=F=A=+—HILFE

[ XD

BHE 2 BERE (#)

e EEE IR ERRERE)
TIARETHH G EESM:

2013 2012

—E—= —E——F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FHET

(Restated)

(&71)

Tobacco agricultural business EEREXRR - -
Fertilizer and pesticide business Bk} R B BEEE TS 5,069 13,564
Carrying amount at end of the year FRZEEE 5,069 13,564

Management’s key assumptions include stable profit
margins, which are determined from past performance
and its expectations for market share after taking into
consideration of prevailing market forecasts and research.
The growth rates adopted in the valuation models are
generally consistent with the forecasts found in industry
reports. The discount rates used are the one of pre-tax that
reflect specific risks of the Company in the industry.

Apart from the considerations that have been taken into
account in determining the value in use of the CGUs, the
Group’s management is not aware of any possible changes
that would necessitate changes in its key estimates.

R MBRTH BRI R RE &2
BZIEBRRBEUMBRERR
RETISERRBREE ZREN
HRAEEAMAERR-—RER
AR EFTETRRIARTT - FTARIR RS
ARBARRREAZKTERR 2
MR RE IR &K

BRETHSELBENZEREE
HEZBEZARIN AEEEEEL
NHBEEERATGREL UBHEFTE
EREEZ MG -
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

R ESE

BE_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 2. HthBE&EE
Group rE
Patents and Non- License
Club license competition Customer  Distribution  with definite
membership  Technologies rights ~ Tradename  agreements relationships network  useful lives Total
BEER
NERESL
efies #if SARFAE HEER  TREHE EFBE AHBR FUE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T AT T TAL Thx TAL AT T AT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E51) (&51) (&2) (€27) (E51) (51) (&5) (51)
(note a) (note b) (note ¢)
(Kta) (Hb) (Hic)
At 1 April 2011 R-Z——ERmA-H
— As previously reported ~-MENZH 158 142,770 - - - = = - 142,928
— Prior years’ adjustments -BEFERZ
(note 4(a) (Mi3E4(a)) = (103,813) 100,467 127,09 46,558 32,622 154,938 - 357,868
- As restated ~&5 158 38,957 100,467 127,006 46,558 32,622 154,938 - 500,796
Amortisation for the year FEEH g} (14,732) - - (15981) (8,665) (25,429) - (64,808)
Impaiment losses HEEE - @,701) (19.276) (24,387) (3872 = (04,938) = 77,174)
Exchange differences ERER 6 1,083 3,364 4,256 1,357 1,048 4,805 - 15919
At 81 March 2012 RIZ-Z%
=A=t-H 157 20,607 84,555 106,965 28,062 25,005 109,382 - 374,733
At 1 April 2012 RZZ-—FRmE-H
- As previously reported WA EH 157 57,347 - - - - - - 57,504
- Prior years' adjustments -BLEERE
(note 4(a) (GEZE)) - (36,740) 84,555 106,965 28,062 25,005 100,382 . 317,229
- As restated —&j 157 20,607 84,555 106,965 28,062 25,005 109,382 - 374,733
Acquisition of a subsiciary hE-BTRA
(note 39) (Fiz£39) - - - - - - - 147 147
Amortisation for the year FRENE ) (15,005) - - (16,276) (8,825) (25,894) (13) (66,021)
Impairment losses RESE - (2,664) (40,133) (50,773) 2,192 - (39,634) - (135,396)
At 31 March 2013 R=%-Z%
=fA=1-AH 149 2,938 44,422 56,192 9,504 16,180 43,854 134 173,463
Notes: B 5
(@) The patents and license rights (“Licenses”) was purchased as (@) BRI RETAIRE ([Fral ] ) DERR
part of business combinations in the Acquisition of Kang Yuan —E-ZHE-_A-HWERREE
Group in 1 February 2010. The Directors are of the opinion that ZEBEHz—HMBoMBE - EF
the upkeep of the Licenses are at minimal cost and the Group REABETAIRZHEEDRIEZK
would be able to renew the License continuously. K BAREEGEMFESETA
o
B EZEERERAT « —T—=FFW
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Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R Bt & F

For the year ended 31 March 2013

21.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(@) (Continued)

The Licenses are considered by the management of the Group
as having an indefinite life and thus will not be amortised until
their useful lives are determined to be finite upon reassessment
annually. Nevertheless, they will be subject to impairment test
annually, and whenever there is an indication, impairment testing
will be conducted.

(b) The tradename is considered by management to have indefinite
useful lives and there is no foreseeable limit to the period over
which they are expected to generate cash flows for the Group as
it is expected that their value will not be reduced through usage
and there are no legal or similar limits on the period for the use of
the tradename.

(c) The useful life of customer relationships that arose from the
aforesaid business combination, were estimated on the basis
that their expected successful rate in retaining the acquirees’
customers, and the prevailing general practice in the industry
in estimating the expected useful life of customer relationships
acquired in business combination. The amortising period for
customer relationships is 5 years (2012: 5 years).

(d) These intangible assets are used in the Group’s tobacco
agricultural segment and fertilizer and pesticide segment. The
Group recognised an impairment losses for these intangible
assets of approximately HK$135,396,000 for the year under
review (2012: HK$77,174,000) which has been reflected in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment testing of other intangible assets

Other intangible assets acquired through business
combinations have been allocated to the following CGUs for
impairment testing:

— Tobacco agricultural cash-generating unit; and
- Fertilizer and pesticide cash-generating unit.

At the Acquisition date, management had originally
anticipated that there would be a significant growth in the
tobacco agricultural CGU and fertilizer and pesticide CGU in
subsequent years. However, as to the fact that the benefit
of expected synergies and revenue growth had been slower
than expected and the changes in industry policy may have
imposed uncertainties over the business, it was also noted
that the working capital calculation adopted in the previous
valuation for subsequent impairment testing of the CGU
did not comply with HKAS36 — Impairment of Asset, such
that the goodwill of both CGUs was significantly impaired in
subsequent years.

BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILtFE

21.

HEtw\B\EEE &)
G

(a) (&)

EEEEGRRAEARERRSE
H YR E IS REBFEEENEF
EfBEEEAERAFHSERE
Lk R - BRAEGFE RIA B IRE Y
REETRERR -

(o) AR EEEEKGIEERTERA
FREH B ALSBTERRE
MEHR R E R BRARGH  AAE
HEEzEBETSRAEAMmMERD
5 AR 2 HARR TN A B sl iE
LLBR 1) o

(©) EEl¥EBEHMEEZEFBE
ZAERFRIREASEEEERE
RIRB WU EE A R E 2 TEHAR TN &
REARGTRESE HFRMREG
CERFBRZEHAIFERFHZE
1T— BRI T UAEE - BREBR &
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() ZEEREAERRASEZEER
EDERAER KRB EES ER - AREEMN
OEFERZEELEERRRE
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F 771740008 7T) ' EREGEE
U s R Ak o
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BCRIEE RAFRTHRIEEM
HIiWEB2 R ReEEBM 21K
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BESHBEIITEE B LR
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21.

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment testing of other intangible assets
(Continued)

Tobacco agricultural cash-generating unit

For the year under review, the recoverable amount of the
tobacco agricultural CGU has been determined based on
a value in use calculation by taking into account the cash
flow projections that based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a seven-year period (2012: seven-
year period) which reflects the prevailing economic pattern
of the operation and valued by the professional valuers. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 29.2%
(2012: 28.6%). The growth for the calculation of the terminal
value is 3% (2012: 3%) which was benchmarked to the long
term average growth rate of the market.

Based on the value in use calculation, the goodwill
associated with the tobacco agriculture CGU was fully
impaired as at 31 March 2011 and impairment loss
was further recognised on (1) other intangible assets of
approximately HK$187,676,000, HK$77,174,000, and
HK$135,396,000 and (2) property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$3,830,000, HK$1,696,000, and
HK$3,329,000, for the years ended 31 March 2011, 2012
and 2013 respectively as the recoverable amounts of this
CGU is less than the carrying value in respective year.

Fertilizer and pesticide cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the fertilizer and pesticide CGU
has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period (2012: ten-year period) approved
by management and valued by the professional valuers.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was
17.38% (2012: 20.36%) and cash flows beyond the five-year
period were extrapolated using a growth rate of 3% (2012:
3%) by reference to the long term average growth rate.

Goodwill associated with the fertilizer and pesticide CGU
was impaired by approximately HK$19,491,000 as at 31
March 2011 and recognised a further impairment loss of
approximately HK$8,495,000 for the year ended 31 March
2013 due to the recoverable amounts of this CGU is less
than the carrying value.

Mt REEZERBRAT « —T—

21.

R ESE

BE-F—=F=A=+—HILFE

Htt\EEE (&)
Hith\E & &= 2 R BRI
(&)
BEEXEBSESLEN
REEFE EERERSEAEM
Z AW B SR T AR E IR [E ] E K&
ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁzmy&fﬁ 2B
EEACEFH(ZE—Z=F:£F
Hﬁ)ﬁﬁ‘%i\ S FRReRETRBTE
Z{iﬁﬁ{ Tﬁﬁ'ﬁ%zﬂi EE%/MLET’E\/E\UZ@
RZIREHE292% (ZTE—_4F:
286%) NERHFEHYMSGEREAR
EE HESKREBEEZEREAI%
ZE—CF:3%)

BEFHEBRMEFR HEEE
¥R eELEMNABZEEDR
—E——FZAZ=Z+—HEER
B IHREE_T——F =
E—_—_FR-_E—=F=A=1+—
BIEFE BROEMEFEEY
187,676,000/ 7t * 77,174,000/ 7T
%:135,396,0007% 7T & (2)¥) % - 1 23
R 1 #93,830,0005% 7T * 1,696,000
75 7T 53,329,000 JT #E — S HE R
EBEEE REANLASEABEMN 27
WEEELREEE-

ERRBEREELEN
ERREEREGEELESEML 2ATKE
HEIOAREBEEEEBHM ERTEM
BRfEEC AFER (ZE—ZF: +
FH)MGEEERAREREEAN
AECERABEMNEE -K2ER
¥R =, fﬁ,ﬂimugiﬁ Bl 58 FA
ZHBRERI738% (ZT—_F:
20.36%) ' MEBBERAFHZRERE
AB% (ZE—Z_F:3%) 2 ERX
HETE ©

HER R 2BIBSELSEMAEEZE
BIR-_FE——F=ZA=+—RHRE
#919,491,000/8 7T W N LIRS E
H Bz A El &5 DR EREE MR
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Notes to the financial statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=HA=+—HIFE

21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 21, HthEREE »)
Impairment testing of other intangible assets HittmEEE 2R ERR
(Continued) (&)

BRERERSELEN (&)

Fertilizer and pesticide cash-generating unit (Continued)

The carrying amount of other intangible assets, net of any Hth | & E 2 REE - f1RERDR
allowance for impairment, is allocated to the following CGUs: BERE DORETIHRECELESE
fir
License
Patents and Non- with
license competition Customers  Distribution definite
Technologies rights ~ Tradename  agreements relationships network  useful lives Total
REERER
B EARFUE BEAR  THIHE EFBE 2HPR FHZHT &3t

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TR TER TR FER TER TR

Tobacco agricuttural business EEREER 2,938 44,422 56,192 2,437 - 43,854 - 149,843
Fertizer and pesticide business EHEEEEK - - - 7,151 16,180 - 134 2341
At 31 March 2013 R-8-Z5=A=1-H 2,938 44,422 56,192 9,504 16,180 43,854 134 173,314
License
Patents and Non- with
license competition Customers Distribution definite
Technologies rights Tradename agreements  relationships network useful ives Total
EEARRA
K EMREFAE ARER  THFS EFB% PHER  EHZEA @

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FiEn TR FiEn TR TEn TR TR

Tobacco agricultural business BERXEH 20,607 84,555 106,965 17,001 - 109,382 - 338510
Fertizer and pesticide business ERREEEE - - - 11,061 25,005 - - 36,066
At31 March 2012 R-B--%Zf=+-8 20607 8455 106965 28,062 005 109382 - 3T
Management’s key assumptions include stable profit e R BT 2 TS TER KR
margins, which are determined based on past performance EREZFERIBBERMSAT
and its expectations for market share after taking into XA REMBEEXRBAEE 2B
consideration of published market forecast and research. The EFMEE - HEEXTAERE K
growth rates adopted in the valuation models are generally HAZE N3R5 P TRORIAB T - FT ARG IR
consistent with the forecasts found in industry reports. The EKATTRBMARBNRERNZETER
discount rates used are the one of pre-tax and that reflect 9% .2 Tt AT AR IR 3K o

specific risk of the Company in the industry.
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21.

22.

Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R Bt & F

BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILFE

For the year ended 31 March 2013

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 21.

Apart from the considerations that have been taken into
account in determining the value in use of the CGUs, the
Group’s management is not aware of any possible changes

HiWBILEE (&)

BRETHSELBEN2EREE
REZBEZARI AEEEEEY
THBEEMATRE(C ABEFR

that would necessitate changes in its key estimates. BREFEEMHET-
INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 22. FRFEIER
Company
AAF]
2013 2012
—E-=F —ET——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FTAT
(Restated)
(&%)
Unlisted shares, at cost FEETRG  IRAKA 13,307 13,307
Less: Impairment losses BB E R (13,307) (13,307)
Amounts due from subsidiaries B UL TR Rl IH
(note a) (MFzxa) 1,853,591 1,897,207
Less: Impairment losses B OREEE (1,030,979) (1,074,619)
822,612 822,588
Amounts due to subsidiaries (note b) & F R AIFIE (MsEb) 178,251 —
Notes B =
(@) The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free (@) T R REIFIEAEER - £ 8 Ri%

and repayment on demand.

(b) The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and

repayment on demand.

(o) NFRARFEAREER 28 RR

RREE -

MiBEERARDF « — T =55
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B 7% 3 R Bt = F

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=HA=+—HIFE

22. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 22. FARER(®)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as KRB ZEEFRAIFROT
follows:
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/  issued and paid Percentage held
registration up share capital/ Group’s by the Company
Name of company and operation  registered capital effective interest indirectly Principal activities
EMARL/ BRTRBERE ARREEREZ
AR AR MR EE Y SMERFE AEEzERESR BAl TEER
2013 2012 2013 2012

—E-=% Z%--f —T-=fF —Z—f

Kang Yuan Universal Hong Kong 10,000 shares of 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Limited HKD1 per share
FRRFRERBR AR &t 10,0008 & R E{E REZR
1B T2 R
Jiangsu Kedi Modern The PRC USD11,600,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacturing and trading
Agriculture Co., Ltd. of tobacco flue-curing
agricultural machinery
and fertilizer
IEHEHERREBERRA B 11,600,000% 7T BUEREEEERERE
R
Zhengzhou Ruihao The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Trading of agricultural
Tobacco Technology machinery
Company Limited
BMRERERRERRA & AR #10,000,0007C BERERM
Henan Baorong Biological ~ The PRC RMB5,050,000 50.5% = 50.5% - Trading of fertilizer and
Technology Company pesticide

Limited (‘Henan
Baorong”) (note a)

ARERENHEAR g AR #5,050,0007C BECEREE
AR ([FFER])

(Mizta)

Henan Agricultural The PRC RMB9,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Provision of consultancy
University Kedi Modern service
Agriculture Co., Ltd.

AMERARMRREEEE B AR 9,000,000 A AR
BRAT

Sky Dragon Digital Hong Kong 21,000,000 shares of 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Television and Movies HKD1 per share
Limited

REEBZRARAA BB 21,000,0008 & IR H & REZK

1B T2 IR
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22.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R Bt & F

BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILFE

For the year ended 31 March 2013

22. ¥Rz (&)

Place of Particulars of
incorporation/  issued and paid Percentage held
registration up share capital/ Group’s by the Company
Name of company and operation  registered capital effective interest indirectly Principal activities
EMmAL, BRTRBERE ARREEREZ
AR BB MRS FHERFE rEEZERER BAL TEXH
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E-=F ZZE--%F —T-=F —T--F

Hunan Xiaoxiang Digital The PRC RMB50,000,000 70% 70% 70% 70%  Provision of digital
Television Broadcast television service
Company Limited

HERHRFERERAR o AR #50,000,0007C REHTFESR RS

Sparkle View Enterprises British Virgin 1 share of 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited Islands USD 1 per share

RELEERAA EREZHES  IREBREEIZTZ REEZKR

)

Goodside International Hong Kong 1 share of 100% 100% 100% 100%  Provision of management
Limited HKD 1 per share services

HERRERRA EE 1RBREEIETL REERRYE

&t

Hong Kong New Success ~ Hong Kong 10,000 shares of 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
International Group HKD 1 per share
Investment Company
Limited

BENBEREERE B 10,0008 & AR E REZK
BRAR 182’

Fujian Tianxin Biological The PRC USD10,000,000 72% 72% 72% 72%  Manufacturing and sales
Technology Company of cordyceps-related
Limited healthcare products

BRERBEMRE HE 10,000,000% ¢ EERHELLRERI
BRAR ARBER

Quanzhou Liangxin The PRC USD200,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacturing and sales
Biological Technology of healthcare products
Development Company
Limited

MR BEMRIEFE HE 200,000 7T EERHERRER

BRAF

MBRERRAERAT » —T—=45453
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Notes to the financial statements

St 5 SR AR B

For the year.ended 31 March 2013 _#HE-E—=—F=H=1T—HLFE

22.

23.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 22.

The above table lists out the subsidiaries of the Company
as at 31 March 2013 which, in the opinion of the Directors,
principally affected the Group’s results for the year or formed
a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.

Note:

(@) On 31 October 2012, the Group acquired a 50.5% interest in
Henan Baorong from independent third parties. Please refer to
note 39 to the financial statements for details.

FRATRIER (&)
ERIEARAR=_TE—=ZF=A
=t+t—BZTRR MEZERE %
FRAHAEERFEEEBEK
EYEABNAEEEEFELZ
ékﬂﬁo

W
—F+A=+—8 %M

===
B 1857 58 = 75 YR g B §50.5% K9
MRS o %#I%Eﬁ 2RI IS RERMTFES9 ©

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 23. BERQTER
Group
rKE
2013 2012
—_E—= —ET—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
(Restated)
(&%)
Share of net assets DIEFEE 1,148 10,631
Less: Impairment losses B OREEE (1,148) (1,148)
- 9,483
Amounts due from associates (note a) & U B = A "I IE (i sFa) 4,457 11,505
Less: Impairment losses R /JWEEEE?E\ (4,457) (4,457)
- 7,048
- 16,531

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited ¢ Annual Report 2013



23.

Notes to the financial statements

HE—

BB AR M AL

T—=F=A=+—HILFE

For the year ended 31 March 2013

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (cContinued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal associates are as

follows:

Particulars of

23.

e DTS (F
ANBZ EEBL AT

m=

EACTUNE

Place of issued and paid up
incorporation/  share capital/ Group’s Percentage held
registration registered effective by the Company
Name of company and operation  capital interest indirectly Principal activities
EMRYL/EM EBETRAZRES/ AARHEEEEZ
AREH RBEHE A ERFEE AEEERES BAt TEER
2013 2012 2013 2012
“ER-=f ZT--F ZT-=F ZT-=F

Jiangsu BCTV Fashion The PRC RMB10,000,000 39.20% 39.20% 49.00% 49.00%  Dormant
Media Company Limited
(note b)

IHEERREEERAR B AR #10,000,0007C (e
(HizEb)

Xian Shenghua Electronic ~ The PRC RMB3,000,000 - 20.00% - 20.00%  Manufacturing and trading
Engineering Company of tobacco flue-curing
Limited (note ¢) agricultural machinery

ARBPESTIREREE +FH AR #3,000,0007T AERERREEHEEE
A7) (HizEe) e

Notes: B 5

(@) The amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest free (a) EUE S N RIFIBAEER 28K

and repayable on demand. REREER

(b) The company has been dormant since 2010. (o) ZARB_T—TFREFE-

() On 10 May 2012, the Group disposed of its entire interest in (0) RZE——FHA+H R~EBR—

Xian Shenghua Electronic Engineering Company Limited to 2B E=FHES \E/‘ﬁﬁz EEE

an independent third party. Please refer to the note 42 to the FIRBEREARRZEBEE -F

financial statements for details. MBS w2 ﬁﬂ%#ﬁii@ B E42 o
NtEEERERLITT « —T—=FFW

183



Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R Bt = F

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=HA=+—HIFE

23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 23. BERQNTIER (2
The summarised financial information in respect of the AREBEBE DR 2 BERBE
Group’s associates is set out below: sHu:
2013 2012
—E—= —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Total assets BEE 8,392 84,642
Total liabilities BWHE (5,462) (33,750)
Net assets FEE 2,930 50,892
Group’s share of net assets of AEEDEHERRFEE
associates 1,148 10,631
Turnover EER 5,710 18,582
(Loss)/Profit for the year FE (&8 %75 (3,406) 3,057
Group’s share of results of REBE D (HHEE QA
associates for the year FEHE (681) 611
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24.

25.

Notes to the f

inancial statements

R ESE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

INVENTORIES 24. 78
Group
rEE
2013 2012
—E-=F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Raw materials R 7,157 38,720
Work in progress P 82,933 19,040
Finished goods RIRK oh 16,809 10,150
106,899 67,910
TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 25. EWERAREKVELE

(a) Ageing analysis

Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the
trade and bills receivables is as follows:

(a) BREQRDAN

RIEHZEH BURERTRLIE
WREZREE DTN :

Group

rE
2013 2012
—E—-=F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Current BN HR 65,067 118,923
30 - 90 days 30£90K 20,567 69,557
91 — 180 days 91E180K 66,694 44,800
Over 180 days 180K A E 210,792 209,355
363,120 442,635

The average credit period on sales of goods is 180
days (2012: 30 to 270 days) from the invoice date.

MiBEERARDF « — T =55

HEERZTFHEEEHEH
BOHMEI80OR (ZE— =
£ :30E270K) °
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Notes to the financial statements
Bt A% 3R MY 5 E

For the year ended 31 March 2013

(a)

BET—=F=H=1T-HILFE

25. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 25, BUERRREWER 2
Ageing analysis (Continued) (a) BRER DT (&)
The ageing of trade debtors which are past due but %80 BR{B I ARORL(E B FE R IE 2
not impaired are as follows: FRECZAT :
Group
AEH
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
Neither past due nor impaired I 7 %1 88 KR B 152,328 296,710
0 to 3 months past due #EIZ =31E A 132,563 41,569
4 to 6 months past due wmE4Z6ME A 33,896 16,216
Over 6 months past due w HAGME A A £ 44,333 88,140
363,120 442,635
Trade receivables that were neither past due nor I R 460 5 MR (B A FE U BR SR D
impaired relate to a large number of diversified RS WHETHE RS2 D
customers for whom there was no recent history of BEFB-
default.
Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired (b) BEABEWRBEXEUEKTD

(b)

related to a large number of diversified customers
that have a good track record of credit with the
Group. Based on past credit history, the management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances.

HAKERZHA RIFEART
BZOMEPAB -REBEBTE
EERE BEEER/ENE
EERYEBAE AR
FEADR] 2 2R [l - SR ZA B I
FREMIELRERE ~KE
3 8 it 5% B A8 R R B (T HE A

[}
A °
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25. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(c)

26. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

At 31 March 2012, certain of the Group’s trade
receivables with a net book amount of approximately
HK$4,391,000 had been pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group as disclosed
in note 32 to the financial statements. At 31 March
2013, no Group’s trade receivables has been pledged
to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group.

(c)

HE—

BB AR M AL

T—=F=A=+—HILFE

25. EWERFEEWERE #)

W_E——F=ZfF=+—
H A&SB2EEFED
4,391,000/ 7T 2 & T W Bk
REERERM B RENEI2
FTiE AN EEATE —RIRITRE
BBEEZER-R-_TE—=F
—A=1+—8 AEEHER
PR R U BR ARG IR T A&
EE—RIBITRBREE-

26. FEMARIE- -HiEKWZRERIR

DEPOSITS &
Group Company
A%H AL
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E-=F —E——F —E-= —E——fF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET THT THERT TET
(Restated) (Restated)
(E51) (E51)
Other receivables and Ha U RIE &
deposits Be 108,703 62,101 827 832
Prepayments B4 3IE 201,489 183,841 266 292
310,192 245,942 1,093 1,124
B EZEERERAT « —T—=FFW



Notes to the financial statements

R ESE

For the year ended 31 March 2013

27. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES

Details of amounts due from related companies, disclosed
pursuant to section 161B of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance are as follows:

BE-F-=F=A=+—HILFE

27. BWEELDQTARE

RWBEERRRIBZHBEREEER
BRDIE161BIRIEELN T -

Group rEH
Maximum
amount
outstanding
during the
year
2013 2012 RAEFE
EEAE
—E—=F —E——fF BK&H
Name 78 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FH& T FHERT
Jiangsu Kedi New Energy  T#r £t LR A R A 7
Company Limited (note) (P 3E) 3,082 3,086 3,086
Jiangsu Yucheng Agriculture /T &k S B2 ¥ B R A A
Company Limited (note) (HI&E) 17,514 371 24,540
Jiangsu Yonglu Fertilizer TTERKPEAE R B R A A
Company Limited (note) (P 5E) 54 54 54
Others HAb 55 - 55
20,705 3,511

The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and

repayable on demand.

Note: Bt 2
Those companies are controlled by Mr. Shan Xiaochang, a director of the HE
Company.

o
XH
S
5
o
Het
it
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

28. PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH

R ESE

BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILFE

28. EEMERURBEERBEESE

EQUIVALENTS B
Group Company
N | P N
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E-=F —E-——fF —E—= —E-C-F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FHET FBx FET
Pledged time deposits EEAEBRFR 181,237 260,222 - =
Cash and cash equivalents BR&KIREEEY 11,313 160,755 1,304 115
192,550 420,977 1,304 115

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn
interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances and time deposits are deposited in reputable
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies or state-owned banks in the PRC.

At 31 March 2013, certain Group’s bank deposits of
approximately HK$181,237,000 (2012: HK$260,222,000)
has been pledged as guarantee deposits for the issuance of

RITRESRE B RITF RN ELAF
BFREFE - EMERZFRBEE
RN F—BE=@A BEELE
2 BB 3R & &KM€ - WK KR8 H
EHERAN R B - RITEHR N EH
FRAGTHN A GBEREEFRE

BATH EEFNRZEERIEZ

=y —
EP\

RITHAPEZEHRT-

R-Z
N — =

—=%f=A=+—8 K&
B = T iR1TF X 49181,237,000/%8 7T
— T — £ :260,222,000/& 7T) 2

bank acceptance notes to suppliers.

it BEZERBERDT o

—2-=7

e

R e AR R B R T RO
82 BRI

¥
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Notes to the financial statements

R ESE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

29. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

29. BFHEEE

Group
E
2013 2012
—E-=F —E—_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
At 1 April, as previously reported KA A—B LR 2R 103,431 101,902
Prior years’ adjustments (note 4(a)) BEFERAE (H5Ed@) 25,730 28,862
As restated F7 129,161 130,764
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40) & 72 A (KFE40) - (2,141)
Disposal of assets held for sale HEREHEEE
(note 43) (MI3E43) (128,419) -
Impairment loss (note 10) BIEEE (MFE10) - (4,149)
Exchange differences E X ZE R (742) 4,687
At 31 March R=A=+—8” - 129,161
Represented by: H g
Property, plant and equipment L ER YN ] - 92,771
Prepaid land lease payments TEfT LA &K - 36,390
- 129,161

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited ¢ Annual Report 2013



Notes to the financial statements
B 7% B R B &F

For the year ended 31 March 2013

30. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

Based on the invoice dates, the aging analysis of the trade

30. ENERARENER
RIEBZ O 8 BRI i

BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILFE

and bills payables is as follows: ZERE DT

Group

rE
2013 2012
—E—=F —E—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Current BN EA 35,534 51,245
30 — 90 days 30ZE 90K 25,275 -
91 — 180 days 912180k 11,687 -
Over 180 days 180K A £ 23,835 10,991
96,331 62,236

Trade payables are due within 30 to 60 days (2012: 30 to 60

days) from the invoice date.

31.

FEfT R B % F B B 5H830260K

ZTE - F:30F860K)NEH

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 3. HihENREREFTER
Group Company
rEH P /N
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E-=F —E——F —E-= —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FHET FBx FET
(Restated)
(EZ%))
Other payables, customer H A BT 5RIR
receipts in advances and BREFPHIER
accruals JEZTE R 50,688 67,458 4,548 2,560
Amount due to a non- ENFRAI—%
controlling shareholder of JE 13 R AR 3R KT8
a subsidiary (note a) (FizEa) 1,129 1,522 - =
Amount due to a director N —REEHE
(note b) (FFzEb) 5,541 5,186 - —
57,358 74,166 4,548 2,560
B EZEERERAT « —T—=FFW 191
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Notes to the financial statements
B 7% 3 R Bt = F

For the year ended 31 March 2013

BE-F-=F=A=+—HILFE

31. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued) 3. HtERNREREER (2
(@) At 31 March 2013 and 2012, the amount due to a non- (a) RZE—=FR=ZFT—=—F=A
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary is unsecured, interest free =+—H  ENFAR—RBIFERR
and repayable on demand. RRERERE BB RIREKE
(b) At 31 March 2013, the amount due to a director is unsecured, (o) R_ZE—=F=ZA=+—H8" EN—
bears interest at 7% per annum and repayable within 1 year. FREERBAEER ERFFET%
ATEREAR—FREE-
At 31 March 2012, the amount due to a director of RZE—Z—F=RA=+—H E[
HK$5,000,000 is unsecured, bears interest at 5% per annum — %8 £ 5(785,000,0007% 7T A K
and repayable within 1 year. T RENEE%FT EREAR—FA
B3 -
At 31 March 2012, the amount due to a director of RZZT——F=A=+—H ENE
approximately HK$186,000 is unsecured, interest free and = FIB4186,000/8 T A EIE T -
repayable on demand. BRIZEREE-
32. BORROWINGS 32. (BE
Group
rE
2013 2012
—E-=F —FT——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FTAT
Bank loans, secured RITER BHEF
Floating interest rate (note b) FEFIE (MYEEDb) - 148,148
Fixed interest rate (note c) & E A= (fizEc) 143,827 46,296
Bills of exchange, secured floating MR FEMEHRHF X
interest rate (note d) (FfF7Ed) 315,667 518,518
Other loans, unsecured H 55K mEF
Interest free %8B 6,111 6,111
Fixed interest rate (note e) & & (fizke) 37,206 27,931
502,811 747,004
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32.

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(@) All borrowings are repayable within 1 year or on demand and
denominated in RMB.

(b) At 31 March 2012, the borrowings were with floating annum

interest rate which is calculated with the benchmark interest
rates announced by the People’s Bank of China; interest of
5.31%-6.1% per annum was charged on the outstanding loan
balances.

(c) The bank loans bear interest of 5.6%-8.1% (2012: 6.56%-
7.22%) per annum.

(d) The effective interest rate on the bills is 0.05% (2012: 0.05%) per
annum.

(e) The other loans bear interest of 1.5%-5% (2012: 1.5%-5%) per
annum.

() Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by:

(i) the pledge of certain of the Group’'s time
deposits amounting to HK$181,237,000 (2012:
HK$260,222,000).

(i) mortgages over the Group’s prepaid land lease
payments situated in Mainland China, which had an
aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting
period of approximately HK$11,000,000 (2012:
HK$11,273,000).

(iii) mortgages over the Group’s buildings, which had an
aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting
period of approximately HK$34,401,000 (2012:
HK$36,337,000).

(iv) the pledge of certain of the Group’s trade receivables of
approximately HK$4,391,000 as at 31 March 2012,

MiREERERAR « _T—=F%F

32.

R ESE

BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILFE

=8 ®)
i :

(@) PIBEREAN —FARREREER
WIAANRKEETE -

) W-F-—F=A=+—H IBF
M (THERBETBRARRITAMZ
BN G E) EEREFI%E5.31%
E6.1% 5 AR EE B HERE B

(© RITEFIRF R R5.6%E8.1% (—
—_¢ 16.56%%7.22% )5t B o

(d) ERERFENERAE0.05% (ZE——
£:0.05%) °

() Hib ERIRERNR15%E5% (=
TF 1 5%EE%)FT R e

() AEBZETRITERIATIE
HEEM

0] 4 % 5181,237,000 7T
(== — =4 :260,222,000
BT ZAEBZE T EH
TR\ -

(i) NS BT A R B K RE 2 FE
THHAERFRZIRE ER
REMRZEEEENA
11,000,000/ 70 (=ZF — =
£ 111,273,000/ 7T ) °

(ii) REBEZEBFZERE HR
HERARZEARENA
34,401,0008 T (=T — =
£F : 36,337,000/ 7T ) °

(iv) R-ZE——F=A=+—H

#) 54,391,000/ 7T 2 A~ &
B2 & T RUERER 2 I o

Eal
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Notes to the financial statements

R ESE

For the year ended 31 March 2013

33. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities
and their movements during the current and prior years:

BE-F—=F=A=+—HILFE

33. EEBEEE (&E)

ATRRAEERBEFEZER
BEEMAEERBEREZS:

Fair value
adjustments
on prepaid
Fair value land lease
adjustments payments
on property, and other
plant and intangible
equipment assets Net amount
AL
M- -HER HERRHM
RiEZ BREEZ
REERAE REERAE FRIE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2011 R-_ZE——FMHA—H
As previously reported w0 ST A 2 1R - (12,825) (12,825)
Prior years’ adjustments BEFERE
(note 4(a)) (M 7E4(a)) 4,260 (104,740) (100,480)
As restated £l 4,260 (117,565) (113,305)
Deferred tax charged to FAREBEENR ZELER
profit or loss during 18 (MI5E15)
the year (note 15) 500 27,077 30,432
Exchange differences M i E%R 220 (3,8593) (3,633)
At 31 March 2012 RZE—=%F
=A=+—8 7,835 (94,341) (86,506)

194
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

BB AR M AL

BE-F—=F=A=+—HILFE

33. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (contived) 33. EZEMEEE (BE) ©)
Fair value
adjustments
on prepaid
Fair value land lease
adjustments payments
on property, and other
plant and intangible
equipment assets Net amount
FEAS L b
M HER HERRHAM
RiEZ BREEZ
ATEBE AVERE FHE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TAT FHET
At 1 April 2012 R-ZE—-——FMA—H
As previously reported 40 5% A 2 = 10,891 (9,462) 1,429
Prior years’ adjustments BEFERE
(note 4(a)) (Pt 5E4(a)) (3,056) (84,879) (87,935)
As restated Rl 7,835 (94,341) (86,506)
Acquisition of a subsidiary W& —MF A A - (37) (37)
Deferred tax (credited)/ FARREE (GTA)
charged to profit or loss kR 2 EET IR
during the year (note 15) (FF7E15) (4,404) 58,254 53,850
Exchange differences ME N ZERH (32) 4 (28)
At 31 March 2013 RZE—=
=A=+—H 3,399 (36,120) (32,721)

At 31 March 2013, the Group has unrecognised tax losses of
the subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong and in the PRC of
approximately HK$623,948,000 and HK$11,885,000 (2012:
HK$623,948,000 and HK$20,121,000) respectively.

Deferred tax asset in respect of unused tax losses has
not been recognised in the financial statements due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams against which the
tax losses can be utilised. The tax losses of the subsidiaries
operating in the PRC can be carried forward for 5 years,
while tax losses of the companies within the Group operating
in Hong Kong can carry forward their tax losses indefinitely
under the current tax legislation.

it BEZERBERDT o

RZE—=F=A=+—8 K&£8
REBRFPBELSEZ TRAZARE
RIS ET 1 D Bl 4 5623,948,0008
7T 511,885,000 0 (—FE— —F:
62)3,948,0005% 7T 20,121,000
=6

B 7 AT R E) P AR 5 185 18 2 AR SR A
ANE]FERN - A A 0 B A SRR N RERR
ERARPABNGERZELEREER
E-RNPBREEZ FRAZRIBERE
AFEER S MRBERITREEN
REEREZAKEET AR ZH
BEBEn ER I EE -

—E-=FFH
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Notes to the financial statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=H=+—HILFE

34. CONVERTIBLE BOND 34. ARARES
Group and Company
AEBMEAADTF
Liability Equity
portion portion Total
EE&BH5 B% 7 55 12 et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHT
At 1 April 2011 R-—E——%mMA—H
As previously stated BA5E B 2 ] 645,288 427,825 1,073,113
Prior years’ adjustment BEFE AR

(note 4(a)) (Pt 5E4(a)) 283,285 (427,825) (144,540)
As restated =7 928,573 = 928,573
Interest expenses waived BT EBRX

(note (c)) (FF3E(©)) (10,730) — (10,730)
Change in fair value ANEEEH (125,851) - (125,851)
At 31 March 2012 RIZE—ZF

=A=+—8H 791,992 = 791,992
At 1 April 2012 R-_ZE——FmNWA—H
As previously stated L4 Bl 2 ¥R 645,400 427,825 1,073,225
Prior years’ adjustment BEFE AR

(note 4(a)) (Pt 5E4(a)) 146,592 (427,825) (281,233)
As restated =7 791,992 - 791,992
Interest expenses waived B FERX

(note (c)) (FF3E(©)) (9,295) - (9,295)
Redeemed during the year  FREE (K (D))

(note (b)) (132,223) - (132,223)
Change in fair value ANEEEY 106,487 - 106,487
At 31 March 2013 R-E—=F

=A=+-—H 756,961 - 756,961
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

34. CONVERTIBLE BOND (Continued)

(@)

On 25 March 2010, the Company issued convertible bond in the
principal amount of HK$1,098,000,000 (“CB 2015”) pursuant to
a sales and purchase agreement dated 1 February 2010 enter

into between the Company and Cyberland, a related company.

The principal terms of the CB 2015 were set out as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Cyberland has the right to convert the whole or part of
the outstanding principal amount of the CB 2015 into
share at HK$0.43 each in the Company at any time
during the period commencing from the expiry of the
second anniversary of the date of issue of the CB 2015
(the “Issue Date”).

The CB 2015 bears interest at the rate of 1% per annum
and interest will be payable to the bondholder semi-
annually in arrears on 30 June and 31 December in each
year.

The Company shall be entitled to require redemption of
the CB 2015 or any part thereof at any time up to (and
excluding) the commencement of the seven calendar
day period ending on the fifth anniversary of the Issue
date at a price equal to such principal amount of the CB
2015 redeemed plus any interest accrued thereon.

Unless previously converted into share or repaid, the CB
2015 will be redeemed by the Company at 100% of the
principal amount at maturity plus any interest accrued
thereon.

Mt REEZERBRAT « —T—

BB AR M AL

BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILFE

34.

ABRES &)

(@)

RZZBE—ZF=R=-+HAB KR
AR AR 2 7 8 — e B = A AR
WHBER - -—FF A —BFMA
RN EEm#E BTALER
1,098,000,000% 7T 2 AJ £ % (& %
(TA@BEH=—T—F]) A&k
BF T -—HZEERAEI
IS 8

[0} R} A B A R AT AR B 55
T -RBTHEBA(EST
HE|) 2% =A< E RS
BT 2 E M R RR SR
0.43B T IR A MRESH 2
2R IM M AREEADEE
BARRARZ KD -

(ii) ARRESE =T —ANIRE
FIE1%EE - FIBHEREF
NAZTFARtTZA=1+—
HErFREHFIFEAIMN

—IRe

(ii) RAREEEERE BT
HEAE RIABEF AT EE B
(TEiEZA ) B EA
AR A A 2
BELE-_T—RAERLSE
IR FERT FI.8 2 (B B
AR ES T — AT
fa] B 1A ©

(iv) R IEMB T B BRI (D k(&
B rBRRESE-Z—AK
REBBEBHARRZRAS
FE100% 0 £ 0] & 51 51| 5. F&
@ °

197



198

Notes to the financial statements
B 7% B R B = F

For the year ended 31 March 2013

34. CONVERTIBLE BOND (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

The conversion feature of this CB 2015 constituted a hybrid
contract, with a conversion option derivative embedded into
the convertible bond. The terms of CB 2015 contained certain
anti-dilution clauses which breach the “fixed for fixed” rule in
HKAS 32. Therefore, the conversion option was regarded as a
derivative. The CB 2015 included the liability component and
embedded derivatives (including the conversion option and early
redemption options). The Group elected to account for this CB
2015 as a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss.
Therefore, prior years’ adjustments were made to reverse all
liability and equity components for previous years.

The fair values of the liability component of the CB 2015 at 31
March 2013 and 2012 were based on the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the average yield of
a group of non-convertible bond with similar credit ratings and
structure which incorporated appropriate adjustments to reflect
possible effects of country factors, firm specific risks and liquidity
risk.

The fair values of the conversion option and early redemption
option embedded were calculated using the Binomial model.
The key inputs were as follows:

BE-F—=F=A=+—HILFE

34.

ABRES &)

(@)

(&

ZAHMRES T Az BB
BEORE A H) - MR AR BRRES
ZRAAERENTET A - Al ES —
TR GHREREERBESR
EHIFE325% [EFREE | 25 TR
BB o Bk - S R AR R OT
ETA-AMRES T 081
BESDRBRAXITETA (21
RN EDEE) - AEE
BESZAUBRES —T A%k
ARREEREATEREZZMEA
B At AEEEEHBEFES
BUBECBEFEZ A8 ERE

s Es o o

RZE—=FR=ZFT—=—F=H
=t+t—HZUBRES-—"ZFT—1E8
EE 2 A EDREER—4HER
HEEETRREREZ T k&
%2 FHRIREIR Z Hat R RE
SRZBEE WAL BEAZL
REMBERAEZE - ARFERR KRS
BB ZAIRERE-

BARZ SRR EE
2 AFERA-ERMANH T B
BARENT

2013 2012

—E-=F —E—CF

Stock price A& (B 0.09 0.18
Exercise price T E 0.43 0.43
Expected volatility T8 HA R 18 49.45% 53.40%
Maturity life I H 4% B 1.99 years & 2.99 years F
Risk-free rate A2 [ g A1) == 0.187% 0.328%
Expected dividend yield TEHAAR B & 0% 0%
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

34. CONVERTIBLE BOND (Continued)

BB AR M AL

BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILFE

34. ARKRES (&)

(b) On 29 May 2012, the Group completed a transaction in relation (o) RZZE——FRA=-t+NLH K&
to the disposal of certain of its prepaid land lease payments and EEKEEESETEM LA
property and equipment (the “Disposal”) which were classified ERUAERMERZEZRS ([H
as assets held for sale in the Annual Report 2012. The CB 2015 EFTHE]) (ERZE—Z—FFK
in the principal amounts of HK$170,599,000 (as at the date of FOERFREHEEE) A8
redemption the fair value is HK$132,223,000) was redeemed in 170,599,000/ 7t (A& D H 8 2 &
settlement of net sales proceeds due from the Disposal. A loss {8 £132,223,00078 7t ) Z Al # 5%
on redemption of approximately HK$44,570,000 was recognised BHFE T -—RAEEBLRAREHE
in profit or loss (See note 43 to the financial statements). WHEEBEZHEMSRIEBFRE-

% 5] /%5 18 #944,570,0007% T 2 A 1B
= NTER (R BB R & M F43) ©

() At 31 March 2013, the Company’s convertible bond of the (0) RZE—=F=ZA=+—H &2
principal amount of HK$852,400,500 (2012: HK$1,023,000,000) 7174 % %8 £852,400,500%8 7T (=
was held by Cyberland. As agreed with the convertible = — — £ :1,023,000,000% 7t ) Z
bond holder of the Company, the interest on the convertible AR ES AR B R o 4L
bond, amounting to approximately HK$9,295,000 (2012: RABAIRREFFREABE &
HK$10,730,000), was waived with the objective of improving the 1#99,295,000/ 7L (=& — —F :
profitability and liquidity of the Group. 10,730,000/ 7T ) 2 AT AR B 5 F 2

BERR  EARSAEE 2 BFI5E
1 KR ED I o
35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. RA
Number of
ordinary
shares of
HK$0.01 each HK$'000
BREE
0.018 T2
EBEREE FHET
Authorised EIE
At 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 and R _-_Z——FM@MA—H »
31 March 2013 —E——F=ZA=+—8Bk
—E—=f=H=+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid BEITRBERK
At 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 and R —-—Z——&mA—AH
31 March 2013 —TE——H#=ZA=+—8Bxk
—E-—=H=ZHA=+—H 2,713,798,000 27,138

it BEZERBERDT o

—T-=FFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

36.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”), has been adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 9 February 2009 for the
primary purpose to enable the Company to grant options’ to
eligible participants to subscribe for shares of the Company
and will expire on 8 February 2019. Under the Scheme, the
Board may grant options to the eligible participants, including
an employee, a director, a supplier of goods or services,
a customer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
an agent, adviser, consultant, strategist, contractor,
sub-contractor, expert or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support or any valuable
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
securities issued by the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The total numbers of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point of time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options granted and may be granted to any individual
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point of time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted
to directors, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or any of their associates shall be approved by the
independent non-executive Directors and in any event that
the proposed participant is an independent non-executive
director of the Company, the vote of such independent
non-executive director shall not be counted for the purpose
of approving such grant. Options granted to independent
non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must
be approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

BE_Z-—=F=A=+—RHILtFE

36.

fB IR Rl

RER-_ZTZNF_ANBBEBEZ
RFBS - NARIERA— BB
2 ([sT8l]) & 2ETERMNE
EARRAIMAEERZAERIE
PRREARBEARRI  FTEIRR =
T-NF-ANBEm - RETE
EXgMAER2EERLER
B ERARAREEFAFRALZ
BE EF EnaRBHER &
B ARARHEERFMF AR HHEAR
N A HAE I F R B T E A B
75 e (7T 3% BX HL A 1 g ST ER sl AT )
EEERG 2 RIE BRHE- -FHAA
REGED AR DAME  HERK

=
e

FEREARRBIREELBER - RIR
FHEIRT e 2 BEARREFT 8 & 2 iR (D
BRETBBBARAREMEEES
BITRID 210% ° EAREAR R AR
ESBUERT  REMFER Tl 88
BTEAMATZEREmMIRZE
BORBTETRNDEE TEEB
RABEMERE BITRD 21% °
BYFARARES FETBRABSE
ERFIFEEMBEA L 2B
RSN R)B S FEMITE BRI
WiEZR2EABBYIERITES A
ZEBBULFENTES IRETES
AR EMERHEBREMETZ
TR MMBETELIERITEFT 2BR
REBAARRTRAE Z20.1%%BEE
#8 185,000,0007% 7T * A A& A A A
IRERE LB -
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A M WRE

BE-F—=F=A=+—HILFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 36. BRESE (2
The amount payable for the acceptance of an option BEMARRBREBAERHZENE
granted by the Company under Scheme shall be the sum of AR HE P& 2 SRIA G 431,008 7T © BE AR
HK$1.00. Options may be exercised at any time specified on BN ARARRZECERERSE
the Option certificate sealed by the Company. The exercise Fri8E 2 R R ATT - BERRIE 2
price of an option is determined by the Board, and will not be TEERESSEE  IHTMERT
less than the greater of (i) the closing price of the shares on Mz dxmdE ()R MAEH B BB
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of RETFGHMERMY 2 WTHE (i)
grant; (i) the average closing price of the shares on the Stock D EERL B HIR A &% 8 T
Exchange as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations REGHBERAY 2 FHWTHE:
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the K (i) AR A R0 2 T ME °
date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares.
The following table set out movements in the Company’s TRIIREBEZ_E—=ZFK_F
share options under the Scheme during the years ended 31 ——HF=-A=t—HLEFEAE
March 2013 and 2012. =N N/NSST -39 =) I
For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-ZE-—=H=ZA=+—HLFE
Outstanding Granted Forfeited Outstanding
Exercise at 1 April during during at 31 March
Grant date price 2012 the year the year 2013
R-T-=% Rog-=%
mA-8 =g=+-A
R A fTfEE i RATHE REARH REREK i RATHE
HK$
BT
Employees EB
10 December 2010 (note) —E—EE+=-F+H
() 0.163 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
7 Qctober 2011 “T—%+AtH 0.170 7,000,000 - (7,000,000) -
Consultants i
10 December 2010 (note) =—E—TF+=F+H
(i) 0.163 50,000,000 - - 50,000,000
3 October 2012 “Z——%#+A=H 0.163 - 135,000,000 - 135,000,000
Director X
3 October 2012 “Z——%#+A=H 0.163 - 7,000,000 - 7,000,000
67,000,000 142,000,000 (7,000,000) 202,000,000
Exercisable at the end of ~ WE KA F7{E
the year 38,100,000 - - 197,000,000
Weighted average exercise 51T (B
price 0.311 0.163 0.170 0.163
RipEEZERAERAT « —T— =—FFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE-—ZT—=9=A=+—HItFE

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 36. BRESTE (#)
For the year ended 31 March 2012 BE " Z——#=A=1+—HItFE
Outstanding Granted Forfeited Outstanding
Exercise at 1 April during during at 31 March
Grant date price 2011 the year the year 2012
RZE——F WZE—ZF
mA—H =A=+—-H
R A 1EE BRI RERE L RERZH W AR T
HK$
BT
Employees B8
10 December 2010 —T-TF+ZRA+H 0.328 10,000,000 = - 10,000,000
7 October 2011 —T——%+AH+tH 0.170 - 7,000,000 - 7,000,000
Consultants E
10 December 2010 —T-TF+ZRA+H 0.328 50,000,000 = - 50,000,000
Suppliers frER
9 March 2010 —“T-TF=ANA 0.125 10,000,000 - (10,000,000) -
70,000,000 7,000,000 (10,000,000) 67,000,000
Exercisable atthe end of ~ RERA{TE
the year 28,000,000 = - 38,100,000
Weighted average exercise ~ INEFHTE(E
price 0.299 0.170 0.125 0.311
Note: B sk -
On 3 October 2012, the Company modified the details of the R-ZBE——F+A=H KAREIARAF
outstanding share options previously granted by the Company on 10 RZZE—TF+ AT HEFMRE 2 HKRTT
December 2010. The exercise price of 60,000,000 the outstanding share RS IR #E 2 5115 - A& 5T H B3 - 60,000,000
options at the date of modification was reduced from HK$0.328 per 19 i ARTTE RS AR 2 175518 T iR & 1R0.328
share to HK$0.163 per share. B ITHRZE & IR0.1634 T ©
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 36.

Note: (Continued)

The fair value of the share options of the Company immediately before
and after the modification at 3 October 2012 were calculated using the
Binomial model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

A M WRE

BE_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

BRRESTE (2)
BfisE: (4&)
BENEBE T _—F+A=BEZ R

Z1& AR EERE L A ER - EAES
FtE - ZEAZHABENT

Before After

modification modification

FMEET Al REFT#

Share price % (& HK$0.163/& T HK$0.163/& 7T
Exercise price 1118 HK$0.3287%& 7T HK$0.163/& 7T
Expected volatility T8 HR i 58.15% — 61.54%  62.56% — 57.06%
Expected life (years) TEEAG AR (4F) 0.18 — 1.18 years F 1 -2 years F
Risk free rates 2 [ i A1) 2= 0.21% - 0.27% 0.26% — 0.28%
Annualised dividend yield FRR B R = 0% 0%

The risk free rates is the yield of Hong Kong Exchange Fund Note vyield.
Expected volatility is the historical volatility of the Group’s share price
over the previous years. The expected life used in the model has been
adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.
Changes in variables and assumptions may result in changes in fair
values of the share options.

The fair values of the share options of the Company immediately
before and after modification at 3 October 2012 were approximately
HK$250,000 and HK$2,638,000, respectively. The incremental fair
values of approximately HK$2,388,000 will be expensed over the
remaining vesting period of the relevant options.

All holders of options granted under the Scheme may only exercise their
options in the following ways:

(@) Share options granted on 10 December 2010 after modification:

These share options were granted under the Scheme, vesting in

2 tranches, i.e. the first 50% on 3 October 2012 to 2 October
2013 and the balance on 3 October 2013 to 2 October 2014.

ERRMNEXSFEIERSREREE 2K
HoRHAREARNEEBEFEREBZES
MR ZEX A 2 R FHERIEERE
ZEREME A EE  TRR RTA
RAEMERZHZETNHR BB RBRZ
SRR HBREATERS -

ADFBRENEEREBE T ——F 1A
ZAZEFTZA R ZEZ D FHED BB
250,0007% 7T 22,638,000/ 7T ° A F {E3E
#12,388,0007% 7T # 14 16 8 8 A 1 -2 Ik 57
& HASZ 3K ©

RBFTEIPIR LB 2 A AZAIA
THITT AT H BB A -

(@ WEFTEAR T —Z2F+=-H+H
Rz B RE

ZEBRELREAIRD - WHEB
AL B —#50% N —F——F
+A=AE-_T—=%+tA-HBkK
BTITR=-Z—=F+A=B=E=F
—E+A=He

Mt BEZERAERRAT « — T =FFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZEZZE—=F=HA=+—HIFE

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 36. BRAESE 2
Note: (Continued) BizE: (4&)
(b) Share options granted on 3 October 2012: (o) RZZTE——F+A=-BFRLZER
#E
The fair value of the share options of the Company granted at AARRZT—_F+A=AKH
3 October 2012 were calculated using the Binomial model. The ZEREZ AFEFER ZEBEAE
inputs into the model were as follows: Nt H o ZEA 2| ABIENAT :
Granted
=k
Share price %18 HK$0.1637%8 7T
Exercise price TEE HK$0.1637% 7T
Expected volatility T8 HR R 18 57.06%
Expected life (years) TEEAF R () 2 years F
Risk free rates o f A = 0.28%
Annualised dividend yield FALRIR B UL 25 = 0%
These share options were granted under the Scheme, vesting in ZEBRESRIBS SR L - W=
3 October 2012 to 2 October 2014. T——_F+A=ZHAE-ZT—MF+
A-BEE-
No share option was exercised during the years ended 31 March 2013 HE-_T—=FR-_FT——F=A=+—H
and 2012. IFFEY EBREC EITE-
The options outstanding at 31 March 2013 had an exercise price of RZE—=F==+—HHRITEHERE
HK$0.163 (2012: HK$0.328 or HK$0.170) and a weighted average Z1TEEA0.1638 T (ZF——4:0.328
remaining contractual life of 1.5 years (2012: 2.3 years). BITEK0.170%8 7T ) RINEFE R T & LFH
B1EE(ZTE——4:23F) o
37. RESERVES 37. f#E
(a) Group (a) A&KH

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 62 of the consolidated financial
statements.

AEBRAFERNEFEZ
FRTBLEEEBHIINER
BUBHRRFC2AZFEER
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZE_-_ZT—=5=A=+—HILFE

37. RESERVES (continued)

37. f#E 2

(b) Company (h) ZA&2AF
Share  Convertible
Share Accumulated Merger option bond
premium losses reserve reserve reserve Total
AR
R RE 2itE#R AbHEE  BRERSR BHERE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T THT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&Z51) (EZ51) (EZ51) (&Z71) (&51) (&51)
(note b) (note c)
(Mizb) (MizEe)
At 1 April 2011 R-ZZE——FMA—A
As previously reported MER 28 1,048,002 (765,780) 18,107 9,774 427,825 732,928
Prior years’ adjustments BAFERAE (M4@)
(note 4(a) = (45,909) = = (427,805) (473,728)
Prior years’ adjustments BAEFEAZ (M40)
(note 4(b)) - 5,875 - (5,875) - -
Prior years' adjustments BEFEHZ (HT4e)
(note 4(e)) - (320,000) - - - (320,000)
As restated 2] 1048002  (1,125:808) 13,107 3,899 = (60,800)
Share option scheme fERRERT 2
~ Value of services -R%&EE - - - 4,567 - 4,567
— Forfeited during the year —FREM = 412 = (412) = =
Profit for the year FEEF - 58,370 = = = 58,370
At 31 March 2012 RZZ—=—#=A=1+—-H 1,048,002 (1,067,026) 13,107 8,054 - 2,137
At 1 April 2012 R-E——#mA—A
As previously reported nEA 2 H 1,048,002 (839,261) 13,107 9,499 427,825 659,172
Prior years’ adjustments BAFERAZ (M)
(note 4(a)) - 90,790 - - (427,825) (337,035)
Prior years adjustments BEFEAZ (FE40))
(note 4(b)) - 1,445 - (1,445) - -
Prior years’ adjustments BEFEHE (MiT4e)
(note 4(e)) - (320,000) - - - (320,000)
As restated E] 1,048,002 (1,067,026) 13,107 8,054 - 2,137
Share option scheme iRt a
— Value of services —RsEE - - - 9,749 - 9,749
- Forfeited during the year —EREH - 279 - (279) = =
Loss for the year FEEBE - (153,775) - - - (153,775)
At 31 March 2013 R-Z2-=%=A=1+-H 1,048,002 (1,220,522) 13,107 17,524 - (141,889)
R EBERRAERAT « — T =FF 205
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37. RESERVES (Continued)

(b)

Company (Continued)

(@)

The Company had no distributable reserve at the end of
the reporting period.

The merger reserve of the Company represents
the difference between the underlying net assets of
the subsidiaries acquired by the Company and the
nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in
exchange thereof pursuant to the Group reorganisa